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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Good morning,

          3  everyone. Let me first start off by saying that the

          4  weather was not consumer-friendly this morning, but

          5  nevertheless, things must go on. So, forgive the

          6  delay, and I'll call the meeting to order.

          7                 Okay, this meeting has two parts.

          8  It's the overall Economic Development Committee,

          9  along with the Subcommittee on Small Business,

         10  Chairman Yassky and myself will be Chairing the

         11  meetings in the order in which I just mentioned.

         12                 Good morning. My name is Thomas

         13  White, Jr., and I am the Chair of the Economic

         14  Development Committee, and this hearing on Fiscal

         15  Year 2008 Preliminary Budget for the Economic

         16  Development Corporation, EDC, and the Department of

         17  Small Business Services.

         18                 Today we will hear testimony from

         19  Robert Lieber, the new President of EDC. After EDC

         20  we ill hear testimony from Robert Walsh,

         21  Commissioner of SBS. And this hearing, the Economic

         22  Development Committee wants to take the opportunity

         23  to investigate the following issues with regard to

         24  EDC.

         25                 How does EDC determine which projects
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          2  are a priority? Does EDC have an economic

          3  development strategy for every borough? How good is

          4  EDC in estimating the total need for City subsidy of

          5  projects it funds? And how are women and

          6  minority-owned businesses, and workers benefitting

          7  in terms of construction, and subcontracting

          8  opportunities and jobs from EDC's investment of City

          9  funds into capital projects?

         10                 This Committee will also ask

         11  questions that will examine EDC's criteria for

         12  budgeting for projects and the cost and benefits of

         13  these projects to the City of New York.

         14                 The Economic Development Committee

         15  jointly with Small Business Committee will also be

         16  reviewing the Department of Small Business Services

         17  Fiscal 2008 Preliminary Expense Budget. Their Fiscal

         18  2008 Preliminary Budget includes a significant

         19  amount of new funding for SBS, notably 14 million

         20  for activities related to the recommendations of the

         21  Mayor's Commission on Economic Opportunity.

         22                 It is this Committee's intent to

         23  truly understand EDC's capital projects and SBS goal

         24  of small business development, and job training and

         25  how the Council can assist in ensuring that everyone
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          2  gets an opportunity to participate in the City's

          3  economic growth.

          4                 Again, I would like to thank EDC and

          5  SBS for joining us, and we will now hear testimony

          6  from Mr. Robert Lieber, President of the EDC.

          7                 Mr. Lieber.

          8                 Excuse me. I defer now to my

          9  colleague and Co-chair, Mr. Yassky.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I have no opening

         11  statement. I'm eager to hear Mr. Lieber's testimony.

         12  Is it Lieber or Leeber (phonetic)?

         13                 MR. LIEBER: Lieber.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Mr. Lieber, I

         15  would like to welcome you. You, of course, follow

         16  the very distinguished tenure of former President

         17  Alper, but President Lieber, it's a pleasure to have

         18  you with us. I look forward to working with you over

         19  the next few years.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: And present at the

         21  Committee is my colleagues, Council Member Palma,

         22  Council Member Vann, Council Member Reyna.

         23                 Mr. Lieber.

         24                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you very much,

         25  Chairman White, and fellow Council members. My name
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          2  is Bob Lieber. I'm the President of the New York

          3  City Economic Development Corporation, and have been

          4  such for a little under five weeks.

          5                 I can tell you that I'm very excited

          6  about the opportunities for the New York City

          7  Economic Development Corporation and working with

          8  each of you in terms of  achieving the goals that

          9  have been established by this Administration and by

         10  the EDC in conjunction with the City Council.

         11                 This is my first meeting in this kind

         12  of a format, so what I will try and do is introduce

         13  Jason Wright, to my left, who is an Executive Vice

         14  President of EDC and the Chief Financial Officer,

         15  who will be commenting on many of the questions that

         16  you have, and in fact, the slides we'll address this

         17  morning.

         18                 I also have several members of my

         19  able team with me lined up to answer any additional

         20  questions on specific projects if and when they

         21  arise.

         22                 I understand some of the objectives

         23  of the Committee here this morning. We are going to

         24  spend a fair amount of time talking about the

         25  different projects that EDC is involved in. We'll
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          2  talk about different initiatives in the boroughs.

          3  We're also going to talk about the effects and the

          4  impacts on the jobs, jobs creation, for the

          5  different constituents in these boroughs.

          6                 I'm going to go through these slides,

          7  if you have a question as we go, I'd be happy to

          8  take a question, otherwise we'll have plenty of time

          9  for questions and answers at the end of the formal

         10  part of the presentation as we go through this.

         11                 So, I think with no further ado, I'll

         12  ask Andrew Hollweck to control the buttons. Andrew.

         13                 I think first and foremost, as we

         14  think about, and to your question about the strategy

         15  for each borough, the primary goal of the

         16  Administration and the EDC is to increase the

         17  quality of life and the economic activity that is

         18  involved in each of the five boroughs of New York

         19  City.

         20                 So, our goal and our plan here is to

         21  create economic activity, that benefits the citizens

         22  of each of these boroughs, and we'll talk with some

         23  specificity about some of the projects that are

         24  underway.

         25                 Our role in this is to facilitate
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          2  private sector investment that has the ability to

          3  build capacity, create jobs and support a safer,

          4  cleaner and more vibrant City overall. We want to

          5  improve the neighborhoods. We want, in each of the

          6  different boroughs, as well as development the

          7  waterfront, which we think is a big resource

          8  potentially to improve for each of the boroughs as

          9  well.

         10                 I can tell you personally it's

         11  somewhat overwhelming for me personally to look and

         12  see the scope and the magnitude of the different

         13  kinds of the projects and initiatives that are

         14  taking place. I think in the overall EDC Initiative,

         15  there are well over 200 separate projects, some in

         16  large scale, some small scale, but many different

         17  types of projects broadly speaking across the five

         18  boroughs. You know, whether it be supporting a new

         19  central district, central business district in

         20  Downtown Brooklyn, or creating a commercial center

         21  at the Gateway Center in the Bronx Terminal Market,

         22  building a Staten Island St. George Ferry Terminal

         23  where more than 60,000 passengers travel daily, or

         24  developing a plan to revitalize downtown Flushing so

         25  that it continues to evolve as the thriving regional
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          2  center.

          3                 Even here in Lower Manhattan, we're

          4  in one of the fastest growing and most attractive

          5  business centers, and the City's fastest-growing

          6  residential neighborhood, I think that is a surprise

          7  to many, that a big part of the growth down here in

          8  Lower Manhattan is residential, in addition to the

          9  redevelopment of the commercial businesses.

         10                 It's good to report that the five

         11  boroughs are each actively growing and attracting

         12  both businesses, as well as residents to those

         13  different communities. So, we're going to go

         14  through, talk a little bit about Project Highlights,

         15  spend some time on the Financial Plan and the

         16  Capital Budget, and as I understand it, the EDC

         17  Financial Plan is a little different than some of

         18  the other agencies with which you're familiar, in

         19  the sense our financial plan includes both operating

         20  and capital funds, and we're going to talk quite a

         21  bit about the capital budget in particular here.

         22                 So, let me go through some of the

         23  indicators to tell you how we see the City doing,

         24  how the City is doing overall.

         25                 First and foremost is unemployment.
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          2  This is one of the hallmarks so far of what's taking

          3  place in the City. Private sector has grown by two

          4  percent, adding more than 45,000 total jobs. In 2006

          5  the annual average unemployment rate was five

          6  percent, which is the lowest annual unemployment

          7  rate since 1976 and I believe 1976 was the first

          8  year they started to record this kind of a

          9  statistic. So, overall it's as good as it ever has

         10  been, in terms of the statistics that we capture.

         11                 That's nice for the City overall, how

         12  does it relate specifically to each of the different

         13  boroughs? In Bronx, in 2003, it was ten percent

         14  unemployment. Today in 2006, it's 5.4 percent, a

         15  significant decline in unemployment.

         16                 Brooklyn, a similar trend. In 2003

         17  the unemployment rate was approximately 8.2 percent,

         18  today it's 4.4 percent, a meaningful decline in

         19  unemployment.

         20                 Manhattan 2003, I'll use these 2003

         21  statistics, unemployment was approximately 6.8

         22  percent, today it's approximately 3.5 percent.

         23                 Queens, unemployment in 2003 was

         24  approximately 6.7 percent, reported unemployment

         25  today is 3.6 percent.
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          2                 And in Staten Island, 2003

          3  unemployment was 6.7 percent, reported to be 3.4

          4  percent in 2006.

          5                 So, in each borough there has been a

          6  meaningful reduction in overall unemployment, as a

          7  result of the economic initiatives in the favorable

          8  economy, and it's important to remind you that we do

          9  take a view of this as an overall City agenda. This

         10  is not Manhattan-centric, it relates to all other

         11  boroughs as well.

         12                 Again, commercial vacancy rates,

         13  which is a big part of the budget overall, looking

         14  at the real estate markets here. We've tried to

         15  practice here by Class A space, Class B space, and

         16  Class C space, it's a fairly obviously corollary

         17  that as the unemployment rate has gone down, the

         18  occupancies have continued to up and vacancy rates

         19  have gone down. Firms want to be here in New York

         20  City. They're moving to New York City, and they're

         21  expanding here in New York City at a significant

         22  rate. So, we think it's relevant to compare the

         23  different classes of space, because this isn't all

         24  of the firms that can pay the highest rates overall,

         25  but it reflects growth in the market for all of the
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          2  different users of office space.

          3                 We know that we need to continue to

          4  add capacity for additional office space in the

          5  City, and the five boroughs of the City. There is

          6  still more demand for office space than is on the

          7  plans, so we need to continue to add that capacity

          8  throughout the City to accommodate the expansion

          9  needs of businesses, and the relocation initiatives

         10  of new businesses. So that certainly one of the big

         11  focuses of the City is the Trade Center site in

         12  Lower Manhattan, also a major initiative and

         13  somewhat unprecedented of scale is the rezoning that

         14  exists in Hudson Yards, as well as the CBDs in

         15  downtown Brooklyn and Long Island City, all major

         16  demand for office space that we're trying to satisfy

         17  with additional development creation of space to

         18  accommodate those needs.

         19                 Looking at new construction activity,

         20  I think it's important we see tremendous activity in

         21  the construction market. You know, as I say, trees

         22  don't grow to the sky. We continue to look at this

         23  but there is tremendous positive momentum here.

         24                 We've had a little decline in square

         25  feet overall in 2006 compared to 2005, but when we
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          2  look ahead to the pipeline of additional activity

          3  that we forecast there is a significant volume which

          4  still stands in place for 2007, 2008 and looking

          5  forward.

          6                 But as we look at this, you know, one

          7  of the things that we're concerned about and we

          8  continue to focus on is the cost of this new

          9  construction. So, the hard cost associated with

         10  construction is going up at an alarming rate. The

         11  rest of the soft costs are also going up. So, some

         12  of this good fortune that we've experienced here we

         13  need to be very careful because at some point we may

         14  even price ourselves out of the market here in terms

         15  of what can be accommodated by new businesses and

         16  the expansion of existing businesses.

         17                 So, we are looking very closely with

         18  our City partners at aspects and things that we can

         19  do to help mitigate the potential obstacles to this

         20  growth in terms of trying to streamline the process

         21  and minimize the overall costs associated with this

         22  construction activity.

         23                 That's reflects basically the

         24  commercial side of this and the other part of this

         25  is looking at the tourism in the City. We've seen a

                                                            16

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  significant and consistent growth and annual

          3  visitors to New York City, a record of 44 million

          4  people million in 2006, which is a 24 percent

          5  increase over the number of visitors who came to New

          6  York in 2002. The tourism industry itself supports

          7  over 280,000 jobs, so it's obviously a very

          8  important part of the economy of the City. Broadway

          9  attendance for the first five weeks of 2007, one of

         10  the indicators that we look at was approximately 1

         11  million people, which is a six percent increase from

         12  the prior period last year, and revenues were

         13  roughly $80 million, which was a seven percent

         14  increase from last year.

         15                 So, clearly looking at the trend, I

         16  think the goal was to add 50 million visitors by

         17  2015, given the growths that we see historically,

         18  and given the activity that we see year to date and

         19  in 2007 we're still very encouraged and very

         20  positive about making that kind of an objective.

         21                 So, that's broadly speaking what's

         22  going on in the City overall, in terms of the

         23  unemployment rates and in terms of the commercial

         24  activity for real estate, as well as the tourism

         25  business, and we'd like to spend a few minutes
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          2  talking about some of the project highlights that

          3  EDC specifically is involved in, and I also want to

          4  make the point that what EDC does is work very

          5  collaboratively with other City agencies around

          6  major economic development projects and some of the

          7  materials that you may have looked at will include

          8  projects that are City initiatives that are part of

          9  the development activity and some of those EDC has

         10  varying degrees of involvement in. We'll be happy to

         11  talk about that in some of the additional slides

         12  that we present here.

         13                 Starting, first of all, with some of

         14  the revitalization efforts that exist around the

         15  waterfront in Brooklyn, in Staten Island and in

         16  Manhattan in particular. The South Brooklyn Marine

         17  Terminal, or what we're now referring to as Sunset

         18  Park, is a $40 million commitment on behalf of the

         19  City to pave and create other important

         20  infrastructure works around rail access and

         21  security. The work will begin on this project

         22  beginning this spring. We've had a number of

         23  exciting recent developments which have already

         24  taken place, the Axis Auto Processing Facility will

         25  occupy over 70 acres at the South Brooklyn Marine
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          2  Terminal. This lease, which we've recently signed,

          3  will create 120 construction jobs, it will create

          4  167 full-time jobs, and 130 part-time jobs, which

          5  include auto processors, the longshoremen, warehouse

          6  personnel, transportation workers and managerial

          7  staff to supervise them.

          8                 So, a big project, big initiative,

          9  with very good results. Also, in 2006 Lafarge Cement

         10  is opening a distribution facility at the 25th

         11  Street Pier, which handles barges from its plant

         12  Upstate. This privately financed plant is in the

         13  concrete business and serves the local construction

         14  industry and access is by waterway which reduces the

         15  trucking on local highways. So, again, a great use

         16  of waterfront resources to contribute to the ongoing

         17  economic development. We're very happy about the way

         18  that has played out.

         19                 Moving to Coney Island, the strategic

         20  plan was announced by the public/private Coney

         21  Island Development Corp, or the CIDC, in late 2005.

         22  This is the CIDC and the strategic plan which was

         23  announced guides the overall comprehensive zoning

         24  analysis which is underway. The City is going to

         25  invest in excess of $110 million, in the enhancing
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          2  the amusements and seaside attractions, establishing

          3  a year-round destination location for tourists and

          4  locals and the expansion of the economic

          5  opportunities for the local residents.

          6                 Very ambitious plan, a lot of effort

          7  is being contributed here, which has a tremendous

          8  amount of potential, and just maybe on a symbolic

          9  basis last year we were successful in renovating and

         10  opening the iconic parachute jump. You will not be

         11  able to go jump there, but it is a renovation of one

         12  of the landmarks that exists out there. So, again,

         13  important symbolic step as well.

         14                 We've also designated the developer

         15  for Coney Island Commons, which is a community

         16  center and affordable housing complex. It's part of

         17  the overall master plan and have inaugurated the

         18  process for the redevelopment around the New York

         19  Aquarium.

         20                 So, Coney Island is one of the major

         21  priorities that you asked us to focus on that's

         22  clearly a big initiative for EDC, and it's clearly a

         23  part of what's going on in the area.

         24                 We talk about also moving on to one

         25  of the next projects is Pier 7 through 12. We are
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          2  working to acquire Piers 7 through 12 from the Port

          3  Authority. There was an MOU, a Memorandum of

          4  Understanding, which was signed between the Port

          5  Authority and the EDC in early 2007. We are

          6  anticipating bringing this project to the City

          7  Council in the upcoming months, and the goal here is

          8  to acquire the piers in a way that gives us the

          9  ability to create over 1,000 new incremental jobs.

         10                 We're investing over $70 million for

         11  the design and the substructural work for the piers

         12  to keep them up to shape and support future

         13  development, and we think it's, again, a unique

         14  opportunity in Brooklyn to reactivate this

         15  underutilized portion of the great waterfront which

         16  exists and create more industrial jobs, and open up

         17  the access to the waterfront for all New Yorkers

         18  here. So, this is a very ambitious plan. Again, you

         19  will be hearing lots more about the details as we

         20  move forward.

         21                 We talk about Manhattan Cruise

         22  Terminal as well. We have a strategic plan developed

         23  in 2004, that was targeted at retaining and

         24  redeveloping the cruise industry here in New York

         25  City. Work on Pier 88 at the Manhattan Cruise
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          2  Terminal began in 2006. This is over $180 million in

          3  the improvement work designed to renovate and

          4  accommodate modern larger ships, which will enable

          5  us to look to add 50 feet to the north and to the

          6  south sections of the piers and modernize the

          7  facilities so that we can accommodate the change in

          8  components of the cruise terminal.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Forgive me, Mr.

         10  Lieber, we do not have copies of your testimony.

         11  Does one of your staff have copies of your testimony

         12  so we have them run-off?

         13                 MR. LIEBER: Well, I'm kind of doing

         14  this from my own notes here. I have the powerpoint

         15  slides which exist here, and I'd be happy to give

         16  you -- do you have the powerpoint? I'm not sure you

         17  could read my notes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: What I'm pointing

         19  to is there is no fixed monetary amount highlighted

         20  on the slides that we are seeing, so we have no way

         21  of knowing how much the cost of the revitalization

         22  efforts in the capital projects are costing.

         23                 MR. LIEBER: Okay, well, we can

         24  certainly provide that to you. I think that's been

         25  in the financial plan in the budgets that OMB has
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          2  prepared. But if I'm incorrect about that, we'll

          3  make sure we get you that information.

          4                 MR. WRIGHT: As we go through the

          5  presentation I think Bob's trying to highlight how

          6  much is in the budget as far as the capital, and the

          7  City's capital investment to each of these

          8  development projects. And we can certainly talk, if

          9  you want more specifics, as follow-up on a project,

         10  specifically what's the time line, what's the cash

         11  flow by fiscal year.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Well, I understand

         13  we can talk, but for purposes of documentation and

         14  for correct record-keeping, and I know you just came

         15  aboard and had a meeting, I'm just saying that

         16  you've testified many, many, many times before this

         17  Committee, and I think that you would serve better

         18  well if we would have had numbers in here. And I can

         19  respect him just with his talking notes, but in

         20  terms of preparation, all we're doing, we're

         21  following him but we have no guide to go by.

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: We can try to provide you

         23  anything you need, and we actually have used this

         24  format in similar testimony, but it's duly noted. We

         25  can make sure that next round, if it's more helpful
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          2  to you to see the project costs attached to anything

          3  that we're highlighting, we'd be happy to do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Well, let me just

          5  say that I respectfully request that when we go to

          6  the next hearing round, that those numbers be fixed

          7  to the visual presentation.

          8                 MR. WRIGHT: Not a problem.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 MR. LIEBER: That's a fair request.

         12  What I'm referring to are the numbers that were in

         13  the capital, economic development capital

         14  highlights, which were a part of the OMB Financial

         15  Plan summary. I didn't want to be too redundant, but

         16  we'd be happy to provide that for context as we go

         17  forward.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 Proceed.

         21                 MR. LIEBER: I was back talking about

         22  Pier 88, you know, we've got $180 million, which has

         23  been allocated to that pier to expand the length of

         24  the pier to accommodate the more modern ships that

         25  are coming in.
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          2                 This project is scheduled to reopen

          3  in the spring of 2008. An adjacent Pier, Pier 9, is

          4  undergoing more modest infrastructure work which

          5  will improve the passenger luggage and provisioning

          6  circulation which exists around those two piers on

          7  the west side of Manhattan. Pier 9 is not going to

          8  be closed while we continue to do that work, it will

          9  continue to be in operations.

         10                 We expect the Manhattan cruise

         11  terminal itself is going to have more than --

         12  approximately 200 ship calls and approximately

         13  900,000 passengers in 2007, again expanding what we

         14  think is a vital activity for the economy of New

         15  York.

         16                 The cruise industry itself supports

         17  more than 3,300 jobs in the City and has a total

         18  economic activity calculated to be approximately

         19  $600 million. Big business, and has lots of benefits

         20  that come from it.

         21                 In 2007 we talked about some tourism

         22  growth and other growth, but we will have, we

         23  estimate, over 1.1 million cruise ship passengers

         24  expected to travel from New York City.

         25                 So, an important part of this
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          2  initiative consistent with this strategic plan

          3  developed in 2004.

          4                 I'm going to move on now to Staten

          5  Island to talk about Stapleton Home Port. This is an

          6  example of a stakeholder driven initiative that led

          7  to the development project that is designed to

          8  revitalize the waterfront and create important new

          9  economic drivers for Staten Island and New Yorkers.

         10  The goals of this project are to provide community

         11  access to the waterfront and the open space

         12  associated with it, to expand the economic viability

         13  of the area, and it's complimentary to Stapleton's

         14  identity and character.

         15                 In this particular case we have

         16  earmarked $66 million for public improvements. Those

         17  public improvements will include the reconstruction

         18  of Front Street, to develop a continuous waterfront

         19  esplanade, as well as to create two new public open

         20  spaces.

         21                 This home port, Stapleton Home Port

         22  is going to be part of a broader mixed use

         23  development program that's going to include

         24  residential, hotel, restaurant, banquet halls,

         25  sportsplex, as well as retail and a farmer's market.
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          2  So, ambitious plan, great location, great

          3  opportunity, we feel, for Staten Island and New York

          4  overall.

          5                 Switching to the business centers, if

          6  you will, the CDB activities include in Downtown

          7  Brooklyn, Jamaica, 125th Street and Long Island

          8  City. I'm going to talk on each of these briefly

          9  here, but, again, as a part of your question

         10  earlier, what's going on in the other boroughs,

         11  we'll talk about the incredible assets that we have

         12  throughout the five boroughs that we believe can be

         13  leveraged to create alternative CDBs creating more

         14  options for businesses which are looking to locate

         15  in New York City, and which diversify the economy

         16  and bring more jobs and more diverse jobs to the

         17  City.

         18                 It's important we think to be able to

         19  develop and nurture smaller businesses. Many of

         20  those businesses are very price sensitive about the

         21  rents that they can pay and we think it's important

         22  to provide those kinds of alternatives for small

         23  businesses so they can grow to be larger businesses

         24  and bigger employers here within the City.

         25                 Focusing first on downtown Brooklyn,
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          2  back in 2004 the City Council adopted a

          3  comprehensive development plan which was designed to

          4  facilitate the continued growth of downtown

          5  Brooklyn. Design is underway for $13 million on

          6  Flatbush Avenue for a streetscape project, which

          7  creates a new gateway into downtown Brooklyn. We

          8  expect to break ground in the spring of 2008 on that

          9  initiative. We have recently completed the

         10  negotiations for new residential on Myrtle which

         11  will provide over 600 housing units, more than

         12  75,000 square feet of retail and the first phase of

         13  this development is expected to break ground in

         14  2007.

         15                 Partnering with City Planning and the

         16  BAM LDC we prepared a development plan for the

         17  cultural district, which is designed to improve the

         18  streetscapes and the public spaces associated with

         19  that area, improve the overall connections and

         20  circulation within and throughout the area. And make

         21  the cultural district, BAM, an even more important

         22  destination area for people to visit.

         23                 Looking at Jamaica next, Jamaica is

         24  one of the key economic centers as we've talked

         25  about, and certainly one of the major transportation
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          2  hubs. The Mayor has sought to catalyze these assets

          3  with strategies and strategic planning and

          4  investment strategies. It's a very important area

          5  and one of the largest potential rezoning efforts

          6  underway. But the idea is to invest in the

          7  infrastructure and identify targeted capital

          8  projects which really enhance the desirability of

          9  being in Jamaica. Sutphin Avenue Streetscape

         10  improvements are ongoing, they began several years

         11  ago, they continue, it's a beautification project of

         12  that area. The Atlantic Avenue Extension, the 94th,

         13  95th Avenue at one-way parings (phonetic), the

         14  one-way parings really focusing on improving the

         15  traffic flow and circulation in the area, to make

         16  things move more easily, as well as more safely,

         17  which is also part of our Archer Avenue Realignment

         18  Plan, which is focused on pedestrian improvements,

         19  as well, in safety, for people in the area.

         20                 We're also involved in the day-to-day

         21  life improvements associated with parks and open

         22  space, created by the Atlantic Avenue extension and

         23  the Archer Avenue street widening. We're also in the

         24  process of implementing new zoning strategy which

         25  will incorporate a special downtown district, which
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          2  encourages the investment in protecting the existing

          3  residential communities.

          4                 The IMM is an important part of

          5  business growth and the development opportunities as

          6  well, it is integral to what we're trying to do in

          7  Jamaica.

          8                 In Manhattan on 125th Street, the

          9  City is advancing a rezoning and very comprehensive

         10  strategy to reestablish 125th Street which we'll

         11  call water-to-water as a major regional and

         12  international destination for culture, for arts and

         13  for entertainment. We're pursing a three-prong

         14  strategy, the first of which is to create a critical

         15  mass of cultural venues within the newly created

         16  125th Street arts and entertainment zoning

         17  subdistrict, that zoning will increase the density

         18  within the arts and entertainment component. We're

         19  also targeting fostering a more complimentary retail

         20  uses through this zoning, new entertainment use

         21  requirement where we want to put limitations on

         22  ground floor banks so the banks will be not

         23  occupying all that title streetscape and street

         24  level retail, but in fact will be limited to having

         25  an ATM vestibule with stair or escalator access to
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          2  the second floor or the basement bank branches so

          3  that we can protect and maintain that streetscape

          4  retail, street level retail.

          5                 We're also working with our

          6  colleagues at SBS, who follow us here this morning

          7  on providing technical assistance for small

          8  businesses, and the overall goal here is to really

          9  strengthen and promote Harlem's unique identity. The

         10  new zoning will allow for the development of Marques

         11  Signage, help us develop a major festival that

         12  builds upon the Harlem's identity, improved tourism

         13  visitor center on 125th Street, which will help

         14  foster direction for people in the area, and to

         15  improve the signage and way finding on 125th Street

         16  and throughout Harlem. All a part of the tourism

         17  visitor center and overall streetscape and projects

         18  that we're talking about.

         19                 We've got another project which is

         20  connected with 125th Street on the East Side as

         21  well.

         22                 In October 2006, really after ten

         23  months of visioning with representatives from the

         24  community, working very closely, EDC issued an RFP

         25  for the redevelopment of approximately six and a
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          2  half acres in East Harlem.

          3                 That RFP is designed to generate more

          4  than 700, perhaps 1,000 units of affordable housing,

          5  between 100, 300,000 square feet of creative office

          6  and media space, approximately 475,000 square feet

          7  of retail, and possibly a hotel.

          8                 We're currently analyzing the

          9  proposals that we've received from responders to the

         10  RFP and we expect to select a developer some time

         11  approximately around June.

         12                 Turning to Long Island City and

         13  Queens West, the Economic Development Corporation

         14  has played a very important role in a multi-pronged

         15  effort to revitalize this key region in western

         16  Queens, including Queens Plaza, Court Square and

         17  Queens West.

         18                 Queens Plaza is a major

         19  transportation hub and really the front door for

         20  many key development sites in the Long Island City

         21  CBD. The $28 million Queens Plaza improvement

         22  project will provide pedestrian improvements. We'll

         23  also include a new one and a half acre open space

         24  and work to reconfigure the streets to improve the

         25  traffic conditions, which is a big issue in that
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          2  area.

          3                 We expect to begin the construction

          4  in late 2007 or early 2008. Also in the area along

          5  Jackson Avenue, the corridor linking Queens Plaza to

          6  Court Square and the Queens West residential

          7  neighborhood, we're looking at designs for key

          8  landscaping and improving traffic and pedestrian

          9  amenities that are already underway. And that

         10  anticipated cost for those streetscape and

         11  pedestrian initiatives is $10 million, we expect

         12  that construction to begin a year from now in the

         13  spring of 2008.

         14                 A major component, Capstone project

         15  for the City, which is being overseen by the EDC and

         16  HPD as the new Queens West Affordable Housing

         17  Project. In October the Mayor announced the

         18  agreement to transfer ownership of approximately 30

         19  acres of land known as Queens West Stages 3 and 4.

         20  This will result in 5,000 units of housing, the

         21  majority of which will be affordable to families

         22  earning between 60,000 and 145,000 dollars. This

         23  housing is going to be complimented by additional

         24  new retail and waterfront open space. We have been,

         25  the planning consultant team has been assisting in
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          2  the development of the plan and EIS consultant to be

          3  in that process will be announced shortly.

          4                 We would hope, all things going well,

          5  to begin the ULURP process by the end of 2007,

          6  again, a major initiative in Queens, in particular.

          7                 Again, part of our creating a better

          8  place for people to live is creating innovative open

          9  space. We have projects in many different boroughs,

         10  the West Harlem Piers, the South Bronx Greenway,

         11  High Line Project here in Manhattan and Bush

         12  Terminal Park.

         13                 You know, many of these waterfront

         14  esplanades for many years have been really

         15  unreachable for many New Yorkers, and one of the

         16  Mayor's goals as a part of the PlaNYC is that every

         17  New Yorker be able to access a park or open space

         18  within ten minutes of where he or she lives.

         19                 We're working to help create that

         20  open space and reconnect the communities with their

         21  waterfront.

         22                 I'll talk first about what we're

         23  doing at West Harlem Piers. This project is designed

         24  to connect West Harlem with the rest of the

         25  Manhattan Waterfront Greenway. It's part of the West
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          2  Harlem Master Plan the Mayor announced in October of

          3  2002 to revitalize the area between 125th and 135th

          4  Streets, between Broadway and the Hudson River in

          5  West Harlem, and will include a bicycle and

          6  pedestrian path, water taxi or ferry landing with a

          7  boat pier excursion dock, and recreational and

          8  fishing pier. We're also going to landscape open

          9  space for more recreational and pedestrian use in

         10  that area.

         11                 The work began in late 2005. We

         12  expect that this open space work will be completed

         13  in the spring of 2008. So, we're well underway

         14  there.

         15                 An important part of this is our

         16  partners in this effort which include the Upper

         17  Manhattan Empowerment Zone, New York State

         18  Congressman Weiner, Manhattan Borough President, the

         19  City Council, the State Department of Parks, and the

         20  Port Authority, all a really good example of an

         21  innovative effort to beautify the area.

         22                 The next budget we talk about will be

         23  the South Bronx Greenway. This was a project that

         24  was announced by the Mayor in November. The goals of

         25  this project are similar to West Harlem to reconnect
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          2  the neighborhoods to the waterfront and provide much

          3  needed overall recreational opportunities, with,

          4  again, focus on the network of bike and pedestrian

          5  pass for the communities to create open spaces,

          6  including the Hunts Point Landing, improved

          7  transportation safety, initiating catalyzed green

          8  investment in the Hunts Point Food Distribution

          9  Center.

         10                 As we look at this, you know,

         11  short-term projects, include one and a half acres of

         12  accessible public open space and a little over two

         13  miles of green streets. If we're successful within

         14  five years the City will have created eight and a

         15  half miles of green streets, 12 acres of new

         16  waterfront open space, and vastly improve the access

         17  to Randalls Island from the Bronx.

         18                 South Bronx Greenway has received a

         19  little over $23 million in capital dollars. The Bush

         20  Terminal Park has a 23-acre site that has remained

         21  vacant since the late 1970s because of associated

         22  contamination with the site. The EDC, in close

         23  partnership with the Parks Department, coordination

         24  with the local community, is working to transform

         25  the site into a new park for what we'll call Sunset
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          2  Park.

          3                 When constructed, the Bush Terminal

          4  Piers will help to double the amount of open space

          5  in Sunset Park and importantly, you know, provide

          6  the community with it's first waterfront park. We

          7  secured the funding by leveraging the funds

          8  committed by both federal and State governments, and

          9  today 36 million has been secured for Phase 1 of the

         10  park, which will include the remediation efforts

         11  that are needed, that's approximately 19 million and

         12  the first park improvements, the athletic fields,

         13  the walkways, shoreline stabilization, and the

         14  natural areas and wetland enhancements.

         15                 A little over 17 million has been

         16  granted to the City by the State, it's the largest

         17  grant ever awarded by the state for the remediation

         18  of a brownfield site. I think that's an important

         19  signal as well. Over $8 million from the federal

         20  government was secured by Congresswoman Nydia

         21  Velazquez. So, great combined effort to improve the

         22  bush terminal park.

         23                 The State is still going to provide

         24  $700,000 in EPF grant and 500,000 from Councilwoman

         25  Sara Gonzalez to transform the site into a
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          2  recreational park.

          3                 So, multi-faceted, a lot of

          4  commitment and a lot of interaction with a number of

          5  different stakeholders and constituents in

          6  revitalizing this area.

          7                 Next project I'll just briefly touch

          8  on is the High Line, which is the idea of the reuse

          9  of the High Line Rail Line, which is at least

         10  converting that into an elevated park in the west

         11  side of Manhattan. The City is developing the plans

         12  for the portion of the High Line now that runs from

         13  the Intersection of Gansevoort and Washington Street

         14  and the West Village up to West 30th Street.

         15                 This area of the City and this

         16  community is one of the lowest amounts of open space

         17  in the City and the High Line is an interesting and

         18  key component of the open space network that we

         19  envision overall for the West Side.

         20                 We envision that when the project is

         21  completed and when we combine it with the other

         22  planning initiatives underway, we'll be able to have

         23  people walk from Gansevoort through open space

         24  network all the way up to West 42nd Street. It's

         25  part of the overall plan.
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          2                 The City has allocated approximately

          3  $90 million for design and construction of Section 1

          4  of the High Line, it's going to run from Gansevoort

          5  to West 20th Street, and we're also focusing on

          6  trying to expand the ongoing growth of the art

          7  galleries, over approximately 200 galleries have

          8  opened their doors in recent years and look at over

          9  4,200 units of new housing that could be developed

         10  in that area.

         11                 Moving on, one of the other areas

         12  that we think is an important initiative for us.

         13  Actually, EDC began this before it was an enacted

         14  law, Local Law 86 which went into effect the

         15  beginning of January of this year, which is to, you

         16  know, the broad use of environmental, broad sense of

         17  environmental sensitivity utilizing recycled

         18  materials and trying to improve the environment both

         19  today and as we go forward, working to create the

         20  demand for green products and services by working

         21  with the architects, engineers, contractors,

         22  maintenance workers, et cetera.

         23                 We have established our own green

         24  industry desk, which is designed to nurture all

         25  different types of green businesses and jobs that
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          2  result from that here in New York City.

          3                 The goals of this green desk

          4  initiative are to support green building development

          5  and attract green firms located out of the City to

          6  move to New York, and also to try and connect the

          7  venture capital community with the local firms to

          8  support the development of new technologies and new

          9  products that support environmentally sensitive

         10  uses.

         11                 We've identified through an RFP a

         12  green building consultant who is going to assist in

         13  the review and evaluation of all green building

         14  strategies and the techniques proposed in the RFP

         15  submissions that we generate, and the development of

         16  green goals and guidelines for each of these

         17  projects.

         18                 I will note that all the RFPs that go

         19  out of EDC today now will include a green

         20  requirement, and all buildings with developments of

         21  cost over $1 million, developers must achieve lead

         22  or a special environmental certification. All

         23  buildings with development costs below a million

         24  dollars work with EDC to incorporate both low cost

         25  and cost effective components in the building
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          2  design.

          3                 I want to talk about the Minority and

          4  Women and Business Enterprise Program. I'm going to

          5  talk about this briefly. We can also answer some of

          6  your specific questions. Bomi Kim, who is with EDC

          7  and is responsible for managing our overall MWBE

          8  program can answer some additional questions as

          9  well. But our program encourages participation in

         10  all of EDC projects. We provide support and

         11  information of the contractors and the consultants

         12  about procedures associated with contracting and

         13  procurement, also assist contractors and consultants

         14  to expand the lists of certified MWBEs

         15  subcontractors and subconsultants. We want to build

         16  name recognition in the capacity of the MWBE firms

         17  by hosting, networking and training workshops so

         18  there is a greater awareness and recognition of the

         19  abilities of these firms, and we want to continue to

         20  add a comprehensive database of these firms to

         21  encourage the vendors and EDC staff to use the

         22  talents of this capable group.

         23                 Our target goals as we go forward

         24  encompass a number of projects. We have

         25  participation goals that we have established for
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          2  projects, any projects that are funded with City

          3  dollars, including Mayoral capital, City Council

          4  capital, Borough President capital and City tax levy

          5  monies, and other projects that are deemed MWBE

          6  target worthy.

          7                 So, for Fiscal Year '07, projects

          8  under 1 million have participation targets, include

          9  20 percent of construction and 22 percent of

         10  professional services.

         11                 I anticipate there may be additional

         12  questions and we'll be happy to answer that in more

         13  detail as we go forward.

         14                 Looking for a moment on the financial

         15  plan, and I'm going to talk a little bit about the

         16  budget and how we support ourselves in these

         17  projects.

         18                 I think that important to note is

         19  that from this chart that unlike other City agencies

         20  who may appear before you, the Economic Development

         21  Corporation does not receive tax levies from the

         22  City to support our operations. Instead, our

         23  operating expenses are predominantly covered by

         24  revenues generated from rents that are collected on

         25  properties that we manage on behalf of the City.
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          2                 So, it's not tax levies, it's

          3  actually revenue generated from properties that

          4  we're responsible for managing on behalf of the

          5  City. The audited financial statements we have not

          6  provided here but they can be found on line, the

          7  comprenensive list about that. The other thing I

          8  will say about the revenues and the budget that EDC

          9  has is 75 percent of the budget that we have is

         10  restricted and program specific. So, it's not like

         11  there's a ton of discretion. These projects are

         12  identified and program specific, associated with the

         13  revenues and capital associated with them.

         14                 Financial Plan for Fiscal Year '07,

         15  as I mentioned, specific programs are going to be

         16  put back, identified programs. Special projects

         17  includes, you know, under 10 million in City tax

         18  levy, this is not our operations. It's a sign of

         19  EDC, but it's a flow-through associated with OMB.

         20                 We have a number of other projects

         21  that we support around Governor's Island, the Big

         22  Apple Greeters, Graffiti Free New York, and includes

         23  funding towards the routine waterfront inspections

         24  associated with our facilities.

         25                 Overall, personnel services and GNA
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          2  expenses are approximately 8.9 percent of our

          3  overall total expense budget.

          4                 The 300 new capital budget presents

          5  as anticipated spending by the EDC on capital

          6  projects for the current fiscal year.

          7                 We have a $1.7 billion Fiscal '07 and

          8  '08 total capital budget. It represents the total

          9  forecasted capital budget for the two years, but

         10  there are 300 million of new initiatives, including

         11  in this year's budget.

         12                 Talking a little bit more about the

         13  budget, when we look at the presentation here,

         14  you'll see, again, some of the detail perhaps that

         15  had been presented earlier, that the presentation

         16  that we have here actually excludes the Brooklyn

         17  Navy Yard, which actually shows up in our budget as

         18  a line item, but the Brooklyn Navy Yard, just to be

         19  clear, has its own contract from the City and is a

         20  complete separate entity with really no operational

         21  affiliation with what EDC does.

         22                 We also have a number of initiatives

         23  that you'll see that are joint state initiatives

         24  like Javits Center, Atlantic Yards, East River

         25  Science Park, Governors Island. These items are all
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          2  project-specific fundings that represent a large

          3  portion of our capital budget, and they're, as I

          4  mentioned, joint initiatives with the State, but

          5  also generate significant overall return to the

          6  City.

          7                 We contribute equal or greater

          8  contributions from the State and federal sources to

          9  create a whole that's greater than any of these

         10  individual contributions. So, these are larger

         11  projects that are not just EDC-controlled projects,

         12  but you will see flow through some of the capital

         13  budget items that show up in the financial summary

         14  plan.

         15                 We talk a little bit about our asset

         16  management activity, which includes the major

         17  industrial and waterfront properties, as well as

         18  EDC's own overall property portfolio. Under the line

         19  item or on other, it includes funding agreements for

         20  projects that are mostly sponsored by Borough

         21  Presidents and City Council, including the Apollo

         22  Theater, the Bed-Stuy Restoration Project, Jamaica

         23  Parking Project, and we're also involved in

         24  significant other projects for other agencies,

         25  including DOT with the ferry terminals, parks and
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          2  recreation around the stadiums and High Line,

          3  cultural affairs through Lincoln Center and the

          4  Aquarium and then various funding agreements with

          5  other agencies including DCAS.

          6                 The new capital budget funding, we'll

          7  go through and break this out for you, if you like,

          8  but EDC has received an additional 310 million in

          9  new capital budget funding for Fiscal Year '07,

         10  through Fiscal Year 2012, part of the Mayor's

         11  Preliminary Fiscal Year '08 budget, some significant

         12  examples, funding through these projects for asset

         13  management, which include Brooklyn Piers 7 through

         14  12, which I touched on earlier, that budget includes

         15  a little over $65 million of allocated budget, Bush

         16  Terminal is about 6.7 million of capital budget

         17  allocation. GIPEC is approximately $90 million,

         18  Coney Island is a little over $40 million, the West

         19  125th Street is just under 7 million, 6.9 million

         20  dollars, and downtown Brooklyn is approximately $8.7

         21  million.

         22                 And when you look at the incremental

         23  310 million that's out there, we've broken it down

         24  by these specific components.

         25                 I think when I go through this,
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          2  again, going back to the beginning, we have tried to

          3  execute a strategy here which is to the benefit of a

          4  number of major projects and those projects are

          5  including all the boroughs. The strategy is to focus

          6  on major projects that will have significant

          7  long-lasting impacts, but it's also not to lose

          8  sight of the smaller projects which affect the

          9  quality of life day-to-day streetscape projects and

         10  others.

         11                 So, I am pretty much through my

         12  prepared comments and slides, and I would be happy

         13  to answer any Council Members' questions, and if I

         14  can't answer them, I'm going to turn to my

         15  colleagues for their assistance in that.

         16                 Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 First, let me acknowledge my

         20  colleague, he must have stepped out, Council Member

         21  McMahon, the Councilwoman from Brooklyn, Council

         22  Member James, Council Member Gerson from Manhattan.

         23                 Yes, Mr. Lieber, in order for us to

         24  really analyze your testimony in terms of the

         25  capital amount that you testified to, I'm going to
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          2  respectfully ask that the notes that you just read

          3  from be made available to us so we can make copies

          4  and I can distribute to the members of the Committee

          5  as well as the Finance to the Committee.

          6                 MR. LIEBER: I'm happy to provide as

          7  much information as I possibly can. If you need

          8  translation from my handwriting, I'm happy to do

          9  that as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Fine. How will we

         11  proceed to this? We'll make one copy and we'll

         12  translate it in the best of our ability and we'll

         13  call you on what we don't understand.

         14                 MR. LIEBER: You know, I'd rather make

         15  sure you have a clean copy that includes all of that

         16  information. I'd like to be able to provide you with

         17  a clean copy.

         18                 Can we do that now? Do we have a

         19  clean copy that we can distribute?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I would appreciate

         21  that. It would be very helpful to the Committee.

         22  Thank you very much. We'll need copies.

         23                 I have a series of questions, but in

         24  your testimony you mention I believe, and that's why

         25  we don't have the numbers so you might have to
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          2  correct me on a specific site. But you had mentioned

          3  something in the streetscape where there was going

          4  to be banking machines on the street level and

          5  escalators to go to the second level to where the

          6  bank was. And my only question to that is, is it

          7  going to be handicapped accessible?

          8                 MR. LIEBER: What I was describing was

          9  the design plans on 125th Street. It's been the

         10  feedback we've had from our consultants that if you

         11  just have big branch banks that occupy all that

         12  street level retail, it's not a very vibrant

         13  community, so what we're going to do is provide ATMs

         14  and then access to below grade or above grade

         15  facilities, and we would certainly make sure all

         16  these facilities are done according to code and

         17  handicapped compliant as a part of that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you. I

         19  needed to have that answer.

         20                 MR. WRIGHT: And actually, just to

         21  give you that answer, they are, all new construction

         22  does need to be decoded, and, of course, it would be

         23  handicapped access.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 Okay, I know a number of my

          3  colleagues have questions, and I have a few and

          4  Chairman Yassky has a few and then we'll be followed

          5  by Council Member James, Council Member Reyna and

          6  Council Member Gerson in that order. The question

          7  that I have is, in the Preliminary ten-year capital

          8  strategy plan from '08 to '17, it calls for

          9  dedicating 320 million to Coney Island

         10  Redevelopment, and EDC's January Capital Commitment

         11  Plan for Fiscal Year '07 to '10 includes 121.9

         12  million for this initiative and an increase of 32.6

         13  million over the September Plan of 89.4 million.

         14                 Can you please describe to this

         15  Committee the scope of this project and what these

         16  funds will be used for?

         17                 MR. LIEBER: Well, I would ask my

         18  colleague Kate Callignon to provide a little more

         19  background to this. But, what you'll see in some of

         20  the budget information is what I referred to at the

         21  beginning, some of these projects have broad scale

         22  to them associated with the initiatives for the City

         23  overall and we act in partnership with the City on

         24  many of these projects.

         25                 The capital budget that EDC has are
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          2  those areas that we are more able to specifically

          3  identify the uses and the target use of those

          4  capital dollars, some of the other dollars will be

          5  City-led initiatives that we can tell you what we

          6  know about but we're not purely responsible for

          7  that.

          8                 So, having said that, Kate, do you

          9  want to talk a little bit about Coney Island?

         10                 MS. CALLIGNON: Good morning. As you

         11  may know, the Coney Island Development Corporation

         12  was created by the City Council, the Borough

         13  President and the Mayor's Office to generate a

         14  strategic plan for Coney Island.

         15                 The Strategic Plan was released in

         16  2005, and I believe we have approximately 110

         17  million in total City capital funds toward

         18  implementation of that strategic plan. As President

         19  Lieber just described, there are additional funds

         20  identified for Coney Island which are for other

         21  economic development-related activities in Coney

         22  Island undertaken by different agencies.

         23                 Those funds would be spent by

         24  improving public open space, streetscape and local

         25  infrastructure, as well as targeted projects that
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          2  have been identified over the course of public

          3  outreach as necessary for accomplishing the goals of

          4  the strategic plan. Projects like acquisition of the

          5  historic B&B Carousel, as well as creation of a new

          6  community center in conjunction with affordable

          7  housing in Coney Island.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, let me just

          9  give you the other two parts to this question, and

         10  then you can answer them all, okay?

         11                 MS. COLLIGNON: Sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: And what is the

         13  estimated impact on this project, including

         14  construction costs and contracting and permanent

         15  jobs? And what is the total percentage of contracts

         16  and subcontracts that will go to Minority and

         17  Women-owned Businesses?

         18                 MS. COLLIGNON: The specific economic

         19  impact is going to depend on the final rezoning

         20  strategy. That rezoning analysis is still underway

         21  and will be part of public conversation and will be

         22  returning to the public before putting that forward.

         23                 We are working with small business

         24  services to identify how we can best ensure that

         25  local residents are participating in new jobs that
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          2  are created, and with the Construction Commission to

          3  look at how we ensure that people are involved in

          4  new construction opportunities, but these are

          5  conversations that we will have over the course of

          6  rezoning once that commences.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.

          8                 EDC's capital commitment plan for the

          9  Jamaica Center in the September Plan for Fiscal Year

         10  '07 includes 23 million but zero dollars for the

         11  January Plan. In the January Plan for Fiscal '08,

         12  this project includes 8.7 million, for fiscal '09 it

         13  includes 14.9 million. Why did EDC decide to push

         14  forward for this project in the outyear? What is the

         15  reason behind that decision?

         16                 MS. COLLIGNON: The total City Council

         17  contribution toward the Jamaica Center Plan is

         18  approximately $35 million. In conjunction with other

         19  State and federal funding, total allocation is

         20  closer to $65 million. We have a number of projects

         21  that are underway and the cash fills (sic) will

         22  continue to roll as the projects commence. As you

         23  may know, rezoning commenced for the overall

         24  district on February 5th, that's at the community

         25  board right now.
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          2                 There's also a rezoning, I'm sorry,

          3  ULURP approvals connected to transportation

          4  enhancements that certify January 22nd, the Atlantic

          5  Avenue extension improvements are expected to start

          6  construction in early 2008, and the Station Plaza

          7  Project would start construction a little bit later

          8  out.

          9                 So, these are the same numbers that

         10  we've been citing for Jamaica, and we will continue

         11  to keep you updated as the project progresses.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, thank you.

         13                 Chairman Yassky.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. Good

         15  morning. A few things.

         16                 First, on the downtown Brooklyn

         17  project that you spoke about in the powerpoint, the

         18  main EDC goal there is the will-be park, if I get

         19  it, and the underground parking, to park underneath

         20  it; do you have a timetable for that?

         21                 MS. COLLIGNON: We do not have a

         22  precise timetable. As you may be aware, certain

         23  statements were made over the course of public

         24  review and we agreed to look at whether there was a

         25  history of underground railroad activity on the
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          2  site.

          3                 There is a hearing scheduled before

          4  the Landmarks Committee on March 20th, and we look

          5  forward to discussing with you the research that's

          6  been done on that to date at that hearing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. Okay,

          8  thank you.

          9                 Pier 7 through 12, can you just give

         10  me a little more detail about what you're proposing

         11  there?

         12                 MS. COLLIGNON: The goal of the Pier 7

         13  through 12 project is to bring in more intensive

         14  maritime industrial uses to the Brooklyn waterfront

         15  to generate maritime jobs, and balance that with

         16  opening up access to the waterfront, particularly

         17  around Atlanta Basin.

         18                 There have been extensive

         19  conversations with the community over the last

         20  couple of years. We scoped the environmental review

         21  for that in October and have executed an MOU with

         22  the Port Authority, and are looking forward to

         23  bringing additional jobs to the site as we come

         24  before the Council in upcoming months for public

         25  review.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And I'm just

          3  looking for the number, I don't remember if it's 120

          4  or 107 million that you are allocating for that. You

          5  probably know off the top of your head.

          6                 MS. COLLIGNON: It's $70 million

          7  that's allocated for substructure maintenance

          8  improvements.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Yes, $70

         10  million. So that's all, that entire $70 million is

         11  for, you just said, substructure maintenance,

         12  keeping the piers from falling into the river?

         13                 MS. COLLIGNON: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is this work that

         15  is at the annual cost? Has there been deferred

         16  maintenance, as they say? Or is that an expansion

         17  of, you know, infrastructure? What is it?

         18                 MS. COLLIGNON: That's basic

         19  maintenance. That's not an annual cost. That is for,

         20  I believe, the first few years of City ownership of

         21  the property. The Port Authority has also committed

         22  $75 million to the substructure maintenance and

         23  total costs estimated over the next 25 years is

         24  approximately 200 million.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is that what
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          2  they've spent over the last 25, or is it just, you

          3  know, as they get older they get more expensive?

          4                 Here is one question I raise in my

          5  mind is, why are we eager to assume those costs

          6  rather than have the Port Authority pay them?

          7                 MR. LIEBER: Well, I'm not stealing

          8  the microphone from you because you know more about

          9  this than I do. But what I would say is in order to

         10  maintain those piers for maritime use, they take a

         11  fair amount of abuse from boats and barges and ships

         12  that are pounding into the side. So, to keep them so

         13  that they're functioned for maritime use, it's

         14  expensive, and when you go below water, it gets more

         15  expensive, so I think the budget that we're talking

         16  about is something that we have looked at very

         17  carefully ourselves and we have reached an agreement

         18  with the Port Authority about how we're going to pay

         19  for those costs moving forward.

         20                 I can't really tell you how much Port

         21  Authority has spent in the past. We don't know. But

         22  if you're going to continue, which is our goal, to

         23  expand and create jobs and maritime use there, we

         24  expect that continuing to maintain that substructure

         25  is going to be an important component of that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, what about my

          3  question about I guess if this is an expense that

          4  the Port Authority has been responsible for, this is

          5  kind of a new need as it were for the City budget

          6  and the City perspective and not a trivial one.

          7  Aren't we concerned about that? Why do we want to

          8  assume that financial responsibility, as opposed to

          9  have the Port Authority continue?

         10                 MR. LIEBER: I think that what we look

         11  at, and by the way, I think it's a great question,

         12  it's something that we look at each and every day,

         13  because you always kind of measure the cost against

         14  the benefits here, and I think what we've been able

         15  to do here with the Port is develop a program that

         16  is going to create and enhance the economic activity

         17  that's associated with those piers. So, you've got

         18  to look at the costs associated with doing it with

         19  what the benefit that you're going to get coming out

         20  of it. And we think that the things that we can do

         21  as a City-owned facility that the port, you know,

         22  either can't or won't do on its own, that we can do

         23  to expand the economic growth opportunity with

         24  marine and other uses, you know, with the Atlantic

         25  Basin, with boats, with the haul out facilities and
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          2  other things that we can do to improve the economic

          3  activity associated with it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, Ms.

          5  Ascher, I didn't mean to interrupt.

          6                 MS. ASCHER: I actually just wanted to

          7  say exactly what Bob just said, which is that you're

          8  going to use these piers more -- I'm sorry, I'm Kate

          9  Ascher, EDC.

         10                 If you're going to use these piers

         11  more intensively than they have in the past, you

         12  need to do more work than the Port Authority has

         13  historically done. The Port has had no plans to

         14  increase the amount of activity that's there, and we

         15  have very dramatic plans to increase the amount of

         16  activity, which means both substructure and upland

         17  infrastructure money will have to be spent to

         18  achieve those job goals that Bob was speaking about.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And can you say

         20  just a word about what that increased activity is? I

         21  know this will come through the ULURP process and

         22  there will be opportunities at that point to discuss

         23  it. But if the expenditure is kind of necessary for

         24  the plans, what are the plans?

         25                 MS. ASCHER: The substructure
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          2  expenditure that you're talking about is necessary

          3  for the maritime industrial uses, and if you're

          4  going to tie up ships with any persuasion bringing

          5  cargo in, you need to have piles that are strong to

          6  a greater or lesser degree. So, we intend to keep a

          7  variety of cargo activities on those piers, some of

          8  them have not been utilized at all or intensely

          9  utilized. In addition, Governors Island may well be

         10  using one of the piers in a much more intensive way

         11  than it has been in the past, so that substructure

         12  will have to be much more robust.

         13                 You're right, we will be talking

         14  about the specific uses on each of the peers as we

         15  bring the plan to the Council in the spring.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right. I know

         17  there will be another time and a place. As you know,

         18  I have serious concerns about any plan that would

         19  displace the containerport that's there now. I know

         20  there will be another time or a place to discuss

         21  that.

         22                 Just on the money question, are we

         23  getting anything from the Port Authority in return

         24  for this assumption of cost? I mean, I've, over the

         25  five years I've been here, have had a number of
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          2  occasions concerns about, you know, whether the Port

          3  Authority is spending the resources, spending their

          4  resources to benefit us as opposed to New Jersey,

          5  and it seems like I think it would be far better to

          6  have kind of a global solution rather than every

          7  time something comes up it's one for us, one for

          8  them, but that seems to be the world that we live

          9  in. They're saving a bunch of money here, do we get

         10  something back for that?

         11                 MS. ASCHER: We are getting something

         12  back for it. For a start, they're operating the

         13  cruise terminal on our behalf right now, under a

         14  two-year agreement, which has been helpful, and they

         15  are spending money on that. But separately, as part

         16  of this agreement, the MOU that has been reached

         17  with the Port Authority, they are putting aside a

         18  maritime, essentially a maritime substructure fund,

         19  $75 million that will come to the City to be used to

         20  support the substructure of the working piers going

         21  forward.

         22                 So, they are not only transferring

         23  the property to us, they are giving us $75 million

         24  toward the upkeep of those piers, in return for

         25  which we will share additional revenues that are
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          2  generated beyond what we envision now in the future,

          3  so it's an up-side down-side deal.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, I

          5  know there is a lot more to do, so I will move on.

          6                 But I'm concerned, if this is

          7  maintenance costs that were going to have to be

          8  incurred anyway, the Port Authority has been paying

          9  for maintenance of these piers, now we're taking on

         10  that responsibility, I think that we should get

         11  something back for that.

         12                 MR. LIEBER: I think that what I

         13  would, Council member, what I would say is that this

         14  is in a way looking prospectively as in some

         15  respects a joint venture, we're going to share the

         16  costs associated with maintaining those piers as

         17  they go forward. We've been assured that the cost,

         18  that the condition of the piers today is good, so

         19  it's not a significant amount of deferred

         20  maintenance, as you described it, and that we think

         21  there is economic value to be realized, and some of

         22  that we will share with them in conjunction with the

         23  fact that they're going to stay in place to share

         24  some of the costs with us, as we go forward

         25  developing, or at least maintaining the
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          2  substructure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Fair enough.

          4                 Could you share then with the

          5  Committee, or the Committees, I guess, your analysis

          6  of the revenue, the projected revenue that justifies

          7  the investment? Not, you know, you don't have to do

          8  that now, but can you provide that in writing?

          9                 MR. LIEBER: Yes, when we have a

         10  better view. Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry?

         12                 MR. LIEBER: Yes, we will do that as

         13  we get down the process here and look at those uses,

         14  we'd be happy to.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Although,

         16  it seems to me you are kind of raising the question

         17  by putting this money in the budget now, if the

         18  argument is this is an investment that pays off, I

         19  think you are raising that question now.

         20                 I mean, I'm sorry, here's an

         21  expenditure that is surfacing in the budget, jeese,

         22  we're taking this off somebody else's hands, and

         23  your response, which I understand, and sounds

         24  sensible, is it's because we're embarking on a new

         25  joint venture, investment that pays back, then I
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          2  think if that's the argument for it, I'd like to see

          3  the back-up to that.

          4                 MS. ASCHER: Let me just make one

          5  thing clear. That expenditure that we're talking

          6  about will not be expended until we acquire the

          7  piers. The acquisition of the piers does require us

          8  to have a fairly good idea of what we're going to do

          9  with them, in terms of uses and the financial model

         10  that's associated with that.

         11                 So, that will all be coming before

         12  you as part of the review associated with the

         13  acquisition, and we will not be spending money on

         14  these piers until we are able to acquire them.

         15                 So, the answer is we are working on

         16  that model in conjunction with the environmental

         17  review and the planning for the site and all those

         18  component pieces will come together before the

         19  Council starting this spring.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, is there any

         21  prospect that it's a Fiscal Year '07/'08

         22  expenditure?

         23                 MS. ASCHER: We're hoping to acquire

         24  the piers as soon as the public review process and

         25  the Council is done in the fall.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: All right, fair

          3  enough. We can return to this for adoption.

          4                 It sounds to me like this is not

          5  really an '07/'08 expenditure, in which case the

          6  budget question ought to be deferred til the next

          7  year, but we can take that up again before adoption.

          8                 I have some question about Atlantic

          9  Yards. I note the presence of my colleague Letitia

         10  James, and I think this is something that you're

         11  intending to go into in depth.

         12                 Your budget calls for, if I

         13  understand it, $205 million in expenses for Atlantic

         14  Yards? Although I'm a little uncertain, and correct

         15  me if I'm wrong, the staff told me that one, the EDC

         16  plan, and I'm not certain what the difference is,

         17  there is an EDC plan that has $100 million, you

         18  know, proposed to be spent, but the Executive Budget

         19  has 205 million; am I correct there?

         20                 MR. LIEBER: That's correct. And

         21  that's one of the points I made at the beginning,

         22  that there are dollars that EDC is specifically

         23  responsible for and then there are dollars

         24  associated with some of these broader initiatives

         25  that involve other City agencies.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I don't mean to

          3  waste people's time, but can you just in summary,

          4  what does that $205 million consist of? What does

          5  that buy?

          6                 MR. WRIGHT: Seth Penski is right next

          7  to Bob here, and he can talk a little bit about

          8  development of the project. But do also understand,

          9  105 million that is in the budget also for Atlantic

         10  Yards is infrastructure work that other agencies are

         11  doing that are -- it's actually in their capital

         12  budget, it's not part of our budget, it's what

         13  they're doing to protect the assets in and around

         14  this project, and I'll let Seth talk about what

         15  we're doing on the development side.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. I can

         17  understand that.

         18                 MR. WRIGHT: The $100 million, that's

         19  in addition to the 105 is the City's capital

         20  contribution to the project. That money is going to

         21  be spent on land acquisition and infrastructure work

         22  or the project.

         23                 We're currently in negotiations with

         24  Forest City over a funding agreement, as well as

         25  with Empire State Development because they're going
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          2  to be putting in an equal amount into the project,

          3  and that funding agreement will contain promises

          4  from Forest City, as well as remedies in the event

          5  that those promises aren't fulfilled to make sure

          6  that the money that we're putting in gets us the

          7  project that we're looking for with the affordable

          8  housing, with open space, on the schedule that we

          9  are currently expecting.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, so the 100

         11  million is contribution to the project, money to

         12  give to Forest City Ratner to help them build the

         13  project, and then there's 105 that's City agency.

         14  Okay, I think you were telling me I should ask

         15  somebody else about the 105?

         16                 MR. WRIGHT: Well, the 105 is split

         17  between DOT, DEP, FDNY, which we're obviously

         18  focused on the development and there's other pieces

         19  that are being constructed and maintained in and

         20  around the Atlantic Yards Project.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, those are

         22  all expenditures that are not things that would

         23  ordinarily be born by a developer; is that true?

         24                 MR. WRIGHT: That's correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.
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          2                 I would appreciate it, and maybe it's

          3  not fair to ask you, but just a detailed summary of

          4  what that 105 million consists of. I suppose, I

          5  wasn't planning to be, maybe I should go to the

          6  other agencies hearings to ask this, which ones?

          7  It's FDNY, DEP?

          8                 MR. WRIGHT: DOT.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Oh, DOT.

         10                 MR. WRIGHT: DEP and MTA.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And MTA?

         12                 MR. WRIGHT: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And that's City

         14  money that goes to the MTA for that purpose?

         15                 MR. WRIGHT: There's City money in the

         16  budget for some TA work that's being done, some

         17  infrastructure work that's being done.

         18                 We would be happy to try to at least

         19  coordinate that for you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'd appreciate

         21  it. Thank you.

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: And get you some more

         23  clear answers.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. Okay,

         25  I appreciate that. That would be helpful.
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          2                 On the MTA part, that I'm just a

          3  little surprised; is that ordinary practice for us

          4  to contribute directly to an MTA capital project

          5  other than our kind of annual operating subsidy?

          6                 MR. WRIGHT: There's times where I

          7  believe in weigh-haul we had done some work around

          8  the subway station, which there could be State money

          9  and there could also be City money. But I wouldn't

         10  say there's a common practice. I think it's sort of

         11  project-by-project basis.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is there any of

         13  the, you know, City capital money proposed to be

         14  spent for traffic mitigation, for implementation for

         15  whatever measures the City, you know, intends now or

         16  one hopes will intend to implement to deal with the

         17  traffic problems that the project will cause, have

         18  we set aside any money for that?

         19                 MR. WRIGHT: It's $100 million you're

         20  asking about?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I guess of any of

         22  the 100.

         23                 MR. WRIGHT: The 100 million is --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Any of the 205.

         25                 MR. WRIGHT: It's likely that most, if
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          2  not all, of the 100 million will go towards property

          3  acquisition. So, the answer is no. The mitigation

          4  requirements, though, are requirements of the

          5  project in the EIS, so they will have to occur in

          6  connection with the project. And whether that's

          7  through our money or developer's money, there's an

          8  obligation to complete them.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. Thank

         10  you very much.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: One quick

         13  question. On the waterfront training program, is

         14  that running parallel to the capital development at

         15  the ports 7 to 12?

         16                 MR. WRIGHT: Are you referring to the

         17  money we have in the budget for the surveys of

         18  surveying our waterfront properties? You said

         19  waterfront training?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: No. Is there a

         21  waterfront training program for jobs?

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: You mean in conjunction

         23  with 7 through 12?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Yes.

         25                 MR. WRIGHT: I don't believe we're
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          2  even that far in. We honestly just want to make sure

          3  that the project makes sense, that the amount that's

          4  in the budget is correct.

          5                 We've made sure to go out there and

          6  do the survey of the properties and that's where we

          7  came up with what we believe needs to be done for

          8  that substructure work. And we'll be happy to share

          9  as we go down the road, and what could be attached

         10  to that as far as training, if it is --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: That's acceptable.

         12  Okay.

         13                 All right, Council Member James.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. Let

         15  me begin with continued line of questions on

         16  Atlantic Yards. It wasn't one of my last questions,

         17  but I'll begin with that.

         18                 You indicated that the $100 million

         19  was for site acquisition and/or property

         20  acquisition; is that property that may be the

         21  subject of an eminent domain lawsuit?

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: I don't believe so, no.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So these are

         24  properties that are available for sale on the open

         25  market?
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          2                 MR. WRIGHT: These are properties that

          3  either are available for sale or that Forest City

          4  has already purchased.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, they're

          6  reimbursing Forest City Ratner that he acquired?

          7                 MR. WRIGHT: It will be determined in

          8  conjunction with the funding agreement, but it is

          9  $100 million towards site acquisition relating to

         10  the project and our money will not be going into

         11  condemnation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Is it possible

         13  that Council Member Yassky and I could get a copy of

         14  that funding agreement when it's executed?

         15                 MR. WRIGHT: I assume so, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: As was

         17  mentioned earlier in the testimony, downtown

         18  Brooklyn, as a result of Council Member Yassky and

         19  myself, we approved the downtown rezoning, which has

         20  resulted in -- which was build as a commercial

         21  redevelopment, and unfortunately, not unfortunately,

         22  or fortunately it's become a residential development

         23  program, particularly on Flatbush Avenue and on

         24  Myrtle Avenue -- well, specifically on Myrtle Avenue

         25  I was focusing on housing, but it has become more of
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          2  a residential program on Flatbush Avenue and

          3  particularly a residential program for the rich. And

          4  we've had to negotiate piece-by-piece inclusion of

          5  affordable housing.

          6                 I specifically speak of Johnson

          7  Street, Gold Street, Flatbush Avenue extension. And,

          8  so, the question that I have is given the fact that

          9  again on Flatbush Avenue, and I would imagine in the

         10  Alby Square Mall, and in MetroTech II as I describe

         11  it, what can we do to ensure that there is the

         12  inclusion of affordable housing? 421-A doesn't come

         13  into effect until January. There is no inclusionary

         14  housing language in the rezoning because, again, it

         15  was build as commercial development, the only

         16  inclusionary zoning in my part of the district is on

         17  Myrtle Avenue. And, again, increasingly, all of

         18  these projects have a residential component, and

         19  most of them are luxury.

         20                 What can we do at this juncture to

         21  require affordable housing.

         22                 MS. ASCHER: I would defer to HPD on

         23  the specifics of the affordable housing programs

         24  that are available. The Myrtle Avenue project that

         25  we described earlier does include 200 units --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

          3                 MS. ASCHER: -- Of affordable housing.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: That's

          5  something specifically that I had requested.

          6                 MS. ASCHER: And that's something we

          7  fought very hard to make sure was incorporated in

          8  the final.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         10                 MS. ASCHER: We will continue working

         11  with the Department of City Planning, Housing

         12  Preservation and Development, to make sure that

         13  developers in downtown Brooklyn are making use of

         14  the resources the City has available.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Well, again,

         16  Council Member Yassky, and who is left, we will have

         17  continued discussions with the HPD. I've spoken to

         18  him in the past, and again, I would hope that EDC

         19  support our position with respect to providing

         20  affordable housing in downtown Brooklyn.

         21                 Flatbush Avenue is becoming a

         22  boulevard for the rich, the super rich, and it's

         23  resulting in the displacement of a lot of

         24  individuals.

         25                 Let me move on specifically to the
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          2  enforcement of Local Law 129 and the downtown

          3  Brooklyn redevelopment project.

          4                 It is my position that we really

          5  should have at least some staff persons who are

          6  designated specifically to the enforcement of Local

          7  Law 129, which is the WMBE requirement with regards

          8  to downtown Brooklyn.

          9                 We have a Downtown Brooklyn Council,

         10  as most of you know, which is chaired by Mr. Joe

         11  Chan. He's doing a wonderful job, but there is no

         12  one in his shop, which is focusing on the

         13  enforcement of 129. And I believe that someone

         14  should be appointed, and I would hope that you would

         15  support this position, someone should be appointed

         16  specifically with the charge to focus on the

         17  enforcement of 129, on all of these projects, and at

         18  last count it's 25 projects.

         19                 MS. ASCHER: Noted. We'll discuss that

         20  with Joe.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: And I think, I just want

         23  to add to that that our MWBE director is fully

         24  engaged on any projects from the onset, and not when

         25  it's too late to work with the project managers,
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          2  work with developers and they're responding to RFPs,

          3  making sure they understand what a utilization plan

          4  is, how do they plan on doing it, make sure we can

          5  assist as best we can.

          6                 So, we are committed and we'll do the

          7  best we can on our end.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes. And I

          9  appreciate that. It's just that we have a lot of

         10  projects that you outlined all throughout the City,

         11  five-borough program, but because of the

         12  concentration of development in downtown Brooklyn, I

         13  believe that someone should be focused solely,

         14  should have the charge of being responsible for the

         15  enforcement of 129, oversight of 129 downtown

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 There is an oversight committee which

         18  is under the direction of the Borough President, and

         19  they play a role, but I specifically want someone in

         20  your shop focused on downtown Brooklyn so they could

         21  respond to the elected officials and meet with us

         22  accordingly so we could look at the numbers and

         23  determine and involve businesses, local minority

         24  businesses and local businesses within our

         25  respective districts to compete on some of these
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          2  contracts. It's absolutely critical.

          3                 Moving on to Alby Square Mall

          4  (phonetic), I'm happy to hear that there was a

          5  person of color who was a part of the deal. I

          6  understand that there were three entities involved,

          7  one individual, again, was a person of color whose

          8  name escaped me, but my concern is that businesses

          9  from Alby Square Mall are calling me now because of

         10  the eviction plan.

         11                 I recognize that a number of the

         12  businesses do not have leases, and so the question

         13  is, has that deal been -- is the ink dry on that

         14  deal? And how are we handling local businesses and

         15  will they have the right of first refusal?

         16                 MR. LIEBER: I'll start, and Brian is

         17  here, we can I think go back to him as well. I think

         18  we're still working through the process in that

         19  deal. I think the next step is for MOC, and we are

         20  sensitive to the needs of the local retailers in

         21  that space and have voiced those concerns with the

         22  developers.

         23                 Victor McFarland --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Mr. McFarland,

         25  right.
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          2                 MR. LIEBER: I've known him for many

          3  years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

          5                 MR. LIEBER: First class guy and will

          6  do what he says he can do.

          7                 I think the right of first refusal, I

          8  think we could potentially give that, but the

          9  question is going to be can they afford to do it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Sure, I

         11  understand.

         12                 MR. LIEBER: So, it's trying to find

         13  appropriate relocation alternatives and other

         14  choices that we do to help support those businesses.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I understand.

         16                 Again, the notion is that, and

         17  there's all of these conspiracy theories in

         18  Brooklyn, and downtown Brooklyn, central Brooklyn,

         19  throughout Brooklyn that downtown Brooklyn is again

         20  becoming a designation for the rich and well-to-do

         21  and people from Manhattan are being displaced, which

         22  is causing a ripple effect on indigenous

         23  communities, which are further being displaced to

         24  central Brooklyn and further beyond.

         25                 I mean, it's a concern because it has
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          2  a concern of the demographics, it has a concern

          3  socially and politically, and I'm very sensitive to

          4  that, as well as I'm certain you are and my

          5  colleagues.

          6                 MetroTech, Duffield Place, Lawrence

          7  Street, Willowby, underground railroad, some peer

          8  reviewers have been contacting me. They believe that

          9  there is some evidence they dissented in their

         10  votes. They provided me with their reports. I know

         11  the hearing is on March 20th. Again, I would hope

         12  that we could sit down and speak to the owners of

         13  those residents who truly believe that there is some

         14  tie to the underground railroad. There is no

         15  physical evidence in the underground railroad,

         16  that's why it was underground. But again, some peer

         17  reviewers did dissent and believe that there is some

         18  strong evidence that these homes were part of the

         19  underground railroad, and I would urge that we would

         20  look into the possibility of preserving some of

         21  those homes, or creating a museum, to which could

         22  tell the story of downtown Brooklyn.

         23                 Any thoughts? You'll wait til March

         24  20th?

         25                 MS. ASCHER: Well, we'll talk on the
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          2  20th about the details of the report, and certainly

          3  there is extensive evidence of not necessarily on

          4  the site but within the area lots of underground

          5  railroad history and activity in downtown Brooklyn

          6  in general, and we look forward to working with the

          7  Council to identify the appropriate mechanism for

          8  recognizing that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And it doesn't

         10  make much of a leap to think that the underground

         11  railroad, they traveled in that immediate

         12  environment, in that immediate community. And, so,

         13  the Plymouth Church which is there, and the other

         14  church, which again had strong ties to the

         15  underground railroad, it's been documented, it

         16  doesn't take much to think that they traveled two

         17  blocks to Duffield Place to be part of the

         18  underground railroad.

         19                 So, again, I believe that there is

         20  strong evidence to that.

         21                 Moving on to Myrtle Avenue and John

         22  Casamatitis (phonetic) who is the developer. I

         23  haven't heard much from Mr. Casamatitis. He closed

         24  down the supermarket. He closed down the laundromat.

         25  He has not responded to the needs of the residents
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          2  of public housing now who do not have any retail.

          3  It's a long abandoned strip on Myrtle Avenue,

          4  Ashland to Flatbush - nothing. Most of those

          5  residents, as you know, are seniors, most of the

          6  residents, as you know, female-headed household, 70

          7  percent unemployment. The unemployment figures that

          8  you mentioned earlier are people who are looking,

          9  who are looking, who are actively looking for

         10  unemployment. These individuals have dropped out and

         11  basically are not looking for unemployment because

         12  they just dropped out and therefore they're not

         13  reflected in the federal unemployment stats.

         14                 I did a study with Pratt, Pickett and

         15  Pratt Institute for Community and Economic

         16  Development, 70 percent unemployment in Ingersoll,

         17  Whitman, Farragut public housing.

         18                 I'm glad the Navy Yard, we're doing a

         19  supermarket to address some of their concerns. I

         20  spoke to Mr. Casamatitis who told me he came from

         21  humble beginnings and he recognizes the need for a

         22  supermarket and a laundry and all of the services

         23  that they require. There is a deafening silence.

         24  What is going on in Myrtle Avenue, and is he

         25  committed to doing affordable housing, and is he
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          2  committed to providing retail for residents of

          3  Ingersoll, Whitman and Farragut as opposed to the

          4  new-comers who again represent the very, very

          5  wealthy?

          6                 MS. ASCHER: I can't speak on behalf

          7  of the developer, but we will talk to the developer

          8  and determine what his retail plans are.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         10                 BAM LDC. I support BAM LDC, but, you

         11  know, my position, and I just recently told a

         12  newspaper with respect to BAM LDC, the organizations

         13  thus far that have received awards within BAM LDC

         14  include organizations from Manhattan, Dance Space,

         15  the Theater for a New Audience, Mark Morris,

         16  Irondale - all wonderful organizations, I am

         17  certain, but they are not indigenous organizations

         18  that have remained in downtown Brooklyn, Fort

         19  Greene, and Clinton Hill throughout the years, and

         20  they include Macada Creative Dance Outlet, Urban

         21  Bush Women, Evidence, Erroll Grimes, the Jackie

         22  Robinson Band, Paul Robeson, and Ronald Brown's

         23  Dance Company - none of them, none of them are

         24  included in BAM LDC.

         25                 I've organized all of them, we are
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          2  submitting a proposal, recognize that BAM LDC has

          3  not planned for the east site and/or the west site.

          4  I know you issued an RFP for the north site. I would

          5  urge you to consider permanent space for these

          6  cultural organizations who represent the indigenous

          7  community and who reflect the population and

          8  diversity of the City of New York and who want to

          9  remain in Fort Green and Clinton Hill, who

         10  increasingly cannot find commercial space to stay

         11  because of the real estate market. And I would hope

         12  that you would be receptive to that proposal. It

         13  will come from a notable developer that you

         14  recognize, who will not be submitting an RFP but who

         15  recognizes the need and the concern and who has

         16  offered pro bono service in this development.

         17                 I apologize, Mr. Chair, but I've got

         18  a lot going on in my district. It's very hot.

         19                 Fulton Street. There's been a

         20  watermain -- there's doing a watermain replacement,

         21  100-year-old watermain has to be replaced. It's

         22  absolutely needed. We continue to get flooded. But

         23  as a result of that infrastructure work, from

         24  Vanderbilt Avenue to Grand, businesses are going

         25  bankrupt because the buses have been rerouted, and

                                                            83

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  because of all the construction on Fulton Street,

          3  there is no traffic. These are small businesses.

          4  Your office, SBS, has worked with Pratt Area

          5  Community Council, we've offered them loans.

          6  Unfortunately they're not even in a position to pay

          7  back these loans.

          8                 I'm looking to talk to you about some

          9  sort of Fulton Street Initiative to address their

         10  needs. At last count it was 12 businesses that may

         11  go under because of the work on Fulton Street, and

         12  because of the absence of traffic.

         13                 My last point is the business center.

         14  Again, working with SBS, with Commissioner Walsh, we

         15  were very instrumental in Targets and those retail

         16  businesses in downtown Brooklyn and Fort Green,

         17  hiring local people. Because of all of this

         18  development in downtown Brooklyn, there has been a

         19  disconnect to hiring local people.

         20                 We really need to do a better job

         21  with tying jobs to local residents.

         22                 And, so, we have all of this retail

         23  and commercial space available, we have a wonderful

         24  community center, which is about to open in

         25  Ingersoll Public Housing. I would really, really,
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          2  really, I've said it over and over again, some sort

          3  of initiative to tie individuals in the local

          4  community to all of the jobs that are happening in

          5  their back yard, right in their back yard. They have

          6  been left out.

          7                 I thank you, Mr. Chair, for giving me

          8  some discretion and I urge EDC to follow up with me

          9  on a number of these initiatives and others.

         10                 And lastly, I went to the Mayor's

         11  Town Hall meeting last night with respect to

         12  sustainability, and I like the notion of reducing

         13  emissions by ten percent, 20 percent I believe,

         14  because we do have a high rate of asthma in downtown

         15  Brooklyn because of all of the traffic, and one of

         16  the discussions that I threw out was the Mayor

         17  considering congestion pricing, and my understanding

         18  is that he's considering congestion pricing in

         19  downtown Brooklyn. Do you know anything about that?

         20  No.

         21                 MR. LIEBER: I'd ask him.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, I hope that
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          2  all of those concerns from my colleague, since she

          3  is in a very difficult position in terms of moving

          4  forward with economic development, the impact on

          5  that community, as well as the progress of that

          6  community, and I see the need for progress, but I

          7  also see the need for consideration of those people

          8  who represent that community and all historical

          9  landmarks and things, cultural institutions, small

         10  though they may be, not as big as the Metropolitan

         11  Museum of Art, but who holds the same richness in

         12  terms of content, as any other big cultural

         13  institutions.

         14                 I think that one of the things, and

         15  I'd have to bring this up and maybe you could

         16  discuss this with Mr. Wilpar (phonetic), one of the

         17  things that I've noticed with developers and people

         18  who want to do things and move forward, is there

         19  tends to be a tendency that there is a perception

         20  that developers feel pressure that they've got to

         21  give somebody something. Nobody has to give anybody

         22  anything, but as part of business there is an

         23  intangible value in goodwill to a community that

         24  you're moving into, and you need to find those areas

         25  of goodwill and do suggestions, as the Councilwoman
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          2  has made, where developers can go into

          3  not-for-profits, help relocate, or whatever the case

          4  may be, so that we can coexist and move forward

          5  together without, you know, a we and they kind of

          6  situation.

          7                 I offer that as an alternative, in

          8  terms of when you sit down and negotiate, that you

          9  speak with the developers about goodwill, community

         10  investment that they're going to move into, and some

         11  of it does not reap a monetary return, but it is

         12  very favorable in terms of the kind of developments

         13  that come in and help people manage to affix

         14  themselves to that new growth and progress because

         15  they see themselves as part of it.

         16                 I'd now like to call on my colleague

         17  Council Member Reyna.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 I just wanted to welcome Mr. Lieber.

         21                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Welcome, Mr.

         23  Lieber, to EDC.

         24                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I wanted to
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          2  take this opportunity to just highlight the 18

          3  different projects, I counted 18 in your visual

          4  powerpoint that we have in front of us. How many of

          5  these projects were issued IDA bonds, or will be

          6  issued?

          7                 MR. LIEBER: I don't know.

          8                 Kate, do you know?

          9                 Kay Hiashi (phonetic) runs the IDA

         10  business.

         11                 MS. HIASHI: Hi. I'm Kay Hiashi.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Hi.

         13                 MS. HIASHI: Hi. I don't believe any

         14  of the larger projects were highlighted have

         15  specific IDA bonds associated with them. However,

         16  there may be smaller projects within those larger

         17  projects mentioned that will have an IDA component.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

         19  which projects have those IDA components, would you

         20  be able to provide this committee with those

         21  specifics?

         22                 MS. HIASHI: Absolutely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: You know, time

         24  and time again we continue to mention the

         25  employment, and Council Member James has just
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          2  mentioned how disconnected, there are certain

          3  communities where New Yorkers stop trying to look

          4  for jobs and they're not counted. So, you know,

          5  there are pockets of those types of communities. My

          6  community is one of those as well. And with the

          7  recent announcement of Pfizer closing, it's a

          8  detriment to our community to see that happen.

          9  What's interesting enough is that that facility is

         10  built with IDA bonds, and now they're closing the

         11  plant.

         12                 So, what replaces at the end of the

         13  day is always a question I have, and what type of

         14  employment does New Yorkers in our district have to

         15  look forward to when the City has already invested.

         16                 Previous to that, in the eighties the

         17  Mademoiselle factory was another institution that

         18  was built in my district with IDA bonds, went

         19  bankrupt, and zero jobs. Recently OEM moved in

         20  there, acquiring 100,000 square feet where perhaps

         21  three jobs were created. Essentially it's being used

         22  as a warehouse.

         23                 So, time and time again I have all

         24  these projects that have been built, you know, in my

         25  lifetime, that I have no ideas as to how they
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          2  contributed in this current decade to the people of

          3  our district. And the pressures of the market

          4  displacing families, increasing rents, we need to

          5  secure employment where we can go back to the walk

          6  to work days.

          7                 And that is not existing and it's

          8  seldom being replaced. So that I get jealous with

          9  the whole presentation. I see one project after

         10  another. Millions and millions of dollars being

         11  issued. And then the most recent announcement is the

         12  disposition of the Moore Street Market. That was the

         13  final blow.

         14                 This is EDC property. I understand

         15  that it's not a property that perhaps is more of a

         16  loss to the City than a benefit, but at the end of

         17  the day I would hate to see a disposition of that

         18  land to go to other uses than to create employment.

         19                 There are small business owners that

         20  essentially use the hub of the market to be able to

         21  deal with the survival of operating their

         22  businesses, and EDC is trying to worth with each one

         23  of those small business owners.

         24                 At a later date, sooner than later,

         25  I'd like to have a discussion with you on this piece
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          2  of property, and I'd like to, even though perhaps

          3  it's no the magnitude of what you're dealing with in

          4  this presentation, it's yet of greater importance in

          5  our district, because these are the last viable

          6  pieces of property to be able to create the

          7  employment aspect that I'm referring to.

          8                 The MWBE portion that you were

          9  raising, as far as a full-time officer, Ms. Kim is

         10  the person that you had referred to, is Ms. Kim

         11  going to be -- what is the staff that Ms. Kim has in

         12  order to monitor the MWBE certification process --

         13  not certification -- complying process of the law?

         14                 MR. WRIGHT: Just so you know, we keep

         15  saying her name and she's here.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

         17                 MR. WRIGHT: So Bomi, why don't you

         18  stand up.

         19                 This is Bomi Kim, our MWBE Director.

         20  Bomi is within our Contracts and Procurement

         21  Department, and she obviously stands independently,

         22  but she has the full resources of EDC when needed,

         23  where needed, working very closely with SBS on can

         24  we be integral in helping the City, or let's SBS's

         25  training program, they've obviously looked at what
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          2  SCA has done, what can we do that's similar that at

          3  least is working? And we strongly are supportive of

          4  the fact that when it gets to be too much and

          5  there's more to be reached for Bomi, we'll increase

          6  the staff as needed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, as far as,

          8  Ms. Kim, you being the Director of that particular

          9  office or Department, you're alone right now, or is

         10  there staff?

         11                 MS. KIM: Currently I'm managing the

         12  program on my own.

         13                 As you noted, this program is

         14  relatively new. We have only been in, I guess play,

         15  since July of 2006. So there have been some amount

         16  of ramp up time that has taken up our time in making

         17  sure that we have infrastructure in place to set

         18  goals on our projects and also to follow-up on

         19  compliance.

         20                 And as we move forward on the

         21  program, we will definitely be looking to increase

         22  the staff, that like Jason had mentioned, I'm part

         23  of a Contracts Department, and we're very integral

         24  and we work together, so there would be ample

         25  manpower so-to-speak to make sure that all of our
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          2  projects that are targeted that have goals will meet

          3  their compliance requirements.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And how

          5  realistic is it that one person is able to meet the

          6  requirements with so many projects under EDC's

          7  umbrella?

          8                 MS. KIM: We are asking our prime

          9  contractors, as well as our Project Managers, to

         10  make sure that all our prime contractors are

         11  submitting the required reporting and based on that

         12  we will make whatever adjustments we need to make,

         13  as well as making site visits to make sure that

         14  those requirements are being met.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: This is not a

         16  rhetorical question, Ms. Kim. Are you familiar with

         17  Mr. Carl Hum?s.

         18                 MS. KIM: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And you're

         20  working intimately with Carl Hum on matching what

         21  would be suppliers under his portfolio who would be

         22  qualified MWBE certified members in industrial parks

         23  or manufacturing areas?

         24                 MS. KIM: Currently, as our program is

         25  written, we're not looking at the supplier level,
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          2  but we are very familiar with what Mr. Hum is doing

          3  and we'll make sure that we're making those

          4  connections.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Moving forward,

          6  what exactly is your role then? If you're not

          7  supplying information to your prime contractors of

          8  opportunities where they can seek businesses

          9  throughout the City of New York to be able to

         10  receive opportunities to contract, then --

         11                 MS. KIM: My role as MWBE Director for

         12  EDC is regarding the projects that EDC currently has

         13  control over, that those projects that we will be

         14  letting out where there is construction or

         15  professional services.

         16                 To that end, I work with SBS to make

         17  sure that all the certified firms are aware of the

         18  projects that EDC has available to them, and in

         19  making sure that our prime contractors are aware

         20  that these are requirements that they need to meet,

         21  and that we have, we're trying to make that match

         22  that way.

         23                 As far as the suppliers and the

         24  manufacturing, it's really not something that EDC

         25  has been involved in, and it's not currently in our
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          2  projects.

          3                 MR. WRIGHT: And also keep in mind, we

          4  do work with Carl and he works with our Real Estate

          5  Development Team, our Strategic Planning Team. We

          6  are doing the best we can to help him and assist

          7  him, and I'm not really sure it's fair to make the

          8  assumption that we only have one person that means

          9  we're not getting enough done. I truly believe it is

         10  a collaborative effort.  To go out there with a new

         11  program and say well let's hire five people right

         12  away when they don't have anything specific to be

         13  doing, I think would be negligent on our part, but

         14  we do support Bomi in all her efforts.

         15                 Also, and Bomi may want to speak to

         16  this, is Bomi is also trying to reach out to you for

         17  some of these meet and greets and help people with

         18  training and it's got to be a partnership with the

         19  elected officials as well. We've done that but we

         20  need to see more of it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm not trying

         22  to make assumptions of anything, that's why I'm

         23  being very specific.

         24                 The amount of money right now in your

         25  capital budget that has been contracted, let's say
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          2  in the last quarter, what is it?

          3                 MR. WRIGHT: Not sure what the quarter

          4  is but probably --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Do you deal

          6  with the quarters?

          7                 MR. WRIGHT: Of course we do.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

          9                 MR. WRIGHT: Let's say it's 50

         10  million.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And so of the

         12  50 million --

         13                 MR. WRIGHT: Don't forget, it's

         14  cyclical and you're going to ask me, of course, of

         15  the 50 million what percentage went to MWBE.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Since the

         17  office has been, had started in July of 2006?

         18                 MR. WRIGHT: Sure.

         19                 MS. KIM: We have let out many

         20  projects with, you know, with MWBE goals, and we

         21  have set 20 percent goals for construction and 22

         22  percent for professional services. So, of all of

         23  those projects they have not started work yet but

         24  they have been let out and we have required all of

         25  our prime contractors who are bidders to submit end
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          2  of the utilization plans that meet those goals, and

          3  we have received utilization plans that either equal

          4  or exceed those plans?

          5                 MR. WRIGHT: Also, if I could just

          6  add, the type of work that we do, and unfortunately

          7  because of the size of the projects we do, we very

          8  often hire construction management firms, and where

          9  we're actually going to see the difference is when

         10  that CM is out there hiring the subcontractors. You

         11  know, the City needs to start somewhere. SBS needs

         12  to really get their hands around this, make sure

         13  they were recording it correctly and started with

         14  let's look at the percentage of contracts of the

         15  million and lower, because that's typically from the

         16  study where the MWBE community is, where we can

         17  reach them, where we can train them. And hopefully

         18  we'll see some more of the CM.

         19                 So, we're confident with that goal

         20  that we've set, but that's the reason why you

         21  wouldn't see let's say 40 percent participation,

         22  because the prime contractor goal would be very low

         23  for us because of the size of the projects that we

         24  let out.

         25                 MS. KIM: Just to add to that, I mean
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          2  all of our CMs are aware of our goals, and they have

          3  been required and instructed to make sure that they

          4  are going out to MWBEs as well as to potential

          5  subcontractors.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: As far as your

          7  CMs are concerned, I'll break it down even further,

          8  how many CMs are MWBEs?

          9                 MS. KIM: Currently, all of our  CMs

         10  are, you know, Turner, Bovis, so obviously those are

         11  not MWBE firms. But we do have some, you know, sort

         12  of smaller CMs coming out as prime contractors who

         13  are architects and engineers who work as primes for

         14  us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, of your CMs

         16  --

         17                 MR. WRIGHT: Of the CMs in the City,

         18  I'm not sure there's many. We'd love to see more,

         19  but that's the reality, and that's why this program

         20  is important and the training is important.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay. So,

         22  you've highlighted an industry there that I hope

         23  that we can work together on making some

         24  improvements on. And I don't know what role you

         25  possibly have, I don't know if an apprenticeship
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          2  program exists within your agency, but perhaps that

          3  would be something that we can work on creating,

          4  considering you're one of the agencies that has the

          5  ability.

          6                 Yes, Ms. Kim.

          7                 MS. KIM: And we have made internal

          8  discussions within EDC, as well as speaking with SBS

          9  about, you know, having a program like that. So, we

         10  will continue to come back and talk to you and

         11  hopefully move forward on that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: The Mayor's

         13  Commission on construction opportunities, one of the

         14  goals was to create mentorship programs; how is the

         15  CM portion, or the lack of MWBE CMs in relation to

         16  the commission being addressed to deal with the

         17  mentorship? Is there a budget that you'll be seeing

         18  in relation to what the Commission has already

         19  established.

         20                 MR. WRIGHT: Yes, is there a budget in

         21  terms of establishing a mentorship program?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Having already

         23  identified, you know, this one particular area or

         24  industry?

         25                 MR. WRIGHT: You mean mentorship for
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          2  MWBEs, we both can then become construction

          3  managers?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Mm-hmm.

          5                 MR. WRIGHT: Not to that level. But

          6  we're certainly committed to the mentorship program.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But nothing

          8  restricts you from expanding?

          9                 MR. WRIGHT: Absolutely. Nothing

         10  restricts us from expanding, from targeting the

         11  right industry, or let's even look at marine work,

         12  there's probably not any MWBEs doing marine work,

         13  and that's a shame because there is an enormous

         14  amount of marine work.

         15                 So, we are absolutely interested to

         16  try to target the right group, and to make sure that

         17  they're getting their mentorship. And we are working

         18  with SBS, looking at best practices and trying to

         19  get that off the ground.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And, so, you

         21  know, just from at least this discussion that we're

         22  able to just set forth what we're going to continue

         23  exploring, is there a commitment to -- for Ms. Kim

         24  to go back in the funding level of mentorship, as

         25  the Commission has already established, to be able
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          2  to add on or expand the opportunity for CM or you

          3  had mentioned maritime or?

          4                 MS. KIM: I think EDC is very

          5  committed. I mean, we're very committed to having a

          6  mentor program within the corporation, and that

          7  means we will look at ways to fund it and how the

          8  mentoring program would be instituted and how it

          9  would be implemented.

         10                 So, we're still in those exploratory

         11  stages, and we're definitely forward to, you know,

         12  continuing that conversation. And I've been working

         13  with SBS on this, so I just want to say that we are

         14  sort of in an exploratory stage, but we are

         15  definitely committed to making that happen.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you very

         17  much, Ms. Kim.

         18                 MR. WRIGHT: But we would also

         19  encourage you if you'd like to help support that and

         20  help fund it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So smart. He

         22  came over to you to tell you that.

         23                 MR. WRIGHT: No, he didn't. That's not

         24  what he said. He just came over to remind me that

         25  there is only six or seven CMs that are MWBE in the
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          2  City.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Just come to

          4  the mic and identify yourself.

          5                 MR. SHOBOWALE: Tokumbo Shobowale with

          6  EDC. Of the size of work that these contracts,

          7  hundreds of billions of dollars firms, there are

          8  only six or seven of that size in the City. In the

          9  country there's, you know, maybe one or two MWBE

         10  owned. They don't exist. It's not that we don't work

         11  with them or we wouldn't work with them, we would

         12  love to work with them, they just don't exist. This

         13  is a macro problem on a nationwide level, very hard

         14  for us to address as an agency, we're trying to get

         15  work done expediently.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Of the five or

         17  six that do exist in the City of New York, those are

         18  the five or six that you work with already?

         19                 MR. SHOBOWALE: Right. This is a

         20  problem generally, as Bob mentioned earlier

         21  construction costs are a problem for everything that

         22  we do, and this is an issue that's just hard to

         23  attract construction management companies,

         24  construction firms at all to come to the City to do

         25  work.
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          2                 And we have a shortage. There is

          3  essentially so much work, and in many cases people

          4  don't want to work in the City at all. It's a

          5  problem just getting firms at all to enter the

          6  market to do the work to lower the cost of

          7  construction broadly speaking.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But those that

          9  are involved, you said that there are five or six

         10  MWBEs?

         11                 MS. KIM: No, no. Five or six

         12  construction managers.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: There's only

         14  five or six generally.

         15                 MR. SHOBOWALE: Period.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And of the five

         17  or six, none of them are --

         18                 MS. KIM: MWBEs.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: -- MWBEs.

         20                 MS. KIM: Not in the City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Got you. Thank

         22  you for that clarification.

         23                 As far as these 18 projects that you

         24  laid out, President Lieber, I wanted to just ask,

         25  does every project have EDC land, or the property
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          2  where each project has been identified to develop,

          3  is it EDC, City-owned under the auspices of EDC?

          4                 MR. LIEBER: Not exclusively, no.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Not

          6  exclusively. But a combination of.

          7                 MR. LIEBER: There are some situations

          8  where we own the land, there's some situations where

          9  we're going to be acquiring the land.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         11                 And is your budget for acquisition of

         12  land -- what's the total budget, as far as the '07

         13  and moving forward to '08 in acquisition costs?

         14                 MR. WRIGHT: We'd have to tally that

         15  for you. We don't have that right off, but we can

         16  get that to you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm very

         18  interested in finding out because acquisition fund,

         19  you know, HPD doesn't have acquisition fund, or, you

         20  know, they're diminishing their acquisition fund.

         21                 But your agency is more of a liable

         22  agency to need more acquisition fund, because your

         23  scope of work is different. And, so, I wanted to

         24  find out what the budget is for '07 and '08 and if

         25  you can provide it for this Committee, I would
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          2  appreciate it.

          3                 MR. LIEBER: We'll get that

          4  information for you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And for the

          6  executive budget, if you can come with actual

          7  dollars with that specific item, that would be

          8  helpful.

          9                 MR. LIEBER: Okay.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 Thank you, President Lieber.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

         14  much. You all have been very patient up to now, and

         15  we only have two more Council members.

         16                 Council Member Gerson and Council

         17  Member Vann. And in the interest of time, I will ask

         18  you to give me some consideration of the fact that

         19  we also have the Small Business Commissioner here.

         20                 Mr. Gerson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair, and I'll thank Commissioner Walsh in advance

         23  for his patience.

         24                 President Lieber, good afternoon. And

         25  it's great to be able to have this opportunity to
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          2  meet with you and dialogue with you. I can't tell

          3  you how delighted I was to learn that I'm not the

          4  only one in this business whose handwriting requires

          5  translations.

          6                 Lower Manhattan and the Ground Zero

          7  site, what are your current activity, both forecast,

          8  I'll try and combine the issues in the interest of

          9  time, but EDC's forecast role in activities in terms

         10  of the occupancy of the office space that is

         11  currently under construction; what do you project?

         12  And with the Freedom Towers' foundation now being

         13  laid, is the Administration optimistic or less than

         14  optimistic without being able to achieve occupancy

         15  goals?

         16                 MR. LIEBER: I'm going to take a quick

         17  swipe at this and I will defer on this one to Seth

         18  Penski, who I actually met working on this project

         19  almost two years ago. That's how I got into this.

         20                 I think, I'm not sure I fully

         21  understand your question --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let me cut to

         23  the chase. You know, are we building the right

         24  amount or the right type of space in your best

         25  projections in terms of future office demand and our
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          2  ability to fill what is, you know, now really under

          3  construction?

          4                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, that's

          6  good.

          7                 MR. LIEBER: I can expand.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Please.

          9                 MR. LIEBER: I think, yes, we're very

         10  optimistic. I think particularly we can go back and

         11  look a couple of years past, when the forecasts

         12  perhaps weren't as clear, or perhaps quite as rosy,

         13  but I think that given the expansion of some of the

         14  things I put up earlier on in the growth in the

         15  market and the need for additional space we see

         16  tremendous interest and demand for space at the

         17  Ground Zero site for Freedom Tower for two, three,

         18  four and potentially with five as well.

         19                 I think it concedes that which we

         20  considered a year and a half ago, Seth? When we

         21  thought about this, and the market expansion has

         22  been dramatic, has been extraordinarily favorable

         23  and we think that the scuttlebut and the rumor mill

         24  is full of tenants looking for more and more space,

         25  and, frankly, more capital coming in for ownership
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          2  positions in Lower Manhattan office space.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And what is

          4  EDC's role in conjunction with the Port Authority in

          5  achieving these forecasts and goals, and marketing

          6  this office space? What role do you play?

          7                 MR. LIEBER: We continue to play an

          8  active role in the marketing of the Lower Manhattan.

          9  As a part of our different desk for client services,

         10  we have people who are focused specifically on real

         11  estate and focused a lot with downtown. In fact, one

         12  of our colleagues is going to be noted and honored

         13  by the downtown alliance for her and EDC's efforts

         14  in terms of attracting occupiers to space in Lower

         15  Manhattan.

         16                 We, I believe, have some option right

         17  on space down the road in some of these buildings,

         18  but I think that also that option is at the

         19  developer's option, in terms of they have a base

         20  level of occupancy that we've committed to, and if

         21  they can find other tenants to use it, they have the

         22  choice to do that.

         23                 Am I right about that?

         24                 MR. WRIGHT: Yes. And also --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You need to

                                                            108

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  use the mic because we're making a record of it.

          3                 MR. WRIGHT: Sure. We also, through

          4  the IDA, will be issuing a portion of the liberty

          5  bonds for --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You preempted

          7  my next question. You presaged my next question.

          8                 What are your IDA plans for the

          9  ground zero site and timetable?

         10                 MR. WRIGHT: I apologize, I don't have

         11  the exact numbers off the top of my head. But we

         12  have already induced the liberty bonds for the site

         13  for both the Freedom Tower and the Silverstein

         14  buildings, and as they're needed, as the developers

         15  come back to us we'll plan on issuing those and

         16  authorizing those.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You have

         18  received, the City has received all of the

         19  extensions it requires for the --

         20                 MR. WRIGHT: Yes, the current program

         21  lasts through 2009, and--

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And you

         23  project that will be sufficient?

         24                 MR. WRIGHT: We believe so, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, since
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          2  we're doing, we're in the interest of time doing

          3  well on the office space, let me turn to another

          4  side of the grandeur side of the performing arts

          5  center. Does EDC play a role in the planning and the

          6  development of the performing arts center, proposed?

          7                 MR. WRIGHT: We at EDC haven't had

          8  that much of involvement in the performing arts

          9  center. I know that the Administration continues to

         10  be supportive of performing arts on the World Trade

         11  Center site, and we believe that that will occur.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, who

         13  within the City is spearheading that project?

         14  According to the Port Authority, the ball is now in

         15  the quote/unquote City's courts. I would have

         16  assumed it would be EDC, but if not, who is it, or

         17  what is it?

         18                 MR. WRIGHT: It has been handled

         19  mostly out of Deputy Mayor Doctoroff's Office.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Directly. So,

         21  you don't have any update on the timetable or plan?

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: No. As I said, I know

         23  that the Administration remains supportive and

         24  optimistic that there will be performing arts on the

         25  site of the World Trade Center.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes. Well,

          3  we'll certainly be following up with the Deputy

          4  Mayor, because we're at the point where if we don't

          5  complete a design for that structure, we are not

          6  only jeopardizing the structure, but we're

          7  threatening the timetable for the related

          8  underground infrastructure which obviously

          9  interrelates.

         10                 And certainly I need to reiterate the

         11  hope of the local community, I believe the City at

         12  large, as well as the cultural community, that as

         13  part of the rebirth we have a very strong cultural

         14  component and strong in its programming component

         15  which requires a vital physical structure, and the

         16  sooner we make that commitment and detail clear, I

         17  think the more likely it is, the more assured we can

         18  be that it will happen.

         19                 MR. WRIGHT: And the Administration

         20  strongly concurs with that and we're aware of the

         21  time issues.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Terrific.

         23                 Governor's Island, could you just

         24  review for us the proposed capital and expense

         25  allocations for Governors Island for FY '08, and
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          2  what they will cover? And again, I've combined

          3  questions and points. To what extent do your

          4  proposals presume a state match, which has been the

          5  case in the past but which may or may not be the

          6  case presently, and what are our plans, if any, in

          7  the event that the State does not match

          8  dollar-for-dollar the City's proposal?

          9                 MR. LIEBER: I'll start and turn to

         10  Jason to follow-up.

         11                 I think with Governors Island, this

         12  is one of the items I identified earlier that's kind

         13  of one of the restricted funds, direct match, part

         14  of our capital budget. There's a $120 million

         15  forecast in capital improvements that flows through

         16  us to the Governors Island Initiative.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Through you

         18  from the general budget, though?

         19                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: General

         21  capital?

         22                 MR. LIEBER: Yes, it's independent of

         23  our oversight responsibility at EDC. It just flows

         24  through EDC, it gets funded to GIPEC.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, who does
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          2  then have oversight from within the City, or is it

          3  just a handoff to GIPEC without any additional City

          4  oversight?

          5                 MR. WRIGHT: As in any funding

          6  agreement that we enter into, it absolutely has to

          7  be for capital improvements. We wouldn't just hand

          8  them a lump sum and not understand what they're

          9  doing at all.

         10                 And just so you understand, you know

         11  GIPEC obviously is a quasi-city-state entity, even

         12  though it's a subset of ESDC, GIPEC works very

         13  closely with City Hall on a reporting structure,

         14  let's say.

         15                 They're responsible to the City, as

         16  well as the State, and we try to be let's say the

         17  watchdogs on the funds that do flow through EDC to

         18  GIPEC.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, EDC does

         20  have a watchdog role then?

         21                 MR. WRIGHT: We do. We're not

         22  represented on the board, so you're clear on that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right.

         24                 MR. WRIGHT: The City capital and the

         25  maintenance operation funds do flow from EDC to
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          2  GIPEC.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, 120

          4  million in capital proposed and expense.

          5                 MR. WRIGHT: And is it 5 million this

          6  year? It's 7 million this year, I'm sorry, for '08.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And the State

          8  match?

          9                 MR. LIEBER: Fifty/fifty State match.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And have we

         11  received that commitment from the State, 408?

         12                 MR. WRIGHT: From what we understand

         13  right now, I think they have 20 million in their

         14  capital budget for '08. But just be rest assured

         15  that what we put in, is a match. And the City

         16  obviously is supportive of making sure that we share

         17  that obligation with the State.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So when you

         19  say rest assured that what we put in is a match,

         20  does that mean that what we put in will go down if

         21  the State's contribution does not go up?

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, well,

         24  that's important to note as we converse with our

         25  good friends in the State -- I understand you, GIPEC
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          2  and as a City, State and authority has charged the

          3  development of Governors Island, but is EDC playing

          4  a role in envisioning and proposing how Governors

          5  Island can contribute to the economy of the City at

          6  large? And do you have any folks working on that,

          7  and do you have any kind of vision you want to share

          8  with us to that end?

          9                 MR. LIEBER: I would say we don't have

         10  anything that is specific about the broader vision,

         11  about the plan for Governors Island and we're

         12  working with Governors Island on some of the

         13  transportation aspects that relate to the Battery

         14  Maritime Building there, so there's work that's

         15  being done there, but, no, that's not one of our

         16  priority initiatives at EDC.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: All right.

         18  Well, let me suggest a vision or an area in which

         19  maybe we could benefit from EDC's collaboration, and

         20  that is a lot of folks who are interested in this

         21  are exploring developing the idea of creating an

         22  academic infrastructure based on the Island for high

         23  level science and technology, study, research,

         24  perhaps some incubation, filling in outside of the

         25  biosciences, which we know is targeted to another
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          2  part of the City, but filling in gaps in our City's

          3  science and technology infrastructure, and that's

          4  something we'll be knocking on your doors to talk

          5  about very soon, but I think we could probably

          6  benefit from your experience in the science and

          7  technology fields and evaluating Governors Island

          8  for that purpose. There were a lot of folks in the

          9  world of academia, world of the sciences, who are

         10  very interested in that in a way that could benefit

         11  all of the communities of the City.

         12                 MR. LIEBER: We welcome all that

         13  input.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Can I just ask

         15  you two particulars on two products, one you

         16  mentioned, one you didn't.

         17                 I'm sure you're aware that after, you

         18  know, the site, the former World Trade Center site,

         19  the next largest area of City-owned land or

         20  government-owned land, in this case City-owned land,

         21  in Lower Manhattan is on the Lower East Side and

         22  what is known as the sewer park Urban Development

         23  site, which has been sitting under-utilized for

         24  something like 30 years.

         25                 Is there anyone within EDC currently
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          2  working on economic development proposals for that

          3  site, as we speak?

          4                 MR. WRIGHT: I don't believe at this

          5  time, but probably love to hear some of your

          6  thoughts.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. Then I

          8  will take you up on that and share many of our

          9  thoughts with you on that, and, again, we're going

         10  to need to benefit.

         11                 I guess finally for now Coney Island,

         12  and you're going to ask what does Coney Island have

         13  to do with Lower Manhattan, of course as a Council

         14  member I'm concerned with t he entire City and spent

         15  many fond times there, as I have in each of the

         16  boroughs. But there is a connection and that is

         17  there has been from time to time proposals floated,

         18  there have been proposals floated for ferry linkage

         19  between Coney Island and Lower Manhattan, and more

         20  recently, Council Members Addabbo, Recchia, Nelson

         21  and I have spoken about a ferry linkage involving

         22  the Rockaways, Coney Island in Lower Manhattan, both

         23  for recreational and commutation purposes, commuter

         24  purposes, and as you may know, there is an historic

         25  connection in that Lower Manhattan was the site of
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          2  the original aquarium so the idea of connecting the

          3  original site to the current aquarium, you know,

          4  also has historic and symbolic significance, but the

          5  main reason is economic development to encourage

          6  cross traffic and that could benefit the overall

          7  economy, and economies of those areas.

          8                 Could you share with us any update on

          9  those proposals? Do you have any ideas? We

         10  understand with Coney Island one of the hold-ups was

         11  the lack of a usable dock on the ocean side, but I

         12  see in your diagram that there is a dock extension

         13  proposed, so I was hoping that meant you could tell

         14  us some good, positive news about that.

         15                 MS. COLLIGNON: Over the course of the

         16  strategic planning effort, it was very clear that

         17  people were interested in seeing a ferry connection

         18  to Coney Island as a way to make the trip to Coney

         19  Island part of the overall experience. There are

         20  funds that EDC is going to be partnering with the

         21  New York Aquarium, with federal funds put in place

         22  by Congressman Nadler, to analyze the feasibility of

         23  a ferry connection to Coney Island.

         24                 Our preliminary understanding, though

         25  we have not started the work yet, is that it's very

                                                            118

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  challenging to make a ferry viable on an ongoing

          3  economic basis under current market, both because of

          4  infrastructure challenges for an oceanside landing,

          5  as well as the fact that much of the traffic is

          6  seasonal and weekend based. Certainly to the extent

          7  that it is viable, it will probably start out as

          8  being something that is coordinated with special

          9  events and then go from there, but it is something

         10  that we are funded to look at and we look forward to

         11  getting that going shortly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So the FY '08

         13  with regard to this issue is limited only to a study

         14  at this point?

         15                 MS. COLLIGNON: That's correct, and

         16  it's federal funding going towards the study.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And do you

         18  know what the timetable is to complete the study?

         19                 MS. COLLIGNON: We're going through a

         20  federal procurement process to identify the

         21  consultant for this. I believe we're supposed to be

         22  starting this summer. I'd like to get back to you on

         23  that to confirm that date, though.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, if we

         25  could get something started as a pilot basis, that
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          2  would also generate information for the study of

          3  long-term prospects, and whether it's an oceanside

          4  dock or another non-oceanside dock within some of

          5  the limits, I know Council Member Recchia has

          6  proposed Kaiser Park, other folks were looking into

          7  Sheepshead Bay. We know the Rockaways' dock is ready

          8  to go, according to Council Member Addabbo and

          9  Council Member Weiner.

         10                 So, I would strongly urge that we put

         11  in, we identify where we can get a pilot program up

         12  and running, if not from Coney Island nearby, and

         13  again, considering the Rockaways and whether it's

         14  weekends or seasonal or we test it, you know, you

         15  all are the experts. But if we could put something

         16  in the '08 budget to get a pilot going, I think that

         17  would really spearhead this important project, which

         18  I know all the communities are looking forward to

         19  and could have vital significance.

         20                 So, I ask you to consider that as we,

         21  you know, between now and the time of budget

         22  adoption, and we'll certainly, our offices will

         23  certainly follow up and meet with you to discuss

         24  more specific ideas, you know, across private sector

         25  investments and other ways of raising money,
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          2  passenger fees and the like, to make a pilot, a very

          3  limited, but nevertheless meaningful pilot, possible

          4  within FY '08.

          5                 So, all right, many other questions,

          6  but we will have opportunities to follow-up between

          7  now and the end of the budget season.

          8                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you. And we do

          9  welcome your input.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I will not be

         11  bashful. Thank you very much.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 We've been joined by the Majority

         16  Leader, Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens.

         17                 I will exercise the prerogative of

         18  the Chair to say that Council Member Vann would have

         19  been the last speaker, but I will offer an

         20  opportunity to the Majority Leader to also ask a

         21  question, if he so desires.

         22                 Council Member Vann.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman. Congratulations, Mr. Lieber.

         25                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: You still want

          3  to be president?

          4                 He laughed.

          5                 MR. LIEBER: Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay.

          7                 A lot of my concerns and questions

          8  have been spoken to, so I'll just ask a couple of

          9  questions and move on to my colleague.

         10                 The Mayor has started introducing a

         11  number of initiatives that are aimed at reducing

         12  poverty in the City - Commission on Construction,

         13  CNED, Comprehensive Neighborhood Economic

         14  Development, CEO, Commission on Economic

         15  Opportunities and maybe others - are we measuring

         16  the impact of these initiatives? Are they doing what

         17  they are designed to do and are you, particularly as

         18  EDC, involved in these initiatives?

         19                 MR. SHOBOWALE: Tokumbo Shobowale. As

         20  you know all of these programs have been working

         21  very closely with you to integrate with the

         22  Council's activities. They're still being designed,

         23  but a high priority for CEO and CNED is a level of

         24  impact in having metrics measure the impact to

         25  assess the feasibility of ruling this out of
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          2  traditional neighborhoods and see what we're doing

          3  well, and what we're not doing well.

          4                 So, that's very much in process, but

          5  that's definitely a priority of the Mayor and the

          6  Deputy Mayor, both of Gibbs and Doctoroff, to assess

          7  the impact, to see how much we're moving the wealth

          8  meter (sic) in communities that we're addressing.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay, let me ask

         10  it this way: We've heard of all of the development

         11  that is occurring throughout the City, which

         12  provides a great opportunity, if you will, to make

         13  sure that we make an impact on the airs of the City

         14  where we have the highest level of poverty so on and

         15  so forth. Is it part of the policy and the strategy,

         16  if not to tie directly in, to make sure that areas

         17  of the community that are high unemployment, that

         18  you make extraordinary outreach and programmatic

         19  approach to reducing the poverty by getting these

         20  people jobs or job training leading to jobs and so

         21  forth.

         22                 In other words, poverty in New York

         23  City, but really when you investigate it, it's in

         24  certain communities. So, there ought to be a

         25  targeted approach to making sure that we relieve the
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          2  poverty by providing jobs. Is that part of your

          3  overall scheme of things?

          4                 MR. SHOBOWALE: That is definitely

          5  essentially the impetus behind CNED and CEOs, to

          6  look at the neighborhoods where there is the

          7  greatest levels of poverty that have been

          8  traditionally disadvantaged over decades, and to

          9  have a more focused approach.

         10                 You know, all of the projects that

         11  Bob and others here have spoken about are intended

         12  to benefit the City's economy as a whole, but we

         13  recognize the fact that as you've just pointed out,

         14  sometimes the benefits of these projects aren't

         15  distributed as widely as we like, and certainly

         16  don't target the neighborhoods that need them. So

         17  that is the entire impetus behind CEO and CNED.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay, what role

         19  does EDC play in this whole scenario?

         20                 Does EDC have a role?

         21                 MR. SHOBOWALE: In CEO and CNED. I

         22  think several parts of EDC have been very involved

         23  in the aspects of CEO and CNED. EDC, in conjunction

         24  with SBS and other agencies actually conceived of

         25  CNED. So that is something that came out of EDC
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          2  along with other agencies. So we've been very

          3  involved in that from the beginning and continue to

          4  do so.

          5                 With respect to CEO, we've been

          6  involved all along in the particular aspect,

          7  particularly with regard to financing the IDA and

          8  staff from EDC's Financing Department, they're very,

          9  very involved in structuring some of the small

         10  business, outreach and financing which is applicable

         11  to CEO.

         12                 And then one of the other things

         13  we're working on is, we had requests in many of our

         14  projects to have greater community outreach, and

         15  we're thinking about proactively ways that we can

         16  work together with SBS, workforce development to

         17  have outreach in the communities where there is

         18  highest unemployment to make sure that our projects

         19  are targeting the populations that you're talking

         20  about.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay. Going back

         22  to the former, the person that is in charge,

         23  director of the WMBE program, and you indicated that

         24  even though she's the only person now, that she's

         25  part of the staff and so that she can utilize I
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          2  guess the resources of the agency. Well, before you

          3  created this position EDC was there and we had those

          4  problems throughout City agencies and throughout all

          5  the cities in our country, quite frankly, so it's

          6  because the status quo have not been able to include

          7  and provide opportunity for blacks and women, other,

          8  quote, minorities, there has always been a need to

          9  create a unique and singular way of trying to make

         10  it work, ergo WMBE director.

         11                 So, it's really not an answer to say

         12  that, well, okay, she's part of our staff, we'll get

         13  it done. There needs to be the infrastructure, there

         14  needs to be the staff, there needs to be the

         15  physical, visible presence that sends a signal out

         16  to the rest of the City, this is real, or this is

         17  serious and you better take it seriously.

         18                 So, I caution you to say that's not a

         19  good answer to say, well, she's part of our team and

         20  we'll make sure it gets done, because that has not

         21  been the track record, and, so, therefore there

         22  needs to be a new entity that everyone can revolve

         23  around and say that, yes, this is going to be

         24  serious. And also, what are the sanctions, if there

         25  is non-compliance?
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          2                 MS. KIM: The program was incepted, it

          3  would obviously fall under Local Law 129, so we are

          4  committed to enforcing the requirements that is

          5  highlighted in Local Law 129 in terms of if people

          6  are not meeting the compliance. That could mean, you

          7  know, terminating their contract and it could be

          8  mean the contractors could be barred. So, there's a

          9  number of ways that I think that Local Law 129 is

         10  highlighted and that we have adapted that into our

         11  contract language. So, that will be how the

         12  enforcement will happen. And our prime contractors

         13  are aware that that's what will happen if they're

         14  not able to meet those goals, or at least make the

         15  best faith effort to meet those goals.

         16                 As far as the need to have more staff

         17  with EDC, I think it can be said, this is a brand

         18  new program, so we are in the process of making sure

         19  we have the right infrastructure, and the program

         20  will grow, which means there will be more staff and

         21  there will be more initiatives that will work to

         22  highlight some of the issues that you address that

         23  may not be even met for the MWBEs.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay. We'll

         25  monitor and we'll see. I hope that is the case.
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          2                 Finally, time being very important,

          3  you mentioned a number of development projects,

          4  capital projects around the City, and you made a

          5  passing reference to some capital in Central

          6  Brooklyn, which I'm concerned about. I think I heard

          7  you say restoration, the Apollo restoration and you

          8  went on. Do you know what capital commitments are

          9  for those particular projects? Do we have some

         10  numbers there?

         11                 MR. WRIGHT: You mean in terms of some

         12  of the -- Bob had highlighted some of the funding

         13  agreements that have been instrumental in passing

         14  through.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay, I'll take

         16  that.

         17                 MR. WRIGHT: You want to know how much

         18  the Apollo funding agreement?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: And the

         20  restoration. You already have funding agreements for

         21  capital?

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: We probably manage at

         23  least 75 percent, if not more, of the City's funding

         24  agreements. We staff that through EDC. There's many,

         25  I think the lion share come from the Department of
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          2  Cultural Affairs. I just don't think they have the

          3  staff and the capacity --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay, so it's

          5  not a capital commitment, you're talking about a

          6  funding agreement which is different?

          7                 MR. WRIGHT: It is capital. We're

          8  providing capital to these organizations.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: How much are you

         10  providing to Bed Stuy Restoration? You don't have

         11  it?

         12                 MR. WRIGHT: We will in about one

         13  second.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Good. Good.

         15                 MR. JONES: Tom Jones, EDC, about five

         16  and a half million dollars.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: In this '08

         18  budget?

         19                 MR. JONES: '07.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: '07 right now.

         21  And for '08 going forward?

         22                 MR. JONES: Nothing is submitted at

         23  this point.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Nothing at this

         25  point. Okay, Mr. Chairman, I'll deal with him
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          2  individually. I don't need to take up a lot of time

          3  for this.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Well, your

          5  time is just as valuable to this Committee, so your

          6  concerns are the Committee's concerns.

          7                 A quick, quick question from my

          8  Council James.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The Wycks Law

         10  in the State of New York, as you know, was

         11  implemented a long time ago to increase

         12  opportunities for minority businesses, has EDC taken

         13  a position to repeal the Wycks Law in Albany? Is

         14  that part of your State agenda?

         15                 MR. WRIGHT: I see our general counsel

         16  here.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Does anyone

         18  know? The only reason why I ask, on one front we're

         19  trying to --

         20                 MR. WRIGHT: Keep in mind that EDC

         21  cannot lobby.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, I

         23  understand.

         24                 MR. WRIGHT: And I don't believe

         25  that's part of our agenda.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: That's not part

          3  of your agenda? Okay. And just reiterate the

          4  concerns with Council Member Vann and Council Member

          5  Reyna have expressed, Ms. Kim, you're a very

          6  wonderful woman, I'm sure you can multi-task like

          7  all of us, but under Governor Cuomo and now under

          8  Governor Spitzer and Deputy Lieutenant David

          9  Patterson, the Office in Albany at one time under

         10  Governor Cuomo had 55 people dedicated primarily to

         11  investigations, to auditing, to oversight, to

         12  certification 55 and up. I believe it almost got to

         13  60 individuals. It was gutted by Governor Pataki but

         14  for the most part they had 60 individuals totally

         15  dedicated to certifying WMBEs.

         16                 And, so, clearly I know you're very,

         17  very talented, I certainly agree that you definitely

         18  need more staff and I would hope that we would

         19  increase the number of staff members, and then

         20  again, have an office in Downtown Brooklyn focused

         21  on all the development in downtown Brooklyn.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Do you want to

         24  respond to that?

         25                 MR. WRIGHT: I do. I mean, I tried to
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          2  keep my mouth shut, but I don't think I can. We're

          3  absolutely committed to the program and we will be.

          4  And that's an interesting statistic, but I don't

          5  even believe that SBS has that many people and

          6  they're responsible Citywide for the MWBE program.

          7                 I just want to say one last time that

          8  we do work collaboratively on this. It's not a

          9  matter of just throwing staff into it and having

         10  them go out there. Certification is very important.

         11  SBS does the certification. We try to help people,

         12  we try to bring them to SBS, we try to help them

         13  pull out the information and Bomi is doing a

         14  terrific job and we will increase staff as staff is

         15  needed and at some point probably very soon that

         16  will happen.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Comrie.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair. Having come to the meeting late, I just want

         21  to echo what I know the sentiments were of Council

         22  Member Reyna, Vann and James regarding the

         23  implementation of Local Law 129. I won't go into any

         24  details and specifics of it. I really just wanted to

         25  congratulate Mr. Lieber. I haven't had a chance to
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          2  meet you. Only because your team has treated me so

          3  well that I haven't had to bother you.

          4                 MR. LIEBER: I look forward to meeting

          5  you nonetheless.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

          7                 But I want to thank Andrew Hollweck

          8  and his entire team and all of the people that

          9  actually preceded him on the Jamaica Court House

         10  Project that just got voted on in the Land Use

         11  Committee yesterday, it's a project that I hope will

         12  now be the standard for EDC, but it had a lot of

         13  community consultation. We had a developer that did

         14  a lot of outreach, and is actually adopting the

         15  ideas and the suggestions that were made by the

         16  Community Board, there was a lot of input to where

         17  we got a unanimous vote from the community board. We

         18  got a unanimous vote from the Subcommittee of the

         19  Land Use and there was not the push and pull and the

         20  contention because there was a high level of

         21  communication. I hope that is the standard and it

         22  does include opportunities for MWBE, opportunities

         23  for construction and opportunities for inclusion on

         24  every level. And I just want to thank Andrew and his

         25  entire team and Kay Lens (phonetic) and all of the
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          2  other people that outreached to myself, and I hope

          3  that that, again, is indicative of how you run your

          4  shop.

          5                 And I just again want to just echo

          6  the concerns of Council Member Vann to ensure that

          7  we really create opportunities for all residents of

          8  New York City and I'm willing to help work with you

          9  to find people to staff up your offices to work with

         10  your office and SBS to make sure that you have all

         11  of the tools that you need and I hope that you have

         12  a budget line in your budget to staff it up to the

         13  maximum level possible to do that outreach.

         14                 Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: You're welcome.

         17  Let me thank, you know, the staff for their work.

         18  Ralph Hernandez and Dottie Conway, for preparing for

         19  this portion of the meeting, and let me say it was a

         20  pleasure meeting you and I enjoyed the meeting that

         21  we had, and for your maiden voyage today, it's been

         22  an experience for both you and myself, and as we

         23  move down this road, hopefully we will be moving

         24  parallel in the best interests of the City and the

         25  citizens of the City, and I'm quite sure we'll come
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          2  to a very common place where we can move ahead

          3  together.

          4                 So, I want to thank you for the time,

          5  and I know it's been extended but nevertheless,

          6  thank you for coming.

          7                 MR. LIEBER: Well, thank you very

          8  much, and I've enjoyed meeting some of you and I

          9  look forward to meeting more of everybody and

         10  working with the Council members. We appreciate your

         11  input, and that's what we're here to do. So, thank

         12  you on behalf of all my staff as well. Thank you,

         13  guys. We really appreciate the opportunity to be

         14  here. We'll see you again soon.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Likewise.

         16                 For this portion I would like to

         17  recognize the presence of my colleague Council

         18  Member Weprin. SBA is next. We're going to take a

         19  ten, to 15-minute adjournment for our people to

         20  clear the area, and then we'll proceed.

         21                 (Recess taken.)

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: We'll continue

         23  with the second portion of the Economic Development

         24  meeting dealing with that portion being the Small

         25  Business Committee. And I see that we have
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          2  Commissioner Walsh here from SBS, and it's a

          3  pleasure to see you again, on behalf of the Chair of

          4  Small Business, Council Member Yassky, and myself,

          5  Chair of Economic Development, Council Member White.

          6  I welcome you. And you can begin your testimony.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman. Good afternoon to you and members of your

          9  staff. I'm Rob Walsh. I'm the Commissioner of

         10  Department of Small Business Services. I'm joined by

         11  First Deputy Commissioner Andy Schwartz and members

         12  of our staff who are here to answer questions that

         13  you may have.

         14                 When Mayor Bloomberg came into Office

         15  in January 2002, he created an agency dedicated to

         16  serve the needs of the City's 200,000 small

         17  businesses throughout the five boroughs. And what I

         18  would like to do today is give you a quick overview

         19  of our major divisions that serve small businesses

         20  and to highlight some of the accomplishments of the

         21  past year.

         22                 And I also want to have the

         23  opportunity to outline some of the new initiatives

         24  that are underway. I want to begin with the Division

         25  of Business Development, which continues to
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          2  strengthen community-based organizations that serve

          3  small and large businesses throughout the City.

          4  We've made a lot of progress in this area in serving

          5  small businesses directly.

          6                 Let's start with the Business

          7  Improvement Districts, which continue to grow. Over

          8  the past five years, we've created 11 Business

          9  Improvement Districts, bringing the total number of

         10  BIDs in the City to 55. This past year two new BIDs

         11  were created, Flatbush and Bayridge Fifth Avenue

         12  area. And it was signed into law by the Mayor just

         13  recently and up and running.

         14                 The network annually contributes $82

         15  million in supplemental services for direct benefits

         16  to over 69,000 businesses. We're expecting in this

         17  upcoming year to have five additional BIDs for your

         18  approval.

         19                 Our work in City neighborhoods goes

         20  beyond BIDs, and one of the areas that we've been

         21  focusing on much more in the past year is providing

         22  technical support and assistance to Local

         23  Development Corporations and Merchants Associations

         24  that needed extra help for them to have a stronger

         25  impact in their neighborhoods. In the past year
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          2  we've launched boroughwide programs in Brooklyn,

          3  Queens and the Bronx. We've partnered with the

          4  Brooklyn Economic Development Corporation, the

          5  Queens Overall Economic Development Corporation and

          6  the Bronx Overall Economic Development Corporations

          7  to leverage their experience so that other

          8  neighborhood groups can learn from them and build on

          9  their success.

         10                 Another significant way we can help

         11  strengthen retail corridors is a new initiative, and

         12  it's an initiative that the Mayor introduced in the

         13  State of the City Address, and that's New York City

         14  Clean Streets.

         15                 This two-year 1.6 million initiative

         16  will help keep the streets of our City's commercial

         17  corridors cleaner and more attractive for the

         18  residents and businesses alike.

         19                 Through clean streets SBS will

         20  partner with neighborhood organizations throughout

         21  the five boroughs, offering them the opportunity to

         22  manage supplementary Sanitation programs while

         23  building their capacity to better serve their

         24  commercial corridors.

         25                 Our goal is to create stronger
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          2  neighborhood groups that are able to independently

          3  manage and finance these types of services.

          4                 Let me go off script for a second

          5  here and talk about, you know, the genesis of many

          6  of the Business Improvement Districts began with

          7  getting neighborhoods cleaner, cleaner and safer,

          8  and what we're looking at here, you know, what we're

          9  talking about is incubating many of these small

         10  organizations, Mr. Chairman, that you have talked

         11  about in previous discussions that we've had,

         12  whether it's testimonies or meetings, have taken

         13  some of these smaller groups that are perhaps not as

         14  mature as some of the larger Business Improvement

         15  Districts and Economic Development organizations in

         16  helping them grow through technical assistance, and

         17  matching them up with larger organizations, and we

         18  have a lot of high hopes on that.

         19                 Beyond making sure neighborhoods are

         20  good places to do business, we served individual

         21  businesses and entrepreneurs. Since we first

         22  introduced New York City Solutions as a cornerstone

         23  of our Business Assistance Program in September of

         24  2004, New York Business Solutions have served more

         25  than 30,000 businesses and responded to over 47,000
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          2  service requests. To date we've helped more than 460

          3  small businesses secure over $26 million in new

          4  financing from both non-profits and commercial

          5  lenders.

          6                 Whether business owners walk through

          7  the doors of one of our centers located throughout

          8  the five boroughs to visit our website or call

          9  3-1-1, they could get the help they need to start

         10  and grow their businesses, from accessing finance

         11  and incentives to finding anything from real estate

         12  to qualified workers, we're there to help.

         13                 Through our business outreach team,

         14  we also canvass commercial neighborhoods

         15  block-by-block in all five boroughs, and thanks to

         16  these efforts business owners and entrepreneurs are

         17  accessing SBS business more than ever before.

         18                 Another way in which we are improve

         19  the climate for business owners and entrepreneurs in

         20  New York City is by making it easier for them to

         21  start their business.

         22                 In December of 2006, our agency

         23  launched Business Express. This was begun with a

         24  website. For the first time it will enable business

         25  owners to access all of their licensing and permit
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          2  needs in one place.

          3                 We started with the restaurant

          4  sector. Take a minute to think about it in terms of

          5  opening up a restaurant in New York City, and we're

          6  talking about a sector of more than 20,000

          7  businesses, many of those small mom and pop shops

          8  throughout our five boroughs.

          9                 To open up a restaurant, you're

         10  talking about going through well over a dozen City,

         11  state and sometimes federal agencies. In some cases

         12  it means visiting government offices, not having

         13  this information on line, and attempting to put this

         14  all together and map it out.

         15                 Over the past year we have worked

         16  hard, first to inventory and map out all of these

         17  regulatory steps for the restaurant industry and

         18  what Business Express will do is make all of these

         19  forms, all of these applications and information

         20  available in one place on-line. This is a critical

         21  first step towards making it easier to start a

         22  business in New York City.

         23                 Over the coming year we'll be working

         24  together with many City agencies. We already have

         25  Consumer Affairs, Buildings, Finance, DoITT, to
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          2  build on this application to add more functions and

          3  expand the sector.

          4                 I would like you to take a look at

          5  the business express on line application as it is

          6  available today. It's at

          7  www.nyc.gov/businessexpress. And I would appreciate

          8  any thoughts, any ideas that you have, in terms of

          9  how we can end up making it better for small

         10  businesses throughout New York City.

         11                 This initiative is part of SBS's

         12  broader mission to create a more business-friendly

         13  climate in New York City and will be a first step in

         14  streamlining the ways in which we can work together

         15  and to help businesses grow in New York.

         16                 My guess is, you know, during the

         17  Question and Answer session, you'll say, okay, it's

         18  great, you got the restaurants going, you know,

         19  what's next? And my thoughts on this is let's get

         20  this, you know, this piece of it done and then we

         21  can move on to some other sectors. We took on the

         22  most complicated sectors because it involved a

         23  complexity of many other, not only City agencies,

         24  but also State and federal agencies, and we're

         25  working hard to put that all together.
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          2                 I see Carl Hum is with us, and

          3  through his leadership, and he's the one that

          4  deserves the lion's share of the credit for the

          5  Mayor's Office of Industrial Manufacturing

          6  Businesses, we've made great strides in supporting

          7  manufacturing and industrial sector throughout the

          8  five boroughs. In April of 2006, 16 industrial

          9  business zones were established. As you know, the

         10  IBZ's, as we call them, are geographic areas where

         11  the Administration has committed to supporting, to

         12  support -- not to support any rezoning for

         13  residential use. To encourage manufacturing

         14  businesses to locate in these zones, the location

         15  tax credits of a thousand dollars per employee is

         16  offered.

         17                 To help support these businesses, we

         18  know have established Business Solution providers in

         19  each of the 16 zones. Many of these providers are

         20  Local Development Corporations. We're familiar with

         21  the neighborhood and have an established precedence

         22  in the community and relationships with the area

         23  businesses.

         24                 About the same time that the IBZs

         25  were established, the administration of the New York
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          2  State Empire Zone Program was transferred to the

          3  Mayor's Office of Industrial Manufacturing

          4  Businesses. This is a critical change because the

          5  State-enabling legislation required that our empire

          6  zone boundaries be reconfigured to consist of no

          7  more than three distinct non-contiguous areas.

          8                 The Mayor's Office of Industrial

          9  Manufacturing Businesses took this opportunity to

         10  overlay the empire home boundaries with the recently

         11  established IBZs. Thanks to the City Council help,

         12  to your help in shaping and adopting Intro. No.

         13  421/A, 13 of the 16 IBZs are now included within the

         14  empire zones.

         15                 Just two weeks ago, the New York

         16  State Empire Zone Designation Board approved all of

         17  our empire zone boundaries on the first review, as a

         18  result, industrial manufacturing businesses in

         19  Greenpoint Williamsburg and Flatlands Fairfield and

         20  Brooklyn, Bathgate in the Bronx and the JFK

         21  industrial corridor in Southeastern Queens will now

         22  be able to tap into an array of tax credits.

         23                 Moving forward we'll be extensively

         24  surveying industrial and manufacturing businesses,

         25  in an effort to better serve the businesses in

                                                            144

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  neighborhoods located in the IBZs, in the zones.

          3                 I want to move on to an area that I

          4  heard a lot about in the discussions with EDC and

          5  that is MWBE, the Minority/Women Business programs,

          6  and this is work, I again point out the leadership

          7  of not only Andy Schwartz, our First Deputy

          8  Commissioner, but Kerri Jew, our Deputy

          9  Commissioner, and her team, they've done an

         10  incredible job in improving the access to

         11  opportunities and growth for New York City's

         12  Minority and Women-Owned Businesses. And this has

         13  been a keep priority for this agency and the

         14  Bloomberg Administration.

         15                 Since signing of Local Law 129, just

         16  over a year ago, we have worked very hard to build

         17  the strong Minority and Women-Owned Business

         18  Program, that is a national leader, not only in the

         19  number of certified businesses but in the services

         20  to support these businesses, and I think that is an

         21  important point to make.

         22                 We currently have 1,075 companies

         23  certified as MWBEs. Over the last five years, we

         24  have seen consistent increases in the number of new

         25  companies entering the program, and this year we
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          2  expect this trend to continue. This trend is going

          3  to continue because the City Council created the

          4  MWBE Leadership Association funding 15 community

          5  partners that we're working with, to help get

          6  eligible companies certified and provide technical

          7  assistance, from marketing to outreach services to

          8  seminars for certified businesses.

          9                 Another example of this support is

         10  the certification workshops organized in partnership

         11  with City Council members, and the Economic

         12  Development Corporation.

         13                 In January we launched the first of

         14  these programs with Council Member Viverito in her

         15  East Harlem Office. Fifty-six companies attended,

         16  and at least 14 of those firms initiated the MWBE

         17  certification process as a result of this session.

         18                 You know, the point I'm making here

         19  is we're just going to have to go block-by-block,

         20  district-by-district to work hard, this is hard

         21  stuff. Getting companies to believe in us again,

         22  that we have an apparatus in the City of New York

         23  that is looking out for small businesses,

         24  minority-owned businesses, women-owned businesses

         25  and linking them up, and I want to talk a little
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          2  more in detail on that.

          3                 Last week, we replicated this

          4  successful seminar, co-sponsored with the Speaker,

          5  Speaker Christine Quinn, and we've been working on

          6  another effort with Councilman Stewart in the

          7  Caribbean-American Chamber, and this is the type of

          8  thing that we're going to do, so with all of the

          9  members here, what I would say to you is we have a

         10  strong team. If you have meetings on a grassroot

         11  level, we're there to work with you and make it

         12  happen and obviously I want to talk more about that.

         13                 What we are seeing is an important

         14  and telling trend, and I want to talk a little bit

         15  about that. More companies are choosing to come back

         16  and recertify. What was happening in the past is a

         17  company would come in that would certify with the

         18  City of New York as an MWBE and would walk away

         19  because quite frankly they weren't getting business,

         20  and they weren't getting the services.

         21                 This time last year just over 25

         22  percent of our expiring companies chose to come back

         23  and recertify. This year over 50 percent have

         24  recertified. We're not happy with that number we

         25  like to see all of the companies who have certified
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          2  with us come back, and that's something that we're

          3  working hard to ensure.

          4                 What I want to do is walk through

          5  five quick steps with you, in terms of how we're

          6  making the MWBE process much more comprehensive

          7  beyond just certification.

          8                 First we'll start with certification.

          9  We've simplified the process, without compromising

         10  the standards. We have a user-friendly application,

         11  it's easy to understand, to complete, we provide

         12  classes on completing the application, and we have

         13  increased the period of certification from two years

         14  to five years, a big leap.

         15                 We also created something that's

         16  really important, and that's a case management

         17  system to customize assistance for every single

         18  individual firm that certifies with us.

         19                 We have staff now that reaches out to

         20  certified companies to get to know them, to get to

         21  know their product, to get to know their business

         22  needs, and if you just take this group that we have

         23  been working through this case management system,

         24  these companies have won over $43 million in City

         25  contracts since the beginning of this fiscal year.
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          2  That's good news, in terms of the intensive effort

          3  that we've been making in that area.

          4                 To ensure a company has the knowledge

          5  that they need to submit a competitive bid, we offer

          6  classes to our clients in financing, in bonding and

          7  in procurement strategies. Since July, close to 400

          8  people have attended these classes.

          9                 Last month, SBS launched fundamentals

         10  in construction management, and I know, again, that

         11  was a discussion that I sat in on your previous

         12  session with EDC, in terms of why is there such a

         13  low-number of minority and women-owned businesses in

         14  that construction field.

         15                 We have to build from the ground up.

         16  We have to help with financing and bonding. It is

         17  one of the big obstacles. But the other is to get

         18  started, and what Kerri Jew has done, our Deputy

         19  Commissioner, had her staff, has partnered with

         20  CUNY's College of Technology right here in Downtown

         21  Brooklyn on a certification program that offers New

         22  York City certified construction programs more

         23  education in this area, and the program will offer

         24  six courses taught by industry professionals to

         25  build the skills and capacity of these firms. These
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          2  classes are now up and running, and we could talk in

          3  more detail in terms of what that takes.

          4                 In addition, SBS provides detailed

          5  instruction to hundreds of City purchasing personnel

          6  on how to meet the requirements on Local Law 129.

          7  We've also met with some of the City's largest prime

          8  contractors, and trained them on outreach tools and

          9  methods to find MWBE subcontractors. And we have

         10  ongoing relationships with agencies and contractors.

         11                 We will also organize networking

         12  events that link MWBEs with upcoming contracting

         13  opportunities in all City agencies.

         14                 The SBS staff has sat with all of the

         15  City agencies to analyze budgets, to look where

         16  there are opportunities for us to make in-roads, and

         17  many more in-roads in terms of where agencies could

         18  be doing a lot better job in purchasing from small

         19  minority and women-owned businesses.

         20                 A key part of this is data. There is

         21  no question about it, and we're joined at the hip

         22  with the Mayor's Office of Contracts in this area to

         23  create a system of centralized tracking, automated

         24  reporting and accountability on the agency level.

         25                 Since early February, the City's have
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          2  been able to track all subcontractors for the first

          3  time, and that the Mayor's Office of Contract

          4  Services will report the MWBE utilization figures I

          5  believe next month. April. Next month.

          6                 We also believe that it is important

          7  to get the word out. We could do it through a lot of

          8  our seminars, but we also need to be spending more

          9  money in marketing.

         10                 We have a pro on staff, Glennison

         11  Enriques, who has gone out, has made relationships,

         12  not only through meeting after meeting at nights at

         13  conferences and events, but also through a marketing

         14  campaign, featuring real success stories. We've

         15  launched in Lavos Hispania, Amsterdam News, the

         16  Dodge Construction Report, a number of other

         17  publications. Within the next few months, ads will

         18  also appear in Desi Talk and World Journal to reach

         19  the Asian-owned business community. So, it's an

         20  all-out effort in terms of getting the word out

         21  about our MWBE program.

         22                 I'm going to shift gears and talk

         23  about the final major part of the agency that serve

         24  small businesses and that's Workforce Development.

         25                 It was nearly four years ago when
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          2  Mayor Bloomberg merged the Department of Employment

          3  and the Department of Small Business Services, where

          4  we strengthened the ties between economic

          5  development and workforce development to create a

          6  model for workforce development.

          7                 It meets the needs of business and

          8  the job seeker.

          9                 SBS has transformed an outmoded

         10  program into a stream-lined system that recruits,

         11  trains, and places more New Yorkers in jobs than the

         12  City's strongest employment sectors.

         13                 We've made tremendous gains in this

         14  area in job placement and customized training, and

         15  partnering with other organizations who are doing

         16  this well.

         17                 This success is clear in our

         18  performance results, and let me share some of them

         19  with you.

         20                 In 2006, our Career Centers placed

         21  more than 16,000 New Yorkers in jobs. That's an

         22  increase of over 80 percent from 2005's total of

         23  8,889. Since April 2004, job placements in our

         24  Career Centers have risen from 127 a quarter to over

         25  4,300 per quarter presently. I believe the latest
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          2  number was 4,372.

          3                 Throughout the seven Career Centers

          4  we served over 52,000 job seekers in 2006, providing

          5  workshops, pre-vocational skills training, on-site

          6  recruitment, job referral services, in a

          7  professional setting, and I've had the opportunity

          8  to bring a number of folks over to the center,

          9  Councilman Yassky, Council Member Reyna, Councilman

         10  Weprin joined me in looking at the Brooklyn Center,

         11  and I think the Brooklyn Center is truly a model,

         12  you know, for us. And what happens at the career

         13  centers is, yes, there are people who need intensive

         14  services, but there are many more who come to our

         15  centers to use our computer skills, our computers,

         16  to brush up on courses.

         17                 There was a computer course taking

         18  place at the time and it has worked and this is

         19  something we need to replicate over and over and

         20  over again. And we've expanded that number of career

         21  centers from three in 2004 to seven centers located

         22  again in all five boroughs.

         23                 These centers are run by some of the

         24  most respected service providers throughout the

         25  City. We have seen record growth in our services to
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          2  businesses, helping them with their hiring and

          3  training needs.

          4                 In 2006, the New York City Business

          5  Solutions hiring helped 45 large Citywide businesses

          6  hire 1,691 employees in six targeted industries of

          7  retail, financial services, health care, industrial

          8  manufacturing, hospitality and tourism and

          9  technology.

         10                 This represents 138 percent increase

         11  over the 2005 figures, where we helped 40 employers

         12  hire 630 job candidates. It's working.

         13                 Additionally, we've doubled the

         14  average number of placements made through these

         15  employers from 16 in 2005 to 32 in 2006. We continue

         16  to help businesses train their employees and give

         17  employees opportunities for career advancement,

         18  since launching New York Business Solutions training

         19  grant program in October 2005, we've awarded 26

         20  grants totaling $2.3 million dollars to City

         21  businesses to train nearly 1,500 New Yorkers in all

         22  five boroughs.

         23                 Trainees participating in this

         24  programs have benefitted from significant wage

         25  increases, a very important point, and this program
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          2  is the first time that the City is providing funding

          3  to help small businesses hire and promote employees,

          4  to increase employees skills and wages and become

          5  more competitive. And I think this is an important

          6  point in terms of why we did this a number of years

          7  ago together in terms of merging the Department,

          8  what was the Department of Employment with Small

          9  Business Services.

         10                 We have relationships with small

         11  businesses. This is not just about getting people

         12  jobs but it's also about getting people better jobs,

         13  once they're in the workforce and looking for

         14  opportunities for people to grow.

         15                 We also do a much, much, much better

         16  job, thanks to the work of Scott Zirca, Katie Gall

         17  and so many others, in the area of training

         18  vouchers. And this is a discussion that we had in

         19  Brooklyn recently with a number of members here

         20  today. Where job seekers can currently receive up to

         21  $2,500 to pay for classes at third-party providers.

         22                 We not only evaluate training

         23  providers, but we've also begun to post the results

         24  of these evaluations on-line so that job seekers and

         25  career advisors can see how these training providers
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          2  have performed and select those providers with the

          3  best results.

          4                 These accomplishments have created

          5  strong foundations for future investment. And the

          6  City has responded by charging us with managing

          7  initiatives from the Mayor's Commission on Economic

          8  Opportunity.

          9                 Pending City Council approval, SBS

         10  will be focusing on new programs and the expansion

         11  of existing programs that will assist hard-working

         12  New Yorkers to move out of poverty. We've made great

         13  gains in developing our workforce programs and we're

         14  excited to pursue these new initiatives. For this

         15  year we face a major hurdle in the form of

         16  significant budget cuts.

         17                 The great news is that New York City

         18  has the lowest unemployment rate in decades. The bad

         19  news is that because of this, our federal Workforce

         20  Investment Act funds have been cut by $13.1 million

         21  in Fiscal Year '07. We're a victim of our own

         22  success in many ways. Replacing more people, we're

         23  training more people, unemployment is down and as a

         24  result because of the federal formulas we're seeing

         25  a major and dramatic cut in our budgets.
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          2                 What does this mean? It means we're

          3  going to have to take a hard look at all our

          4  programs, and many of these are very successful

          5  programs. Our centers, our partners, our training

          6  programs, all of these across the board, and this is

          7  something that we're currently looking at to see,

          8  you know, where are we going to find the money to

          9  make up for the $13 million and at the same time,

         10  keep the success that we've had, that performance

         11  model of where we've taken this system when we got

         12  it from 127 to 4,000, you know, plus people. And

         13  that is going to be one of the biggest challenges

         14  that we have in the months ahead in terms of

         15  figuring out where we're going to do that and how

         16  we're going to do that.

         17                 Will it mean cutting at our centers?

         18  Absolutely. Will it mean less vouchers? Probably.

         19  And will it mean eliminating some long-term

         20  partnerships that we've had with non-profit

         21  organizations throughout the City? Yes. And that's

         22  something that we're working on now to figure out

         23  what we're going to do.

         24                 As you can see, we've worked hard to

         25  serve small businesses across the borough,
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          2  empowering neighborhoods and helping New Yorkers

          3  find jobs.

          4                 We look forward to an aggressive and

          5  ambitious agenda ahead. We're very grateful for the

          6  Council's role in all of these accomplishments. We

          7  continue to build on the success, rolling out new

          8  initiatives like New York City Clean Streets,

          9  Business Express, in order to serve small businesses

         10  throughout the five boroughs.

         11                 It's our goal to become the first

         12  place businesses think of when they need to turn to

         13  government. With your strong support it's clear

         14  we're getting there.

         15                 I'd be happy to answer any questions

         16  you have at this point. Thank you very much and

         17  thanks for your support over the year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you,

         19  Commissioner. I think there's no question that your

         20  tenure in this side of the agency has been a very

         21  successful one to date.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I have no doubt

         24  it will continue to be even more so.

         25                 Colleagues, I have a number of
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          2  questions. Maybe I'll ask a few and then I know if

          3  you have questions make sure the Finance staff knows

          4  and then we can go around and then maybe I'll come

          5  back at the end, but I'll ask a few now and then

          6  we'll go around.

          7                 I just want to make sure I'm right on

          8  what the numbers are. When you referred to, and I

          9  know you told me about this before, that we have a

         10  $13 million cut in the WIA funds, and I know the

         11  federal years is not   the same as our fiscal year;

         12  how does that show in our budget?

         13                 What I have in front of me shows that

         14  in this year, the year we're in now, 2007, we're

         15  going to spend 54, roughly million, on workforce

         16  development, 53.7 it says here, going down, and that

         17  your budget for 2008 envisions 53.2 million. So,

         18  it's, you know, not even a, whatever 500,000. I

         19  mean, roughly the same; is that correct? Or am I

         20  incorrect here?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         22  Essentially the cut, we get two years to spend in

         23  federal funds that are authorized under Workforce

         24  Investment Act, but what we had in the past was a

         25  carry-in, you may recall, from some prior
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          2  discussions that were excess funds.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes, unspent.

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          5  Right. So, I think the total that will be coming in

          6  now is about $48 million, is what we anticipate, and

          7  that's what's reflected as $13 million less than

          8  previous, approximately previous allocation. And

          9  there is a little bit of carry-in anticipated for

         10  the next fiscal year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, okay, let me

         12  just break in the two fiscal parts. Maybe I should

         13  understand what's coming in, but first on the what's

         14  going out part; is our spending next year? Are we

         15  planning to spend the same next year as we're

         16  spending this year on Workforce Development or not

         17  spend the same? Are we trying to spend less?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         19  It's approximately the same based on the last year

         20  of carry-in or a little less.

         21                 As the Commissioner indicated, we

         22  have contracts expiring. We've reduced our

         23  commitment to CUNY in the Workforce Centers and will

         24  be lowering our ITAs, our vouchers, as well, to make

         25  sure that in the year after we will be able to do
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          2  without the carry-in funds.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, should I

          4  follow up, or did you want him to, this gentleman to

          5  say something?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: He's going to add

          7  something to that. This is Scott Zucker, he's a

          8  Deputy Commissioner.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, they're

         10  going to want you to identify yourself, if you

         11  would.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Yes, I

         13  will do that afterwards.

         14                 If I could put this in a larger

         15  picture, the system has lost funds in two ways

         16  essentially, in terms of money that we can put to

         17  work out in our neighborhoods.

         18                 As the Commissioner testified, the

         19  federal allocation that we get every year has been

         20  reduced by $13.1 million.

         21                 In conjunction with that, we are

         22  continuing to spend down the carry-in funds that

         23  we've inherited, and what you have is a net result,

         24  is that we're migrating, over a period of two years,

         25  looking out to Fiscal '09, we're going to be
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          2  migrating from a system that has had approximately

          3  $65 million in federal funds to one that has

          4  somewhere between 45 million and 48 million dollars

          5  in Fiscal Year '09.

          6                 So, as Andy Schwartz indicated,

          7  spending in Fiscal Year '08 is still being somewhat

          8  cushioned by the carry-in funds, but by the time, as

          9  we move through the year it's gone and then by the

         10  time we end the year in Fiscal Year '09, we're down

         11  to about $45 million.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I see. So that's

         13  what we're going to see. You're going to see the big

         14  hit come in 2009, in our Fiscal 2009, and is that,

         15  and that's purely formula, the WIA Act, I guess

         16  maybe "A" is Act, WIA distributes funds, there's a

         17  formula in that legislation and that's what

         18  determines how much we get? There's no opportunity

         19  to hope the Congress will improve on that?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: That's

         21  essentially correct. If you look at the $13.1

         22  million, the factor that drove that overwhelmingly,

         23  were the improved employment statistics, and that

         24  was entirely formula-driven, that formula is

         25  codified in the law itself. There was a very small
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          2  impact measures in hundreds of thousands of dollars

          3  that had to deal with the slightly reduced federal

          4  appropriation, but the overwhelming majority of that

          5  had to do with the change in employment.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And by that you

          7  mean I guess the unemployment rate, but population

          8  is part of it, too. So, it looks at the number of

          9  unemployed people that we're trying to serve.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Yes, it's

         11  actually a relatively complicated formula. It has

         12  three formula factors.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: All right. Maybe

         14  rather than take people's time, I would like to

         15  understand that, and I can follow-up on that with

         16  you.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, just as far

         19  as this budget goes, this year we're not needing to

         20  fill in, for '08 we're not needing to fill in with

         21  City funds what we've lost between the carry-over

         22  and the way you're managing the cut over a two-year

         23  period, but we will in '09. But '08 you're not

         24  cutting elsewhere to keep this stable?

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Yes, we are, and
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          2  we should say it.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: No, I

          4  mean, if you recall, the way I laid this out, we're

          5  in the middle of this transition where we're going

          6  from $65 million to $45 million over two years. But

          7  the numbers that you quoted, you're looking at 54,

          8  we were closer to 65 in the past.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, I just have

         10  your last year, or the year we're in now or the

         11  coming year.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: So, in

         13  order to stay on budget, we have had to implement

         14  some service reductions, and when you're looking at

         15  $20 million over two years, you have to look across

         16  your system. So, we have shut one of our Workforce1

         17  Career Centers, we will be unable to issue as many

         18  training vouchers as we did in the past. And we do

         19  have a series of programs that we're worked with for

         20  quite a long time that have performed quite well,

         21  their contracts expire on June 30th of this year,

         22  and we currently do not have the funds to renew that

         23  portfolio going forward.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What's the size

         25  of that last item? That four million, eight million?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Well, in

          3  the current fiscal year, it's -- well, the contract

          4  value for FY '07 was $6 million across 14

          5  organizations.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And you're

          7  looking at eliminating the entire six million, or

          8  going from six to three or?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: At this

         10  point we don't have the funds to do a new

         11  procurement, so when that contract runs its course,

         12  those 14 programs will have to cease operations.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, so that's

         14  actually a serious issue we're facing here in the

         15  budget.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It is.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         18                 Okay, and that's something that I'm

         19  sure I'm not the only person in the Council who will

         20  be very concerned about that and will help to figure

         21  out a way to keep that going.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: And we have been

         23  talking to some of the providers, a lot of good

         24  providers, there's no question. You know, I don't

         25  know where to turn, quite frankly on this one. You
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          2  know, when you get hit with -- we never anticipated

          3  a $13 million cut, you know, from the federal

          4  government on this front.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I think if we,

          7  you know, let's throw numbers out there just for a

          8  moment, if it was nine, if it was ten, I think we

          9  would have been able to cushion. And these are many

         10  organizations you will hear from them. There is no

         11  doubt. We're hearing from them, we're meeting with

         12  them, you know, on a regular basis, and what we're

         13  trying to do is figure out how many of these groups

         14  can tap into the success of our Career Centers, but

         15  not all of them will. There are, you know, a lot of

         16  barriers and reasons why some of these organizations

         17  will not. Some of it is geography. You know, we have

         18  seven centers, this is a big City, others are

         19  cultural language, you go through the whole line up

         20  and it's something that we're trying to deal with,

         21  quite frankly.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. That's

         23  worthy of an extended discussion. You know, I don't

         24  want to occupy our whole time here with that, but

         25  that's definitely worthy of an extended discussion.
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          2                 Okay, just then two quick questions,

          3  and then we'll move on to other folks.

          4                 There's now a budget line for the

          5  Center on Economic Opportunity that I have here as

          6  14 million, 14 and a half million dollars. I gather

          7  this is the, you know, result of the Poverty

          8  Commission, Commission on Economic Opportunity; what

          9  is the SBS part of that exactly? What's this 14

         10  million consist of?

         11                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm going to ask

         12  Angie Kamath to come up and talk about that. She's

         13  been working with Scott on that team.

         14                 MS. KAMATH: Hi.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Hi. Good

         16  afternoon.

         17                 MS. KAMATH: Good afternoon,

         18  Councilman Yassky.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, can

         20  you just give your name.

         21                 MS. KAMATH: Sure. Angie Kamath.

         22                 In terms of the programs, just to

         23  clarify, these funds are part of the Commission on

         24  Economic Opportunity, which is managed by the Center

         25  on Economic Opportunity, so it's part of the larger
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          2  commission work which manages the innovation fund.

          3                 The SBS effort is actually managing

          4  nine discrete initiatives within this, and these

          5  programs all are targeting a working poor

          6  population, and really they fall into three buckets.

          7  The first bucket is to really, as Commissioner Walsh

          8  mentioned, build upon our current system, to really

          9  look at programs that can enhance our customized

         10  training program or we work with businesses to make

         11  funding available to businesses to train their

         12  workers in areas like literacy soft skills, also

         13  adding job retention, advancement and work support

         14  programming to our existing Career Centers.

         15                 There are some new initiatives that

         16  are part of this as well, including a creation of an

         17  industry focused sector career center, creating a

         18  work advancement and support center in the Bedford

         19  Stuyvesant community, as well as developing some

         20  employment and advancement programs for individuals

         21  who are in the Criminal Justice System.

         22                 So, the third category is really

         23  around coordination activities. So, looking at what

         24  we do as an agency and how we can coordinate better

         25  throughout the City to promote our programs. And,
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          2  so, underneath that we've got programs that look at

          3  marketing our work more comprehensively to City

          4  contractors, to organizations that receive City

          5  funding; working with other agencies, like HRA and

          6  the Department of Education, to draw down additional

          7  training funds; overhauling the way that we access

          8  information from training providers and the way that

          9  we deliver information to customers on choosing high

         10  quality and appropriate training providers; and

         11  then, finally, working and partnering with local

         12  community organizations to find qualified job

         13  seekers to come into our system.

         14                 So, that's basically the suite of

         15  programs that we are managing that fall under that

         16  14.4 million in Fiscal Year '08.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Can you give me a

         18  rough apportionment of the three baskets? How much

         19  is each of them?

         20                 MS. KAMATH: Sure. Of the 14.4,

         21  majority will fall into those first two categories,

         22  so in terms of the expansion of our current system,

         23  you've got about 5 million that will fall into that

         24  category, in terms of the new initiatives, that's

         25  where the majority of the balance of that, we're
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          2  looking about eight million that will fall into

          3  that, so five and eight, and then finally that

          4  coordination category, we've got the balance of the

          5  1.4.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I mean, it's just

          7  interesting, I guess I wasn't kind of looking for

          8  this, but juxtaposed with our immediately previous

          9  discussion about the loss of some of the federal WIA

         10  funds and the programs we're funding with that, I

         11  mean this really does kind of represent a decision

         12  that the, expanding the customized job training and

         13  then the new initiatives that you described, each of

         14  those are roughly what we were spending on the

         15  contracts that you're losing, I take it the decision

         16  then is there is better bang for the buck in either

         17  of those, either that expansion or the new

         18  initiatives, than in the programs that we're going

         19  to lose. So, do you want to describe --

         20                 MS. KAMATH: I think I'll take part of

         21  that. I think it's an apples and oranges comparison.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, really? I

         23  mean, aren't those both job training functions?

         24  Unless I'm confused. Or all three of them are?

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Why doesn't Scott
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          2  just come up and deal with that.

          3                 MS. KAMATH: Yes.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Because it's an

          5  interesting -- I don't think you could apply it

          6  across the board. Some of the, when he's talking

          7  about special population contracts, where you're

          8  talking about in some cases work that is not

          9  necessarily focusing on placement, but it could be

         10  overcoming language barriers. You know, I would like

         11  to say it's getting people to the starting point, to

         12  prepare people for jobs. So, the contracts that came

         13  over from the Department of Employment that are in

         14  the portfolio, many of them are not necessarily

         15  focuses you've seen at the Career Centers, that

         16  placement in training.

         17                 Scott could talk more in terms of per

         18  diem.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Let him explain

         21  it, and then let me jump back in.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: One of

         23  the key things here is -- well, there's two things I

         24  would emphasize. The first is, if you look at our

         25  system in general, as it exists now, even before you
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          2  apply the cuts, it does a fairly good job in

          3  preparing people for the world of work in connecting

          4  them to employment, but there is still great need in

          5  this City to take people who have had that initial

          6  connection established and help them advance down a

          7  career pathway so that they can move towards

          8  economic self-sufficiency.

          9                 So, if you look at the system through

         10  that lens, what many of these new investments are

         11  meant to do is to enable people to move upwards, to

         12  move towards family sustaining wages, to move

         13  towards economic self-sufficiency.

         14                 So, part of this is bringing the

         15  City's system into balance. The point --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Into balance did

         17  you say?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: More into

         19  balance.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You're saying

         21  shifting from -- basically, okay, and again, maybe

         22  we should hear from other people because I know

         23  they're waiting, but I mean it is a shift of

         24  resources, if you phrase it, from connecting people

         25  to the workforce who are not, to you know, lifting

                                                            172

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  the working poor toward self-sufficiency. I don't

          3  raise that to say that's a bad idea, I'm just taking

          4  note of it and saying it does require some

          5  justification and maybe it's just, you know, those

          6  are both super important things and there's not

          7  enough money to go around, but I just was drawing my

          8  own attention to the fact that's what's taking

          9  place.

         10                 Okay, I have some more but I know

         11  Council Member Gerson has questions and Council

         12  Member Reyna and Council Member James. So, let's do

         13  that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Plenty of

         15  questions to go around. Good afternoon. Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair. As always, thank you for your inspired

         17  leadership.

         18                 I'm going to just, in the interest of

         19  time, cut to the core in some particular areas. The

         20  Fulton Fish Market, your agency's role and ongoing

         21  development in funding, where do we stand?

         22                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I was in the EDC

         23  hearing and they mentioned SBS quite a bit, so I'm

         24  going to pass the buck back and say that's an EDC

         25  project and they're driving that.
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          2                 It's a large scale project, real

          3  estate project that we're not involved in.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, that's

          5  what I thought. I have an analysis that lists Fulton

          6  Fish Market as one of the program areas under your

          7  view, is that not correct? You really don't have any

          8  more? Okay, well, we'll follow up with EDC.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: We have a

         10  contract with EDC so some items come through our

         11  budget that go to EDC.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You have a

         13  contract with EDC to do what?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: All their

         15  economic and maritime activities are covered.

         16  They're not a City agency, so they're covered

         17  through contracts.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I see. So,

         19  you're just the conduit --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: On that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Fine.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Can I interrupt

         23  you?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Please.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Because it bears

                                                            174

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  on this.

          3                 I recall there was discussion between

          4  the Council as an institution and the Administration

          5  about presenting the Executive Budget in a -- having

          6  the units of appropriation more closely correspond

          7  to a way the agencies think of -- to what the

          8  agencies think of as their programmatic functions.

          9  It was my understanding that for this year, two

         10  agencies, one of them being SBS, the budget will be

         11  presented that way, and I may be confused about

         12  that, you can tell me, but the reason I say that is

         13  what I am looking at, because I looked over the

         14  shoulder, Councilman Gerson is looking at, is I

         15  guess a document prepared by the Council that breaks

         16  your budget into programs. And there is, indeed

         17  there is one for Fulton Fish Market, along with

         18  other things. That's where I got my 14 million,

         19  which is not in your U of A's.

         20                 So, here's my question, because it's

         21  the kind of overall process question: Are you

         22  intending to in the Executive Budget have your units

         23  of appropriation be narrower than the current big

         24  baskets? I'll put a question out there?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:
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          2  We understand, too, as you did, that there was some

          3  discussions between Council, City Council Finance

          4  and the Administration that identified ACS and SBS,

          5  and we're pretty much working with OMB on the City

          6  side and I guess that's subject to further

          7  discussions between OMB and the Council of how

          8  that's going to be presented. But we're cooperating

          9  with whatever requests they make of us in that

         10  regard.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I guess what I

         12  mean, do you, as an agency, did anybody ever show

         13  you a programmatic breakdown of the budget that we,

         14  the Council are working from, and ask if this is

         15  accurate, if you think this is accurate or not? It's

         16  raised by the Fulton Fish Market question.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'd be happy to

         18  take a look at it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Let's do that.

         20                 Okay, I apologize.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, no, no, I

         22  think that's very important. I think, you know, we

         23  need to keep moving towards greater clarity.

         24                 Okay, clean streets. You testified

         25  two-year, 1.6 million initiative, is that 1.6
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          2  million in each of two years, or 1.6 between the two

          3  years?

          4                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: 1.6 for the two

          5  years.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And have all

          7  the streets been designated? What are the qualifying

          8  criteria?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Here's what we're

         10  going to do: we're going to get an application out

         11  within the next two weeks to organizations

         12  throughout the five boroughs, all the Local

         13  Development Corporations, all the merchants

         14  associations. We're working with the overall

         15  economic development organizations, and, you know,

         16  what we're asking is, you know, is there an active

         17  organization, a merchants association, a local

         18  development corporation, is there a need? Is this

         19  something that they can end up building on and can

         20  they sustain it after the funding goes away?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And what will

         22  the funding buy, additional pick-ups, will it? What

         23  could it buy?

         24                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Here's the way I

         25  look at it: this goes beyond just cleaning streets.
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          2  Also, we're going to be hooking into EDC's Graffiti

          3  Removal Program. I think Jeremy Walthrop is here,

          4  our Assistant Commissioner. We believe we could end

          5  up funding about ten or so organizations throughout

          6  the City.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Ten you said?

          8  Citywide?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: That's right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If the Council

         11  were to enhance the fund, you could --

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: We could do more.

         13  Absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: This is a

         16  terrific initiative of taking many of these places

         17  that I have seen throughout the City.

         18                 You know, I was at Uttica Avenue, you

         19  know, not too long ago, meeting with the Merchants

         20  Association. They're not a BID. They're not a Local

         21  Development Corporation, they're a Merchants

         22  Association and they need technical assistance. They

         23  need a 501(c)(3), they need an organizing front, and

         24  they need to show that the merchants, to the

         25  merchants, that as a collective group, they can make
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          2  something happen. And what is the most visible thing

          3  you could make happen in a neighborhood? You could

          4  drop crime, you could get the streets cleaned. And

          5  you know, if you get the streets cleaned and make it

          6  more viable and sustainable, you know, the

          7  neighborhoods get together and they say, you know

          8  this is not a bad idea. This is why George McDonald

          9  is so brilliant with the Doe Fund, getting out

         10  there, working with many of you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Could any of

         12  this money under the parameters of the program be

         13  used to buy additional services from the Department

         14  of Sanitation?

         15                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: No, no. We're

         16  going to contract it --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: With all due

         18  respect, if you're talking about, if you're serious

         19  about cleaner streets, the number one way to do it

         20  in most commercial corridors where this is a

         21  problem, or in many where this is a problem, is by

         22  expanding the number, the quantity of pick-ups by

         23  the Department of Sanitation, by putting more

         24  improved and rat-proof, rodent-proof receptacles on

         25  the streets, and by perhaps inserted in appropriate
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          2  areas, putting in compactors which do what

          3  compactors do in terms of expanding capacity in a

          4  rodent-proof way, all of which are services which

          5  DOS works with, but when we've approached DOS

          6  they've told us that to enhance those services they

          7  need a budget allocation, and I was hoping when I

          8  saw this initiative that this could be a way where a

          9  need is proven to get those additional services, so

         10  if the local groups feel -- what you've described is

         11  important, of course, but I mean it's not going to

         12  get at the root of the problem in any significant

         13  way if you're talking about cleaner streets, unless

         14  there's a vehicle to enhance public services. I

         15  mean, it's just not. I mean, let's operate in the

         16  world of reality. And so I urge you in the strongest

         17  possible way, and I think the concept is a great

         18  idea, because it hinders the effectiveness of many

         19  of our commercial districts but when you have

         20  overflowing trash cans which overflow because

         21  they're insufficient pick-ups, and I'm not talking

         22  about the private carter pick-ups, or when you have

         23  overflowing sewer lines, I mean if we can tackle

         24  targeted areas with LDC's and joint fundings and

         25  interagency efforts, then it will work, but without
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          2  involving DOS. I don't think it's a good use of City

          3  money.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Councilman, with

          5  all due respect, I am operating in reality, and all

          6  due respect we will have a relationship with the

          7  Sanitation Department, and with all due respect,

          8  after five years in this job and going out to many

          9  of your districts, you know, and walking the streets

         10  of many of the districts, one of the things that I

         11  hear over and over again is get us organized. Get

         12  the small businesses organized and put together.

         13                 This is beyond, this is beyond a

         14  clean-up program. We are using clean. The rationale,

         15  the reason why Myrtle Avenue Business Improvement

         16  District was created, the reason why the downtown

         17  organizations, whether it was Montague Street, or

         18  Grand Street, or Graham Avenue or any of these, the

         19  reason why was quality of life, and we'll start at

         20  quality of life and we'll go from there.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Commissioner,

         22  I said --

         23                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Will this solve

         24  all of the problems on Sanitation? The answer is no.

         25  But this is a small investment. It's a small
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          2  investment to take many of these organizations, many

          3  of these organizations that we have talked about to

          4  get them up to the next level.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It's misnamed.

          6  No, no, no. When I see a New York City Clean Streets

          7  Program, which you say in your testimony will keep

          8  the streets of our City's commercial corridor

          9  cleaner and more attractive for residents and

         10  business owners alike, I'm reading your words, I

         11  envision actually cleaning up the streets. What you

         12  described is very important, and I'm a staunch

         13  supporter, and I think I said in my remarks that

         14  that is important, and if that's our goal then we

         15  should make it clear that that's our goal. But if

         16  our goal is really to do to me what clean streets

         17  means, I'm telling you it's not going to be

         18  successful unless in addition to what you say there

         19  is a service enhancement component. And I urge you

         20  constructively to work with the Council because this

         21  is a very important need that you've identified, and

         22  you're correct in identifying it, and we really want

         23  to do something about it, you can't neglect the

         24  service enhancement component, and that's my request

         25  to you that we work together to figure --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I got it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I wasn't at

          4  all, you know, disparaging any of the great work

          5  you've outlined, which is very important. I'm urging

          6  that it be taken to another step.

          7                 So, we'll follow-up. And I'm so

          8  impassioned, Mr. Chair, because it is a serious

          9  problem in so many of our areas.

         10                 Real quick. Manufacturing, garment

         11  manufacturing, in particular, we've had discussions

         12  about the fashion space proposal, I understand them,

         13  and correct me if I'm wrong please, that the

         14  Administration has made a policy decision in

         15  consultation with the industry to focus the fashion

         16  space proposal on the midtown traditional garment

         17  center, and of course, I support all efforts to

         18  enhance and support that center.

         19                 My question to you is, can we agree

         20  to follow-up with a kind of a summit meeting with

         21  your agency, and I know you're bringing the man

         22  himself up, and the union and the industry, to

         23  examine in a methodical way the needs of the garment

         24  industry remaining in Chinatown and the Lower East

         25  Side and what can be done to perpetuate the core,
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          2  which remains viable, which serves not only those

          3  communities, but folks from elsewhere, especially

          4  new immigrants and new arrivals from elsewhere who

          5  work in those industries? So, you know, if we can

          6  answer, if we can agree to follow up with that type

          7  of meeting, and anything else you want to add to

          8  tell us about fashion space?

          9                 MR. HUM: Carl Hum, Director of

         10  Mayor's Office of the Industrial and Manufacturing

         11  Businesses.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The man

         13  himself.

         14                 MR. HUM: In a word, yes, Councilman.

         15  As you know, you noted correctly the Administration

         16  is working closely, not only with the industry but

         17  also with the unions, and also with the advocacy

         18  groups, in terms of regards to sort of figuring out

         19  a better solution to the current zoning within

         20  midtown, and certainly the after effects that it has

         21  with regards to your district.

         22                 As you know, we recently launched the

         23  empire zone in Chinatown, Lower East Side.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: We should

         25  involve them and work with them to --
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          2                 MR. HUM: Indeed. And one of the first

          3  things that we have to do with the empire zone is

          4  develop a zone development plan which we will grant,

          5  it would be the basis upon granting the empire zone

          6  benefits.

          7                 One of the things that the Board has

          8  identified already is the garment manufacturing

          9  industry in Chinatown, so true to your words,

         10  Councilman, I would be more than happy to follow up

         11  with you with regard to not only the Midtown

         12  rezoning but also with regards to the Chinatown,

         13  Lower East Side empire zone and also its plan for

         14  garment manufacturing within the zone development

         15  plan.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Terrific. And

         17  I look forward to that.

         18                 Finally, Mr. Chair, I wanted to bring

         19  something else to your attention, in terms of

         20  workforce development and employee advancement.

         21                 Thank you very much, Mr. Hum.

         22                 And that is the area, small but

         23  potentially growing and significant area of

         24  employee-owned enterprises. And we had a situation

         25  where the former employees of the Windows of the
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          2  World who tragically lost their positions, organized

          3  a restaurant cooperative, and it actually has met

          4  with I think some initial success, and they're

          5  looking to expand it.

          6                 Sadly, they had to turn for initial

          7  funding to a cooperative consortium from Italy,

          8  which has an interest in employee ownership in

          9  general to provide them with initial seed capital to

         10  get their new restaurant and other activities

         11  started.

         12                 But I'm wondering, with this group in

         13  particular, and more generally, if there is some

         14  funds, or if any of your programs in existence would

         15  lend themselves to support and working with groups

         16  to create new employee-owned enterprises, and if

         17  not, should we establish a small kind of a seed fund

         18  or program to kind of explore the viability of this,

         19  in addition to other strategies in terms of new

         20  business and new job opportunity creation.

         21                 As I said, this is not, instead of

         22  any other program, but, you know, in addition,

         23  because I've seen the results, economically and in

         24  terms of the individuals involved, and any thoughts

         25  on that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm thinking of

          3  it, and as I said, I saw the articles in the papers

          4  today, the U New York Times.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Oh, you're

          6  ahead of me. I don't have today's papers yet.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It's the lead

          8  story in the Metro Section today. You're talking

          9  about the restaurant colors, right?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes. Yes.

         11  Maybe we could go there together.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm ready.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: There you go.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: You know, many of

         15  the people who come into our Business Solution

         16  Centers, I would say well over 40 percent of the

         17  people are coming in, are entrepreneurs who have an

         18  idea, many of those are in the category of food and

         19  mostly restaurants, shops, you know, we're finding a

         20  lot of bakeries, we're finding a lot of restaurants.

         21  Often what we find are individuals, not groups, you

         22  know, what you're talking about is an interesting

         23  idea. I don't know. I haven't been in that

         24  conversation. Jeremy Waldorp may have been involved.

         25  It's an area that we're paying attention to on a lot
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          2  of other fronts. You know, I mentioned business

          3  express and taking, what I've heard from the

          4  restaurant association, from a lot of small

          5  restaurant owners, is you really make it difficult

          6  for us to do business here, in terms of getting

          7  started.

          8                 You know, I mentioned over a dozen

          9  permits and regulations, and just sort of jumping

         10  through the hoop and having to, you know, sitting in

         11  a lot of waiting rooms of agencies to get the

         12  paperwork and then have another surprise, by the

         13  way, and not finished yet, and you have to get

         14  something else from another agency. You notice I'm

         15  not mentioning the agencies.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No. And I

         17  applaud you for this initiative.

         18                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: But the

         19  cooperative that you're talking about is an

         20  interesting conversation. It's one that I have not

         21  been involved in, and I don't know if you've been

         22  involved in anything of its sorts.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I would make

         24  it clear for the record that when these folks had to

         25  go to Italy to get the funding, that actually
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          2  predated your tenure as Chair, and it was actually

          3  the immediate aftermath of 9/11.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'll tell you

          5  what we've been doing is a lot of the groups that

          6  have come to see us about funding are groups that

          7  have been denied by commercial lenders, and they're

          8  going to organizations, I'll name them, ACCION,

          9  Seedco, among others --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:-- Who have been

         12  helping them with business plans, getting the books

         13  in order, getting the idea together and making that

         14  happen.

         15                 And I think, you know, what you're

         16  talking about is an idea that we certainly would --

         17  we would definitely want to be part of. We would

         18  need help from other organizations that are out

         19  there.

         20                 You want to add to that? Identify

         21  yourself.

         22                 MR. WALDORP: Jerry Waldorp

         23  (phonetic), with Business Development. We haven't

         24  worked specifically with Colors (phonetic) on the

         25  financing issue, but we have worked them, as Rob has
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          2  mentioned, on the regulatory issues that they've

          3  encountered, just in opening and operating a

          4  business.

          5                 But we are intrigued by this model of

          6  cooperative ownership and would welcome working with

          7  your office to better understand that and how we

          8  might help facilitate that process.

          9                 We do often get approached by banks

         10  that are looking for new and innovative ways to

         11  serve the business community and this could

         12  potentially be something that we pitch to them as a

         13  viable option for small business ownership.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, then

         15  we'll follow-up with the conversation. I just want

         16  to make it clear, it's not that I'm just looking for

         17  a source of money to support these, but it's more of

         18  a nurturing, a new type, not a new type but this

         19  type new and maybe in our environment of business

         20  organization as, again, a complimentary alternative

         21  model which may require, you know, not just some

         22  financial report, but regulatory, you know,

         23  administrative support beyond that, and perhaps

         24  encouragement and actual proactive organization of

         25  it in communities where this could be an
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          2  anti-poverty, you know, pro-employment,

          3  employment-advancing tool.

          4                 So, I'll certainly follow-up, and

          5  I've been very inspired by them.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: If you know of

          7  examples, you know, whether it's restaurants or --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It's not just

          9  necessarily restaurants.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: If it's other

         11  areas, and if it's something that we could end up

         12  holding up, you know, as an example for others,

         13  look, we're here, we want to hear. This is exactly

         14  why we put these Business Solution Centers together.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I mean, I would

         17  prefer, as I said, the group that came to visit us,

         18  to see that shift from more existing small

         19  businesses using Small Business Solution, than folks

         20  who have an idea and a start-up. There's nothing

         21  wrong with that. I'd like to see more of these types

         22  of things where we could be of help.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Terrific.

         24  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         25                 Commissioner, you know I remain a big
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          2  fan and supporter of your great efforts.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you very

          4  much. Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you. We

          6  go way back.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Council Member

          8  Reyna.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 Welcome, Commissioner.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I have

         14  outstanding business. Last week's hearing there was

         15  -- last week or two weeks ago there was a request

         16  for zip code.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Yes, we're

         18  putting that together.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: We are putting

         21  that together.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I was hoping by

         23  today I would have received it, because it was to be

         24  prepared for today's line of questioning.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I wish we were
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          2  that fast. The hearing was a couple of weeks ago,

          3  we're going through that information, we will have

          4  that for you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, I will try

          6  to make reference to the $13.1 million cut that you

          7  were raising in your testimony.

          8                 You know, there's a center, I'm

          9  trying to look for the e-mail. I was e-mailed, two

         10  reports came out, you know, friendly criticism to

         11  Department of Small Business Services, the fact that

         12  there is the lack of community partnership with the

         13  workforce initiative. Well, workforce, not

         14  initiative, I apologize, the workforce center,

         15  community presence, where, you know, there's a

         16  disconnect. The workforce center, unless you are

         17  going to it and you know it exists, you don't tap

         18  into the resources. And, so, how does the workforce

         19  center come out to work with communities, where

         20  there's high concentrations of unemployment. You

         21  know, Council Member James was just mentioning to

         22  EDC the issue of if you're not looking for a job

         23  you're out of the system.

         24                 Obviously, you're 13.1 million is

         25  affected by the same issue. You've helped New
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          2  Yorkers retain employment and therefore they're out

          3  of the system. So, you know, this has a negative

          4  affect on your budget.

          5                 The negative affect in our districts

          6  in communities, where they're not as familiar as the

          7  workforce center or perhaps just aren't out there

          8  seeking the resources, so they don't know how to

          9  navigate the system are lost in the trenches and so

         10  they're not counted, but they're still in need of

         11  employment.

         12                 The second point of the report was

         13  the lack of workforce centers tapping into immigrant

         14  populations, so that there is a workforce in the

         15  immigrant communities that has not been tapped into

         16  by DSBS.

         17                 And, so, it's ironic to hear this,

         18  and then be confronted with the testimony that says

         19  you're going to be cut with $13.1 million, because

         20  you've done such a good job in making sure that

         21  you're employing people, but then we have this side

         22  of the spectrum. Because I heard your ways of making

         23  sure that the reality would be that your agency is

         24  going to have to cut somewhere, because you're

         25  losing 13.1 million. But you don't necessarily have
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          2  to cut 13.1 million anywhere else. I believe there

          3  are populations that exist that do not know about

          4  workforce, do not know about DSBS, don't know where

          5  to begin, and how is the Department of Small

          6  Business Services tapping into this population?

          7                 Public housing, you know, is a

          8  perfect geographic area where there is high density

          9  of populations, perhaps not every household has been

         10  tapped into to find out who is employed and who is

         11  not.

         12                 This goes just beyond the federal

         13  government and what they're claiming is unemployed.

         14  This is about our municipality trying to reach the

         15  hardest-to-reach populations.

         16                 So, that's a comment, a question and

         17  an expectation of an answer, because I don't want to

         18  be confronted in May when you come back to us we

         19  have to cut 13.1 million. There's no need for it.

         20  And I'd hate to see that we're going to, on top of

         21  trying to figure out if any of these programs, which

         22  are Council initiatives, that are the first to go,

         23  that on the top of all of this $13.1 million are

         24  going to be cutting other programs as well in the

         25  Department of Small Business Services.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It's a tough one

          3  and I don't have an easy answer for it. What we have

          4  been doing, as I explained in our testimony, is

          5  expanding our career centers out, in terms of

          6  placement and also training with the limited money,

          7  and I think there's a number of different ways we've

          8  looked at it. It's not only people looking for jobs.

          9  It's also existing people, and I'll call them the

         10  working poor, who are looking for better jobs, and

         11  are working with a number of companies throughout

         12  the five boroughs, existing businesses that could

         13  work with us. And these are programs that did not

         14  exist at all, and develop them out.

         15                 It is tough when you end up getting

         16  cut out. You know, you've got to remember where we

         17  were. We were at 127 people we were placing out of

         18  our centers. We were at 4,372 last quarter. We have

         19  reached out and there's a method to the madness.

         20  Reaching out to organizations like Goodwill that you

         21  saw, like Seedco, like the Brooklyn Chamber, and so

         22  many other organizations because they do have

         23  networks out, you know, throughout the five

         24  boroughs.

         25                 Is that enough? No, it's not enough.
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          2  The resources are not there. Are we reaching out to

          3  the Housing Authority? Yes, we're reaching out to

          4  the Housing Authority, and the Housing Authority, a

          5  number of the other agencies have a desk at our

          6  Career Centers.

          7                 Can we be doing more? Absolutely. Our

          8  difficulty, our difficulty on Workforce was we had a

          9  lot of people coming through our doors and a lot of

         10  people knowing about it, but we were not placing

         11  people in jobs. We were not placing people in jobs

         12  because we did not have credibility, quite frankly.

         13  We could not have gone to the Atlantic Terminals and

         14  placed people at the Atlantic Terminals.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Commissioner, I

         16  appreciate that, and I've heard your message time

         17  and time again.

         18                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But let's not

         20  lose fact that those are the same people that

         21  perhaps fell off the radar screen, because you are

         22  not credible. And, so, now how do we get them back

         23  into a system?

         24                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Well, I'll give

         25  you an example, and I've used the example in past
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          2  and Angie could talk more about it.

          3                 When we go into communities and when

          4  we know of projects that are taking place, one of

          5  the first things we do is to reach out into the

          6  surrounding communities to find out who are the

          7  providers, who are the servers and how can we end up

          8  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm glad you're

         10  raising that. Perfect example is one that I continue

         11  to raise. Greenpoint  Williamsburg rezoning; how is

         12  your Department matching up the possibilities of

         13  employment there to the local residents and local

         14  vendors so that small businesses that exist in the

         15  area can continue to grow because they're contacting

         16  with these developers, and in contracting with these

         17  developers, that means they're going to have a

         18  greater demand of supplies.

         19                 If they have a greater demand of

         20  supplies, then they're going to need more employment

         21  opportunities for people to be hired. It's cyclical

         22  here.

         23                 And, so, is that one example that

         24  you're doing right now? And I haven't seen anything

         25  happening in the aspects of employment in my
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          2  district concerning the Greenpoint Williamsburg.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: One of the things

          4  that we did in your district is, I'll give you the

          5  IBZ example --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I understand

          7  that, and I was very --

          8                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: And providers at

          9  that level so we can end up developing relationships

         10  with the businesses, you know, in some cases one at

         11  a time.

         12                 Do I have a magic bullet for you? I'm

         13  sorry, I don't.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm not asking

         15  for a magic bullet here.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I don't. I don't

         17  have one.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm referring

         19  to $13.1 million your agency is about to lose,

         20  according to your testimony.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Because of a

         22  federal cut.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And so a

         24  federal cut is a formula --

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: That can

          3  negatively or positively impact you, based on

          4  population.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I don't know how

          6  it could positively impact me. I mean, it's going to

          7  have a negative impact because I have to cut

          8  somewhere. It is programs that I do not want to cut.

          9  There are community organizations --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Commissioner,

         11  I'm sorry. I didn't mean to say positively impact

         12  you. But positively in the sense where now you have

         13  to redirect where you're going to get -- how can you

         14  keep $13.1 million? I'm trying to express to you,

         15  there is population there that we have not tapped

         16  into, and I've put myself in that we.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm in agreement

         18  with you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: How are we

         20  exploring the possibilities of dealing with that.

         21  That's the key.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Go ahead.

         23                 MS. KAMATH: Sure. Angie Kamath. I'm

         24  Executive Director of Community And Strategic

         25  Partnerships at SBS.
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          2                 Very specifically, we definitely

          3  recognize that community-based organizations are an

          4  amazing asset to our system. A year ago we basically

          5  formalized within our career center system, each of

          6  our career centers actually has a full time staff

          7  member, what we call a partner coordinator, whose

          8  job it is, is to connect to local community

          9  organizations, both to help us fill our job orders

         10  to get individuals who are in the community into our

         11  system, if they're ready for work, as well as using

         12  the assets of those community-based organizations so

         13  that we can refer individuals out who can't get the

         14  services they need in our center, but who can get

         15  incredible service delivery through their local

         16  organizations.

         17                 We took the concept, again we started

         18  this about a year ago, we took the concept to Deputy

         19  Mayor Gibbs as part of the Commission on Economic

         20  Opportunity, told her it was really important to us,

         21  that we wanted to leverage and really bring these

         22  system assets to the public workforce system and

         23  that's part of actually our coordination efforts.

         24                 We're taking those staff members, one

         25  percent, and actually multiplying them, so we're
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          2  actually going to have three to four staff members

          3  in our Brooklyn Center, in our Queens Center and our

          4  Bronx Center, again, to expressly work with

          5  community-based organizations, to connect

          6  individuals to our system.

          7                 So, I mean, if there are

          8  organizations that you feel want to be connected to

          9  our system, there is a very formal mechanism to make

         10  organizations partner with our systems. So, it's

         11  something that we've spent a lot of time on and we

         12  care about incredibly and take very seriously.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, you're

         14  centralized at your workforce centers with

         15  additional staffing connecting to CBOs, but you're

         16  waiting to have those CBOs know about you?

         17                 MS. KAMATH: Absolutely not. As

         18  Commissioner Walsh mentioned, we do both. I mean,

         19  for organizations who come to us, absolutely we'll

         20  do what we can to get them partnered, but we have

         21  goals for each and every one of our centers, go out

         22  to the organizations that have good training

         23  programs, include service, for example, because we

         24  have a lot of those jobs, out to organizations that

         25  do excellent training and customer service, because
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          2  we have a lot of customer service jobs.

          3                 So, it's very proactive, but we

          4  obviously also have these staff focused on working

          5  with the partners who come to us naturally. And

          6  given that this is, you know, within the past year

          7  we've developed this concept with the CEO funding

          8  that's going to hit the ground probably in April or

          9  May, communities will likely see more of a presence

         10  of the Workforce1 career centers within their

         11  community.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, this is the

         13  first time I'm listening to this in more detail.

         14                 It would be helpful for us as Council

         15  members who know our districts backwards and

         16  forwards, some more than others, and we're learning

         17  every day, where we would be able to partner up with

         18  you. It would be nice to see what organizations in

         19  each district are you working with already, and

         20  perhaps we would be able to tell you you're missing

         21  X, Y and Z.

         22                 And, so, moving forward, on top of

         23  the zip codes I referred to you, because that's the

         24  reason why I was asking for zip codes, I need to

         25  make a connection as to whether or not the Workforce
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          2  Center is working for North Brooklyn. Because if

          3  it's not, that's where I begin.

          4                 And, so, now that you have these

          5  additional three to four staff members who are going

          6  to go out into the district, have the list of

          7  appropriate agencies that exist, CBOs, in our

          8  district, do they know of all of them?

          9                 MS. KAMATH: Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And, so, those

         11  are two items now outstanding that I'm going to just

         12  keep a look out for, you know, I didn't get into

         13  budgetary, but how does this effect moving forward?

         14  You know, you're losing $13.1 million, and now

         15  you're telling me you're adding additional staff

         16  members, if you lose $13.1 million, is that going to

         17  halt your proposal of an additional three to four

         18  additional staff members?

         19                 MS. KAMATH: There are two funding

         20  streams, so the ability for us to expand our

         21  community outreach piece is funded through the

         22  Commission on Economic Opportunity, the Innovation

         23  Fund.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: That's the $14

         25  million?
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          2                 MS. KAMATH: Correct.

          3                 Our ability last year, within the

          4  past 12 months, to have that one staff member was

          5  from the WIA side. So, this is, again, leveraging

          6  what exists, what's worked in expanding, where we

          7  are able to get resources to do so.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, the 14.4 in

          9  economic opportunity is not dependent on WIA funds?

         10                 MS. KAMATH: Correct. That's City tax

         11  levy funding.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: That's City tax

         13  levy funding.

         14                 How much is City tax levy funds?

         15                 MS. KAMATH: Of the 14.4, 100 percent

         16  is City tax levy.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

         18  -- sorry, I'm just writing this down.

         19                 As far as, you said there's three

         20  different centers, Queens, Brooklyn, and the Bronx.

         21                 MS. KAMATH: And the Bronx.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

         23  the staff members, three to four, that means that's

         24  an additional --

         25                 MS. KAMATH: The additional three, and
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          2  the --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

          4                 MS. KAMATH: I'm sorry, I interrupted

          5  you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: No, go ahead.

          7                 MS. KAMATH: I was just saying, we've

          8  got one in each center that's there already and

          9  we're adding three in those centers.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: In each of the

         11  centers.

         12                 MS. KAMATH: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, that's nine

         14  additional staff members that have all been hired

         15  already?

         16                 MS. KAMATH: No. It's pending I think

         17  Council approval, and we are hoping to --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So that's your

         19  proposal for '08?

         20                 MS. KAMATH: No. Through City, through

         21  CEO there is both FY '07 dollars and FY '08, so we

         22  would hope to be able to staff up in the near term

         23  because we recognize the need that's out there.

         24                 So, as soon as the funds are released

         25  from OMB we're ready to go. Our job description is
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          2  written and we're excited about expanding this way.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

          4  the description of these positions, are they going

          5  to be multilingual individuals? You know, bilingual

          6  to service communities that would need such a

          7  match-up?

          8                 MS. KAMATH: Not specifically. It's

          9  not going to be a hard requirement, by typically I

         10  believe office staffing in the nature of our career

         11  centers is written in a way to really reflect the

         12  customer base of that individual center. So, that's

         13  an issue that is really left to our vendors.

         14                 In a center like Queens where there

         15  is more multilingualism, it's something to focus on,

         16  but it's left up to the centers to really reflect

         17  the needs of that community.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: What does the

         19  Brooklyn Center look like? Because now that raises a

         20  concern for me.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: All of

         22  our centers have a language access plan that we've

         23  put together.

         24                 In our Brooklyn Center, for your

         25  specific request, our heaviest ability beyond
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          2  English is in Spanish, through our partner staff and

          3  through our vendor. We also focus, we have some

          4  capacity in Creole. In general we're working to

          5  develop capacity across the board, based on what

          6  we're seeing in Russian, we're looking to develop

          7  capacity in Chinese dialects Mandarin and Cantonese,

          8  yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And what is the

         10  budget for the nine positions? That's coming out of

         11  the 14 million?

         12                 MS. KAMATH: For FY '07, given that

         13  we've only got a couple of months left, we're

         14  looking at about 225,000, going forward in FY '08

         15  we're looking at about 1.3.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Council member,

         17  I'm going to ask if you could wrap up quickly, if

         18  you could, just because I know Council Member James

         19  has questions, and we can have another round.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm taking your

         21  time.

         22                 1.3 million dollars, and, so, clearly

         23  for '07 you're not going to be ramping up all nine

         24  positions?

         25                 MS. KAMATH: We are, it's just that
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          2  when you think of the salary, you're only paying for

          3  a few months salary.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay. Okay.

          5                 And, just, you know, the last point I

          6  wanted to raise was the matter that Council Member

          7  Gerson had asked concerning the cooperative, and

          8  Commissioner Walsh had requested examples of that in

          9  the livery car service area, a lot of cooperatives

         10  exist. I know in my neck of the woods that's how

         11  they survive, they pool their resources together.

         12  They're independent drivers that essentially when

         13  they come together and pool their savings, literally

         14  they buy a building and they operate a dispatching

         15  office. And, so, it's out there. And I'll give you

         16  specific examples if you'd like.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member James.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I've spoken to

         20  the Chairman of the Board, Chairman Rangel and other

         21  members of the Congressional Delegation and they

         22  indicated to me that the president's budget was DOA.

         23  Have you heard any rumors to that effect?

         24                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I have not.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: They indicated
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          2  to me that for the most part his budget is dead on

          3  arrival and because of all of the adverse cuts.

          4                 And, so, to the extent that that is

          5  true, what impact, I mean obviously we have another

          6  shot at the apple, we could perhaps renegotiate, or

          7  perhaps the $13 million in WIA funds --

          8                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Go ahead, do you

          9  want to take that?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: The way

         11  our programs are funded, they are forward funded.

         12  So, the continuing resolution that was just passed

         13  is essentially codifying appropriations for what

         14  they call the program year that begins July 1st,

         15  2007, will correspond with our fiscal year '08. So,

         16  while everything I've heard is completely in accord

         17  with what you just stated, that's looking at what's

         18  going to be FY '09 for us.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And do you

         20  anticipate filling the shortfall with any local

         21  dollars? Is there an ask to fill that shortfall with

         22  City dollars?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: We had a

         24  number of discussions with OMB about, you know, some

         25  of the issues, you know, where we do have
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          2  shortfalls, and this has been on the list.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          4                 Moving on to the Business Solutions

          5  Center, I apologize for not attending the tour, but

          6  I had a conflict in my schedule. But I've been

          7  there, I previously have toured it on my own. I can

          8  recall a previous hearing of the Economic

          9  Development Committee, where an individual who was

         10  transitioning off of public assistance testified

         11  that they were not able to take advantage of the

         12  Business Solution Centers.

         13                 She testified and the Chairman is not

         14  here. So, the question, is there some sort of

         15  glitche in the law which prohibits --

         16                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: No. They're

         17  walk-in centers. You know, the one in Brooklyn, you

         18  come off the elevator, the fifth floor, and you

         19  don't have to go through I would say the apparatus

         20  or workforce.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I think the

         22  issue is this --

         23                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Go ahead.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I recognize

         25  that individuals have free choice and she could walk

                                                            211

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  through the doors, apparently going to their

          3  Business Solution Center would not provide her with

          4  where you have to work and you get the credits or

          5  whatever, your mandatory work allowance or something

          6  like that, when you're transitioning off of public

          7  assistance you have to do certain work requirements

          8  and going to your Business Solution Center does not

          9  make that requirement, and therefore she does not

         10  get credit inconsistent with the federal

         11  requirement; is that a true statement?

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Scott has some

         13  information I'm not aware of.

         14                 So, go ahead.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: I think

         16  everyone is aware that the new TANF law has placed

         17  many new restrictions on what would count towards

         18  the work hours. So, while the TANF law is not an

         19  area of expertise for me personally, I do understand

         20  that when we serve individuals who are receiving

         21  public assistance, one of the constraints that we

         22  often struggle with is the fact that many of the

         23  activities we would like to engage them in will not

         24  count towards the hours that they need to maintain.

         25                 So, one thing that I want to make
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          2  clear is we certainly make that effort to engage

          3  those individuals and we try to structure our

          4  program in a way that can accommodate them, but the

          5  new TANF requirements do make that more challenging.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And, again,

          7  part of the City's federal agenda, do you know

          8  whether or not we're seeking any changes? I

          9  understand TANF is about to expire and it's going to

         10  be a reauthorization; have we saw any changes in the

         11  law since now the democrats are in control and

         12  perhaps they would be a little bit more sympathetic

         13  to that restriction?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: That is

         15  not an area that I have focused on, so I don't know

         16  what positions the City is taking with respect to

         17  the TANF law.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Is that

         19  something that you could possibly look into?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: We'll look into

         21  it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         23                 Clean Streets. Wonderful initiative,

         24  I heard about it.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Obviously,

          3  Commissioner, you work very closely with the heart

          4  of Brooklyn, and I'm lobbying you now.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Okay.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Is it possible

          7  we can get Clean Streets for Franklin Avenue,

          8  Nostrand Avenue, Washington Avenue and Kingston

          9  under Heart of Brooklyn.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: We will certainly

         11  get them the applications. My guess is we'll have

         12  more applications than we have money. You know, it's

         13  probably not a surprise. My hope is that with an

         14  organization like Heart of Brooklyn, it will help

         15  put together a solid proposal. This program is

         16  designed for places like that, that are not as

         17  organized as some of the other organizations and

         18  once they're in place we can end up getting a

         19  501(C)(3) in place, and some of these other

         20  technical assistance.

         21                 So, I don't want to make any

         22  promises, but we'll make an extra effort, you know,

         23  with Heart of Brooklyn. They've been a great

         24  partner.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I'll reach
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          2  out to Ellen as well, and of course, DeKalb Avenue,

          3  which is a major commercial corridor, unfortunately

          4  there is no active merchants association as of right

          5  now. In fact, the last person who tried to organize

          6  it just recently passed. So, the question is, would

          7  they be eligible if there is no active merchants

          8  association?

          9                 I called them together recently on

         10  DeKalb Avenue as a result of the rodent infestation,

         11  but there is no organized entity. It was just a

         12  meeting because of the rodent problem. But it is a

         13  major corridor through Fort Greene, Clinton Hill.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It's a good

         15  question. If someone is going to step up as an

         16  organizing, you know, leader of DeKalb, I mean

         17  that's how many of these things have started, if

         18  someone had a good idea of bringing people together

         19  we would definitely entertain it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. And

         21  you mentioned MARP (phonetic), as someone stepped up

         22  and we have a BID on Myrtle Avenue.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It's one of the

         24  best examples in the City.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. But
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          2  as you know, last year there was a shortfall in

          3  their budget.

          4                 Is it anticipated that that shortfall

          5  will be met this year?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Here's the tough

          7  part. I was having a conversation with somebody, you

          8  know, before the testimony, a person came up and

          9  told me that their budget has been cut over the year

         10  since I've been in this seat --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: How dare they.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: How dare they.

         13  It's okay, it happens. You should have

         14  conversations.

         15                 You know, the good news is that we

         16  reached out to many more organizations. You know, we

         17  didn't fund organizations like Heart of Brooklyn.

         18  You know, we didn't fund many of the smaller groups

         19  that were out there. We're doing a better job in

         20  getting people in terms of responding to our

         21  programs. The bad news is, it's been the same pot of

         22  money that we had for the last 20 years, in terms of

         23  Community Development Block Grant money. And you

         24  know, we've been slicing the pie finer and finer and

         25  finer and that's been a tough task.
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          2                 On MARP, the Myrtle Avenue Program,

          3  you know, they have a Business Improvement District

          4  in place, they do great work. I'm sorry I missed

          5  their opening they had just a couple of weeks ago, I

          6  keep close tabs on that, but they were competing

          7  with a number of other organizations.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It was a new

          9  bank that we opened.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Bank of America.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: We missed you.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm sorry I

         13  wasn't there.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Fulton Street,

         15  we anticipated the BID application going forward,

         16  the ULURP process --

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm excited by

         18  that. I'm excited by that because that's another

         19  example where it came from the ground up. And there

         20  was a little bit of a competition in terms of who is

         21  going to drive that. Personally I'm glad the way it

         22  turned out.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And

         24  Commissioner, I'm not sure you were here earlier

         25  where I talked about Fulton Street. We're having a
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          2  little problem of the replacement of the water main

          3  break between Vanderbilt and Graham, a number of

          4  stores going under because there is no traffic.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Larry Scott

          6  Blackman, whose birthday it is today.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Happy birthday,

          8  Larry Scott Blackman happy birthday to you. Go

          9  ahead.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Mentioned it to

         11  me when I walked in. I'm sorry I missed that part.

         12  But if there's things that we need to do and be out

         13  there, you know our staff, Bernadette Nation and

         14  company, they are experts in facilitating and

         15  they've done a great job, we're ready to help you in

         16  any way we can.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. I'll

         18  talk to the birthday boy later.

         19                 MS. KAMATH: The Business Outreach

         20  Team has actually been sort of pounding the

         21  pavement.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And it's very,

         23  very helpful, but right now the product is loan,

         24  they're looking for outright grants, and I'm talking

         25  to the Speaker and to my colleagues about perhaps
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          2  coming up with some sort of City Council initiative

          3  to address this, prevent them from closing their

          4  doors.

          5                 Film industry. Actually it's in

          6  David's district, but I sort of kidnapped it.

          7  Hollywood East, Steiner Studios, I didn't ask EDC

          8  about any capital funds for the expansion of Steiner

          9  studios; can you speak to that a little bit?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm not up to

         11  speed on that. I don't know who is.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm just not up

         14  to speed on it. I apologize.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. I'll

         16  speak to them privately. As you know, I head the

         17  Diversity Task Force on the Film Industry, and I

         18  just wanted to talk about the recognition of the

         19  parking PAs. It would go a long way in reducing

         20  poverty in the City of New York.

         21                 You've got a wonderful organization

         22  sitting behind you headed by Nancy Karen, who I

         23  absolutely love and adore. She's my shero. She heads

         24  Business Opportunities Center. What they do is they

         25  train women to become entepreneurs.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I attend all of

          4  the graduations of all of the women, child care,

          5  fabulous, fabulous, fabulous.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: How is she

          8  funded?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Nancy mentioned

         10  to me, we do provide funding, we don't provide

         11  enough funding. And she's one of the groups that

         12  have -- is that right, am I missing? City Council

         13  only.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, it's City

         15  Council only. Is there a possibility that she can

         16  tap into any --

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: She could through

         18  the Avenue NYC Program.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. I

         20  look forward to have further discussions with

         21  regards to that.

         22                 And lastly, again, the disconnect

         23  with all of this development in Downtown Brooklyn,

         24  and the pockets of poverty that Council Member Reyna

         25  was alluding to earlier, again an initiative with
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          2  NYCHA, SBS, EDC, HRA and ACS, which is probably the

          3  poverty initiative --

          4                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Again, just

          6  focusing on this pocket of poverty in the district,

          7  you know I've got a very diverse community.

          8                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I've got

         10  million dollar brownstones.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Ingersoll,

         12  Whitman.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You got it. So,

         14  that's my mantra.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: What am I

         16  missing? There's a third name.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Ingersoll,

         18  Whitman, Farragut, Atlantic Terminal. Lafayette

         19  Gardens, they think I represent them but I don't,

         20  because they're only one block out, but they --

         21                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Farragut is not

         22  yours?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Farragut is

         24  mine, it's Lafayette Gardens.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: They claim me

          3  to represent them, but they call me their

          4  Councilperson because they can see me out the

          5  window.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: That's okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, again, an

          8  initiative that's locally based, tying the residents

          9  in the public housing for all the jobs that are

         10  available, as well as local training, but I

         11  recognize you cant do that with a $13.1 million

         12  shortfall, and so I'm certain that the Chair --

         13                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Well, we can make

         14  more headway, and I think that's the point I've been

         15  trying to stress on this is, you know, if our

         16  program is a lot more credible, and we're giving

         17  vouchers to the right people, and through the

         18  vouchers people are actually getting jobs and folks

         19  from Farragut and Whitman and Ingersoll, you know,

         20  could look at a list before they decide to cash in

         21  their voucher, you know, we're doing them a great

         22  service.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, I agree.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: If Whole Foods

         25  comes to Third and Third, and they're saying they
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          2  have hundreds and hundreds of jobs, and folks from

          3  Farragut and Whitman and Ingersoll come in and they

          4  work with us on resumes and screening and they're

          5  lined up, you know, that's where we can end up.

          6                 And we've done a tremendous,

          7  tremendous part in terms of changing that culture,

          8  if you will, in terms of us. We could now go to many

          9  of these organizations and say, we have a product.

         10  You know, in some ways when you're dealing with jobs

         11  and you're dealing with people's livelihood and you

         12  say this is a business proposition, it's a hard one

         13  for people to grasp at times, but this is what we're

         14  talking about, and we're working on a commitment, a

         15  major, major commitment now, you know, with a number

         16  of places like that that are not hiring three or

         17  four or five, they're talking about dozens and in

         18  some cases hundreds of people.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right. And

         20  Commissioner, I agree with you, and you don't even

         21  have to go to Third and Third, there's a supermarket

         22  in the Navy Yard we're proposing --

         23                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'm looking

         25  forward to that. Casamatitis is talking about a
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          2  supermarket on Myrtle Avenue, there's two hotels

          3  that are coming in David Yassky's district, which is

          4  only a block away. We've got a number of initiatives

          5  coming forward, Steiner Studios is expanding Navy

          6  Yard light manufacturing and industrial coming,

          7  MetroTech II is coming, all of that within a stone's

          8  throw from residents of Ingersoll, Whitman and

          9  Farragut where there's 70 percent unemployment. It

         10  is a shame before God and we've got to do more.

         11                 But I thank you for all that you do.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thanks for your

         13  support.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Commissioner, I

         15  know you've really given us a lot of your time, so I

         16  don't want to keep you, let me just see if I can say

         17  a few things.

         18                 One, just very, very brief, on the

         19  Clean Up Program that Council Member Gerson and

         20  others mentioned -- I understand your argument about

         21  this is a tool to organize and that makes a ton of

         22  sense to me, and I think that's a good idea. For

         23  what it's worth, I just have to give you the two

         24  cents. Alan's point is true about the Sanitation

         25  Department, that that is -- in my district we have
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          2  the Doe Foundation on Fourth Street --

          3                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: You know my

          4  former life.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm a former

          6  Business Improvement District Director, and I was in

          7  the middle of five community boards in five

          8  districts where, you know, I had to work

          9  hand-in-hand with sanitation. And that's one way

         10  that I think you can be of great help to these

         11  businesses. When we got the Sanitation Department to

         12  clean up on Seventh Avenue and Park Slope to pick up

         13  twice a day from the street corner baskets and say

         14  once a day --

         15                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Biggest impact of

         17  anything that's happened in my district in terms of

         18  day-to-day cleanliness. So, that is, and that's

         19  something that you're maybe not in a position to

         20  help with I think for these areas, as much as with

         21  the funding that you're doing.

         22                 So, I just wanted to throw that in

         23  there for your head, because it really is, as you

         24  know, from all your experience very effective.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Yes, you know, my
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          2  hope on this is, and this is something I believe we

          3  could end up playing a role in, and it's been

          4  another change in our agency, rather than us, you

          5  know, standing on the podium with organizations, you

          6  know, that are up and running and mature, and, you

          7  know, quite frankly, don't need us, you know,

          8  because they're doing it and they're doing it great,

          9  they want me out of the way, is to work with the

         10  organizations that need our help to get up and

         11  running and provide technical assistance, so we

         12  could create the next Myrtle Avenue, if I could use

         13  that as an example.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That makes a ton

         15  of sense. The one caution area, and again, I say

         16  this kind of saying I hear what you're saying and I

         17  think you're absolutely right, but just for your

         18  head is, you know, as you know in the district I

         19  represent we have Court Street, BID, Court Street

         20  Livingston BID on the way, and Fifth Avenue perhaps.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It's happening.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And I've had

         23  numerous, I'm going to say ten, you know, meanings

         24  with various either groups or individual property

         25  owners who were reluctant about both of these. Of
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          2  course, as you know, the first thing they say is,

          3  well, why should we pay more for what the City

          4  should be doing anyway? And I just want you to be

          5  sensitive to that. I mean, as the City as it pays

          6  for extra collection in one place where the BID is

          7  doing it in another place, I just want you to have

          8  that in your head that, you know, you don't want the

          9  BID people, as I share your enthusiasm for the BIDs,

         10  you don't want them to feel like, wait, I was right

         11  in the first place. That's just a point.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I hear you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, on the

         14  budget, the last couple of things, the overall

         15  agency budget, if I'm correct here, is, is it 135

         16  million dollars; is that correct?

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Approximately,

         18  correct, yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And I have 2007

         20  current as 133,796, 134 million?

         21                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm sorry? What

         22  was that figure?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: A 133 for this

         24  current 2007? 133 million, 133.8 million. So, almost

         25  134; is that correct?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

          3  would have to check that. I don't have that in front

          4  of me.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: It looks like the

          6  year we're in it's going up about $2 million

          7  year-to-year for the total agency budget.

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          9  There's a lot of items in our budget, such as NYC

         10  and Company are included in that, Downtown Brooklyn

         11  Partnership. The Empowerment Zone contracts. A lot

         12  of items like that.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: So, there

         14  might be increases in some of those where it looks

         15  like our budget is actually going up, where in fact,

         16  you know, after you take film and New York City And

         17  Company, that Andy already mentioned, you see a

         18  different picture.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, here's my

         20  question: You know, the total spending that's under

         21  your agency's you know budget lines, including film

         22  and including NYC and Company and so forth, 134 to

         23  133.8 to 135.8, so up 2 million, but there's 14

         24  million new dollars we discussed before for the

         25  Center for Economic Opportunity, so what gets cut is
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          2  my question, to make up for that?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

          4  think we probably should sit down and make those

          5  comparisons and make sure we're working on the same

          6  areas where, you know, if the WIA has gone down

          7  somewhat as well, what's showing up.

          8                 Also, it gets a little complicated

          9  between us and OMB in terms of what they show in FMS

         10  for when the funds, the federal funds are allocated.

         11                 So, I wouldn't want to speculate as

         12  to --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: We can put aside

         14  from where it's coming from, in terms of what we

         15  vote on is just spending, and under your budget

         16  lines and whatever it is here, units of appropriate

         17  1 through 12, I guess they are, in Department of

         18  Small Business Services, I have here total of the

         19  totals we gave before that are roughly 2 million up

         20  year-to-year. And that you said is about right. Or

         21  no, you said you don't know what this year's is.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Without taking

         23  another look at it --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Could you?

         25  Because that's the question that's raised here is,
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          2  if the agency budget is roughly the same where it's

          3  up 2 million, and there's 14 million of brand new

          4  spending for poverty commission, what are you

          5  reducing as a result? And if I understood you

          6  before, we're not reducing the WIA spending, as you

          7  went through, that's going to hit the year after,

          8  but this year it's constant, and we went through

          9  that before. So, somewhere there's $12 million of

         10  cuts, I'm just curious to where they are.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         12  would like to make a side-by-side comparison with

         13  you or your staff to keep clear on it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         16  As we met with your staff before, I know last year,

         17  following a budget hearing, and sorted a lot out --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I will give

         19  you -- and maybe you'll be able to respond, I

         20  thought this was something that had come from the

         21  agency, but perhaps not, you know, the Council's

         22  kind of programmatic line-by-line, but, you know,

         23  you can just give your own.

         24                 If I'm right about the totals, then

         25  somewhere in there there is 14 million less.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          3  Again, EDC is in here for 12. I don't know what they

          4  were in for last year. I think there may have been a

          5  higher amount there.

          6                 Again, that's without going back and

          7  looking.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. And then as

          9  you point out, NYC And Company, which I know, I

         10  guess this happened last year, that the spending

         11  grew, so I remember when we started, it was like a

         12  two-, three-million dollar a year item, and now it's

         13  up to 21 million. What do we get for that, is my

         14  question? And how do we know if that's cost

         15  effective spent?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I think I am the

         17  wrong guy to do that. I think George Fertita

         18  (phonetic) is the best person to be talking about

         19  it.

         20                 I read the papers as you did today

         21  about some of the ads in marketing, and the fact

         22  tourism is up at, you know, the highest levels it's

         23  been. I know that there is a lot more of an

         24  initiative, given the fact that international

         25  tourism is back up at the highest levels.
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          2                 We know what the numbers are, you

          3  know, international tourists are spending three

          4  times the amount of us guys. So, you know, in

          5  countries, and in international cities throughout,

          6  there's a whole effort that's taking place to beat

          7  the drums about New York City, and the fact that

          8  we're back and we're back on track as the safest big

          9  city and on and on.

         10                 So, I think the marketing, you know,

         11  when you start talking about the marketing

         12  initiative and the pro that we now have in the City,

         13  Councilman, we've never had anybody like that

         14  before, and the comprehensive effort that he's

         15  making in those areas, you know, I think of the

         16  other initiative, you know, with just marketing

         17  products from New York, I think it would help if he

         18  spoke more about it than I did.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Fair enough, and

         20  we will ask that question.

         21                 And my last is from the topic of

         22  microlending in our efforts to, you know, help mason

         23  entrepreneurs and various small businesses that are

         24  ready to grow, I guess we're going to get the

         25  microlending expert coming up --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Mr. Jeremy

          3  Waldorp is walking right behind me.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: There we go. I

          5  know in last year's budget there was funding for a

          6  kind of study of demand, and my question is where is

          7  that?

          8                 This is something that we've done, as

          9  you know, Commissioner, your Department participated

         10  in a hearing that the Council held, and we've done a

         11  lot of work, this Committee, on the topic. Even

         12  before your study comes out, I am convinced that

         13  there is tremendous amount of demand that a little

         14  bit of extra investment in the microlending

         15  enterprises that are already out there doing this

         16  would pay back, you know, several fold, and so my

         17  question is whether we're looking at doing that.

         18                 MR. WALDORP: Yes, the Community

         19  Development Finance Study that you mentioned is

         20  actually still underway, and we're expecting their

         21  results probably late April, early May, which is

         22  being led by the new school, but we have been kind

         23  of conducting our own gap analysis, which is what

         24  we're looking for, and you're right, there is a

         25  tremendous need for access to financing
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          2  opportunities for micro-entrepreneurs.

          3                 Through Business Solutions last year

          4  alone we helped 332 entrepreneurs access a little

          5  over $11 million, and the large majority of those

          6  are micro-loans.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: In other words,

          8  these are folks who have come in the Business

          9  Solution, and that you've referred out to one of the

         10  non-profits that do this?

         11                 MR. WALDORP: Correct. Yes. Basically

         12  help them put their business plan together,

         13  financial documentation together, so that they can

         14  present their --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Because what came

         16  to light at the hearing that we did was, you know,

         17  you have banks, of course, because CRA, they're

         18  either to do this, and the current constraint is set

         19  by the amount of capital that the non-profits out

         20  there have. They have to meet their own

         21  capitalization requirements, so a $3 million

         22  investment allows, if it increases their

         23  capitalization, allows them to access 12-, 15

         24  million dollars in CRA funds.

         25                 MR. WALDORP: Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That seems like a

          3  really worthwhile investment. I hope that we're

          4  going to look at doing that in this budget. What are

          5  your initial thoughts on that?

          6                 MR. WALDORP: That's exactly what this

          7  Community Development Finance Study hopes to kind of

          8  solidify, is the need with the microlending

          9  community of the City for more capital. And, of

         10  course, our agency having primarily tax levy dollars

         11  can access those funds for direct lending.

         12                 But EDC is looking at potentially

         13  using revenues that they've generated to then be

         14  reinvested with microlenders.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. We'll let

         16  you go after this, but that was the point I'm

         17  curious about. I remember from last year's

         18  discussion, I'm told from last year's discussions,

         19  there was a concern that was raised about whether

         20  tax levy dollars could be used for lending, but they

         21  could certainly be used to support the microlending

         22  organizations that are out there already in a way

         23  that would raise their own balance, you know,

         24  improve their own balance sheets. If I get it,

         25  that's what they need to do to draw on CRA dollars.
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          2  So, it wouldn't be that City tax levy dollars are

          3  being lent out, it would be that City tax levy

          4  dollars are going to the non-profit that then based

          5  on their new balance sheet they borrow CRA money and

          6  lend it out again.

          7                 MR. WALDORP: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, there really

          9  isn't a constraint, right?

         10                 MR. WALDORP: Well, there would be

         11  more impact if we were able to find funds that we

         12  could then use to capitalize their loan funds,

         13  versus doing some sort of switch where we're funding

         14  personnel lines and they're in turn using those

         15  personnel dollars that were freed up --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, I mean,

         17  maybe but it seems to me you could do it that second

         18  way and have the exact same impact.

         19                 MR. WALDORP: They have minimal staff,

         20  so those costs, they're not as great as the actual

         21  demand for capital.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I guess

         23  what I would ask you to do is take a look at that.

         24  Because in looking at it, when you kind of look at

         25  the organization, I think you can have that same
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          2  impact.  By funding the organization, it improves

          3  the balance sheet right way. They can go out and get

          4  more CRA money. So, I guess I would ask you to take

          5  a look at that. I don't really think there is a

          6  constraint. There's a budget constraint. Of course

          7  we have limited resources and virtually unlimited

          8  needs, but that legal constraint, I don't think that

          9  really is there.

         10                 MR. WALDORP: And just as an aside, we

         11  are looking at ways that we can partner with

         12  microlenders to help build business capacity so that

         13  more of the technical assistance is having to go off

         14  of their plate, and you can put that on to staff

         15  that we currently have available.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         17                 Thank you, Commissioner. I appreciate

         18  your patience and your willingness to spend time

         19  with us today.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you very

         21  much. Appreciate it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I know we've run

         23  on quite a bit of time today, but we have four more

         24  people who we're going to hear from. We have

         25  Margaret Chin, from the Asian-American, representing
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          2  Asian-Americans for Equality; Mercedes Gomez, and

          3  Nancy Carin from the Business Outreach Center

          4  Network; and Jennifer Spaziano from ACCION New York.

          5                 Why don't you go ahead and we'll go

          6  stage left to stage right.

          7                 MS. CHIN: Chairman Yassky, good

          8  afternoon. Thank you for the opportunity to speak

          9  before you, and Council Member Brewer.

         10                 My name is Margaret Chin. I am the

         11  Deputy Executive Director of Asian-Americans for

         12  Equality. Our organization is part of the Small

         13  Business Economic Development and Job Creation

         14  Initiative, and this is the Initiative that the City

         15  Council supported last year, and I'm here to thank

         16  you for funding this initiative. Your support has

         17  allowed AAFE and Renaissance, our small-business

         18  affiliate, to help Chinatown area businesses in the

         19  tourism and hospitality industry to become more

         20  professional, more responsive to a wider audience

         21  and better able to sustain a higher, higher level of

         22  business throughout the year.

         23                 This initiative has helped us launch

         24  a new program that we call Chinatown Connects. We

         25  started this campaign last year in 2006 and are very
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          2  pleased with the results so far.

          3                 Before 9/11 Chinatown was a bustling

          4  community and destination for visitors and tourists

          5  from around the world. Attracting tourists to

          6  Chinatown seems natural, but after 9/11, it wasn't

          7  as easy as then.

          8                 Now that the New York Regional

          9  Economy has come back and tourists has once again

         10  find the City an ideal destination, Chinatown has

         11  difficulty getting back on its feet.

         12                 Chinatown Connects was created to

         13  jumpstart the local tourism business, taking

         14  advantage of Chinatown's rich history of

         15  Chinese-American in New York, as well as the lively

         16  arts and cultural scene.

         17                 This campaign was designed to help

         18  area's tour operators and restaurant jobs become

         19  more competitive in the industry. The components of

         20  this Chinatown Connects programs include packaging.

         21  We work with local businesses to design a customized

         22  itinerary that highlights the area's vast cultural

         23  experience, while fulfilling the needs and interests

         24  of individualized groups.

         25                 There's a job training component. We
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          2  organized workshops to prepare the local workforce

          3  for tourism and hospitality-related jobs. Marketing

          4  service, we leverage our knowledge of business and

          5  cultural network to generate wider recognition for

          6  the Chinatown Connects services to local businesses.

          7                 Just to give you example how we help

          8  these businesses become more professionalized, and

          9  also to use standardized accounting practices so

         10  that they could better take advantages of the new

         11  program, such as the empire zone that came down to

         12  Chinatown Lower East Side. We have workshops where

         13  we help them better market their shops and

         14  restaurants and make their products more appealing.

         15                 For example, we work with restaurant

         16  owners to show them, you know to work with them, to

         17  how to make some interesting menus and set pricing

         18  structure that are appropriate for large tour

         19  groups, and we conduct workshops for workers to

         20  teach them how to better service their clientele,

         21  you know, customer service, and how to adhere to a

         22  higher standard of health and hygiene. For example,

         23  how to decorate the bathroom to make sure it's

         24  clean.

         25                 So part of it is really putting
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          2  packages together. For example, imagine a group that

          3  comes down to visit in Chinatown, a group of 50

          4  people or 100 people, the can visit a restaurant and

          5  get a wonderful meal at the same time. Afterward

          6  they can go visit a Buddhist Temple and get a

          7  lecture on the history of Buddhism, and also be able

          8  to shop in their souvenir shop, or go to one of the

          9  arts groups and get a showing of, you know,

         10  Cantonese opera, and understand the nature and the

         11  history of that and able to maybe participate and

         12  learn about the make-up of the Cantonese opera

         13  actresses.

         14                 Chinatown Connects builds on

         15  AAFE/Renaissance's network of client businesses. We

         16  have more than 400 local businesses in our network.

         17  So, we coordinate the tour operators and business

         18  owner to promote tourism business opportunity for

         19  local entrepreneurs and employment opportunity for

         20  local residents.

         21                 Chinatown Connects serves as the

         22  fulfillment entity to help increase demand, promote

         23  visibility, and maximize the community's untapped

         24  potential as a cultural heritage attraction.

         25                 Just this week, we learned that a
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          2  national tour agent is interested in bringing a

          3  group of 1,000 visitors to Chinatown. So, this way

          4  we will have the opportunity to put our new learning

          5  to the test and we hope that we will have more

          6  chance to do this over and over again.

          7                 Chinatown Connects has the potential

          8  to boost the area's economy, improve the business

          9  climate, and train workers to become more

         10  professional in the services field. We invite all of

         11  you to come down to Chinatown and see the work that

         12  we have done, and we hope that the City Council will

         13  continue to fund this initiative.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         15                 MS. GOMEZ: Good afternoon, Chairman

         16  Yassky, and other members of the City Council. My

         17  name is Mercedes Gomez, and I'm the Deputy Director

         18  of the Business Outreach Center Network.

         19                 The BOC Network is dedicated to

         20  microenterprise and small business development. We

         21  have seven member Business Outreach Centers in all

         22  five boroughs, and we are part of this very

         23  important initiative, the Small Business and Job

         24  Development Initiative that supports business

         25  assistance and training, as well as placement
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          2  programs throughout the City.

          3                 Business Outreach Centers have

          4  provided one-on-one small business assistance to

          5  more than 16,000 clients and facilitated over $36

          6  million in capital through microloans, banks and

          7  other grants.

          8                 We have programs that include women's

          9  business centers, refugee and child care business

         10  development programs, as well as resources for

         11  retail restaurants, small contractors,

         12  import/export, internet businesses and fashion, just

         13  to name a few.

         14                 BOC also provides microloans up to

         15  $35,000 to new and existing businesses lacking

         16  access to bank financing.

         17                 To compliment one-on-one counseling,

         18  local BOC's offer a variety of training in English,

         19  Spanish, Russian and Chinese.

         20                 In the boroughs outside of Manhattan,

         21  over 30 percent of all employment occurs within the

         22  microenterprise sector, and it is well documented

         23  that new job creation is occurring only within the

         24  small business sector.

         25                 Providing business assistant and
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          2  training is proven to be a very cost effective

          3  approach to creating and retaining jobs that stay in

          4  local communities, returning between $2.12 and $2.82

          5  for every dollar that is invested, in personal

          6  income tax, sales tax, generated by business

          7  operations and employment.

          8                 This initiative will help communities

          9  throughout New York City by creating local wealth,

         10  economically empowering individuals, creating jobs

         11  and delivering more disposable income to the local

         12  community.

         13                 Each year we work hand-in-hand with

         14  our clients to launch hundreds of new businesses,

         15  providing technical assistance based on individual

         16  needs. Bilingual business counselors provide

         17  information regarding licensing and permits,

         18  commercial leasing, taxes, and labor, derived from

         19  many sources and even case-by-case consultation with

         20  pro bono attorneys. We help small businesses

         21  overcome barriers, gain financing and marketing

         22  assistance to create and save more than 500 jobs

         23  each year.

         24                 To achieve this, BOC helps local

         25  entrepreneurs avoid very costly mistakes. We help
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          2  clients with limited formal education,

          3  sophistication and language fluency become

          4  legitimate business owners.

          5                 The BOC Network offers real value to

          6  New York City, creating jobs and building and

          7  preserving businesses that stabilize communities and

          8  increase the local tax base. With technical

          9  assistance, local businesses can succeed locally and

         10  enter regional and even international markets.

         11                 BOC began over ten years ago, helping

         12  community entepreneurs start and succeed. We are

         13  proud to be part of the Small Business and Job

         14  Development Initiative. This important work is part

         15  of the national and global microenterprise movement,

         16  one that truly builds brighter futures for

         17  individuals and for communities.

         18                 This year alone, BOC has been very

         19  successful using City Council support to leverage

         20  $400,000 from federal sources, dollars that would

         21  otherwise not come into New York City. Increased

         22  funding will leverage more federal and State

         23  resources into New York City. And at this time, if I

         24  can introduce Nancy Carin so she can talk about a

         25  couple of our clients.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Without objection

          3  you may introduce Nancy Carin.

          4                 MS. GOMEZ: Thank you.

          5                 MS. CARIN: Thank you. I just wanted

          6  to share that we've helped small businesses turn

          7  over from ownership, that is retiring to ownership

          8  of new employees that are trying to buy the

          9  business.  A case in point is East Village Cheese,

         10  in Council Member Gerson's district, which was

         11  purchased by two refugees who worked in the

         12  business. We worked with them for several years to

         13  make that happen. And we have helped minority

         14  contractors gain financing to benefit from the

         15  procurement opportunities that they've been able to

         16  access, by giving them loans that are specially

         17  customized for their purposes that last exactly the

         18  right amount of time for their contracts.

         19                 And, of course, we have an

         20  award-winning child care business development

         21  project that builds child care resources in

         22  underprivileged communities around the City by

         23  building entrepreneurs and role models in those

         24  communities. I just wanted to point out some of

         25  those great stories.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          3                 MS. GOMEZ: And to end my testimony,

          4  we really strongly encourage the City Council to

          5  increase support for small business and job

          6  development. And I really want to thank you for this

          7  opportunity.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          9                 MS. SPAZIANO: Well, thank you,

         10  Council Member Yassky and Council Member Brewer for

         11  listening to our testimony today. My name is

         12  Jennifer Spaziano. I'm the Vice President of

         13  Business Development at ACCION New York, the largest

         14  microfinance organization in the country, lending

         15  over $65 million to New York's low-income, minority

         16  and women small business owners in need of capital

         17  and technical assistance. We lent $13.5 million last

         18  year and our average loan size is $7,000, so we're

         19  really lending a lot of loans, just over 100 loans a

         20  month, to small microentepreneurs in New York City's

         21  five boroughs.

         22                 Before I read my testimony, I want to

         23  speak to a comment that Council Member Yassky

         24  brought up in front of SBS, and we do have the

         25  capacity to lend in New York City, we have the
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          2  capacity to scale microfinance in New York City. We

          3  have 50 staff members, like I said, we're lending to

          4  about 100 people a month, and we work with our

          5  partners here actually. We've done loans together.

          6  We refer back and forth. The microfinance industry

          7  in New York is strong, and it's growing, and it's

          8  growing.

          9                 And, so, capital is really what's

         10  needed. We can leverage more debt, we could leverage

         11  from $1 million, we would leverage $4 million, with

         12  a $5 million loan pool, loan fund, we could leverage

         13  that four times in debt, and that's what we would

         14  lend out.

         15                 So, thank you. As many of you know,

         16  nowhere is the positive impact of micro-enterprise

         17  more evident than in New York City. And recently the

         18  Center for an Urban Future released a report

         19  supporting the fact that although

         20  micro-entrepreneurs, mostly immigrant- and

         21  minority-owned, fueled much of the growth in New

         22  York in new business across the City, and triggered

         23  dramatic turnarounds in low-income neighborhoods

         24  across all boroughs, New York City has only begun to

         25  meet the demand for microfinance and other resources
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          2  necessary to truly leverage this impressive growth.

          3                 In the study, which I do have a

          4  couple of copies with me today, if you'd like them,

          5  Jonathan Bowles revealed that the number of

          6  microentrepreneurs in this City increased by 53

          7  percent, that's immigrant microentrepreneurs, while

          8  the number of native-born microentrepreneurs

          9  declined by seven percent. These very

         10  microentrepreneurs increased City tax revenue by

         11  enticing suburban shoppers to ethnic retail strips

         12  revitalized by small businesses, and I named some of

         13  those strips, they we're all really aware of, like

         14  74th Street, Jackson Heights, St. Nicholas Avenue in

         15  Washington Heights, Liberty Avenue in Richmond Hill

         16  and Main Street in Flushing. Between 1990 and 2005

         17  in New York City, the number of businesses with less

         18  than ten employees increased by approximately

         19  20,000, while the number of companies over 5,500

         20  decreased. Decreased. Even the small business owners

         21  fuel economies in low-income neighborhoods. We have

         22  yet to cap the potential of microenterprise in New

         23  York City. We have a $17 million outstanding

         24  portfolio and we're just scraping the surface.

         25                 The Center for an Urban Future
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          2  reported that in large part the reason why we have

          3  yet to tap this potential is that none of the cities

          4  studied, including New York, have incorporated

          5  immigrant and minority entrepreneurs into their

          6  overall, and I quote, overall economic development

          7  strategies in a meaningful way.

          8                 In New York City today we do have the

          9  opportunity to present to the nation a successful

         10  model for microenterprise growth. It has been proven

         11  internationally, we have the chance to do this

         12  domestically, and this year the Upper Manhattan

         13  Empowerment Zone and ACCION launched a $5.5 million

         14  microloan fund, which it's a start. It's a start.

         15  SBS is a start. So, I don't want to say that New

         16  York City isn't doing anything for

         17  microenterpreneurs, what I'm saying is we could do a

         18  lot more that's concrete and valuable.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. And

         20  your testimony, which is admirably concise on the

         21  written page, I guess I will make it even more

         22  concise, you know, your point about the incredible

         23  vitality in our new New Yorker neighborhoods, your

         24  numbers, I mean something we all know, you do this

         25  for a living, but your numbers really drive it home.
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          2                 And your point about the limitless

          3  opportunity for microfinance just to expand upon

          4  that is well taken.

          5                 Here is my question for you and for

          6  the BOC folks: I just want to confirm that what I

          7  said to Commissioner Walsh and his staff was

          8  correct; in other words, can the City expand

          9  microfinance not by providing money to be lent, but

         10  by providing money to increase the balance, you

         11  know, take on other expenses, thereby freeing up

         12  other funds for your organizations to loan?

         13                 MS. SPAZIANO: Yes. By increasing our

         14  net assets and building capacity in our

         15  organizations, you allow us to leverage more debt.

         16  Our average cost of funds right now is about 4.5

         17  percent. That means that the banks charge us on

         18  average 4.5 percent.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And that's true

         20  for BOC as well?

         21                 MS. CARIN: It's so true. First of

         22  all, you need personnel to handle all the loan

         23  capacity.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right.

         25                 MS. CARIN: And second of all --

                                                            251

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I just wanted to

          3  get that out on the record. I mean, SBS might raise

          4  this kind of legal question about why we can't

          5  provide money that's going to be lent out, but there

          6  is in fact no legal issue, I just wanted to kind of

          7  get you on the record as --

          8                 MS. CARIN: All kinds of money are

          9  beneficial to the balance sheet.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         11                 And do you have anything to say,

         12  maybe it's more BOC, I suppose, that's the Business

         13  Outreach Center, the two folks in the middle, about

         14  the $6 million worth of community-based services

         15  that are going to cease at the end of the year, and

         16  are essentially being replaced by new programs, you

         17  know, kind of inspired on the Commission on Economic

         18  Opportunity, is that a wise idea?

         19                 MS. CARIN: I can't speak to the

         20  wisdom per se, but I can speak to the trend to bring

         21  the capacity in-house into the SBS office, you know,

         22  hire the staff in-house and rather than subcontract

         23  it out to local providers.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Just to be clear,

         25  are any of the organizations here affected by that
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          2  particular development?

          3                 No, those are not your services you

          4  provide. Okay, I was curious. I thought that you

          5  were.

          6                 MS. CARIN: It's workforce investment

          7  contracts that were let prior to DOE combining with

          8  SBS, is my understanding.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I'm

         10  curious, maybe you don't know, and I don't know

         11  there's a fine answer, do you know enough about what

         12  those consist of and what the Administration is

         13  planning, to have an opinion as to whether that's a

         14  wise substitution?

         15                 MS. CARIN: No, I can't speak to the

         16  wisdom.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, does

         18  anyone else want to jump in?

         19                 MS. SPAZIANO: I'm sorry, I don't know

         20  much about that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, fair

         22  enough.

         23                 Okay, Council Member Reyna. And I

         24  will fill you in, because I think we had a very

         25  productive discussion with Commissioner Walsh about
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          2  microfinance that while I know you were called out

          3  for a minute, but I can fill you in on that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you,

          5  Chair.

          6                 I wanted to just ask a question

          7  concerning cooperative lending. I know that I

          8  reached out to ACCION and now that I have access to

          9  BOC right now I'm going to take advantage, and

         10  Council Member Gerson had asked, you know, he was

         11  intrigued by a restaurant business that created a

         12  cooperative and went overseas to get the financing,

         13  so that is that something you see in your agency as

         14  a new model that DSBS should embrace, be able to

         15  explore and facilitate?

         16                 And even more so, right now I have a

         17  situation where I have small merchants that are not

         18  a real -- they don't have the capacity to go out on

         19  their own. Their market is dependent on each other,

         20  and because they have a loft setting, first floor,

         21  open space, floor plan, where each has a space

         22  without walls to conduct business. If they were to

         23  leave that space and go onto themselves, the

         24  likelihood may be 50/50 that they would succeed and

         25  fail, but together, pooling their resources, they're
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          2  more likely to succeed. And, so, is that something,

          3  whether that start-up money to create the

          4  cooperative, even though they're already merchants,

          5  do you organize in the cooperative setting, as far

          6  as corporation papers are concerned? Assisting them

          7  with the business professional services that is

          8  necessary for them to continue to exist?

          9                 MS. CARIN: We would look at each

         10  case, each collaborative as an individual situation.

         11  For instance, we had several refugee, I mentioned a

         12  moment ago, refugee workers in a business, and they

         13  pooled their resources and the owners loaned them

         14  back the money to buy the business. In another case

         15  we have a number of African refugees who tend to do

         16  business in the fashion that you just described,

         17  they share pieces of stores, and we lend them --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: In the

         19  immigrant community this is a known fact, it's the

         20  way that they survive.

         21                 MS. CARIN: We made about 50 loans to

         22  those type of businesses, and we work with three of

         23  the major international law firms, who provide pro

         24  bono assistance, not just an hour of free advice,

         25  but they actually went through the nine months of
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          2  the deal to purchase a major business by the

          3  employees. So, we access those resources.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Right. But then

          5  it's my understanding having had conversations with

          6  ACCION that there is a threshold, you know, when

          7  they pool their resources together they become a

          8  greater entity, which then you have to factor in the

          9  income level or the --

         10                 MS. CARIN: We don't have income

         11  restrictions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         13                 MS. CARIN: Especially not for a

         14  collaborative of that nature.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         16                 MS. CARIN: But then again, we do have

         17  a very low cap on the access to financing through

         18  us, it's $35,000, or maybe a little bit more. But we

         19  do expect that as businesses grow to the next level,

         20  we help them access the banks, and that could be --

         21  what Jeremy Waldorp said from SBS, maybe they could

         22  use some of their clout to encourage the banks to

         23  look at these scenarios.

         24                 I know that we, as well as a lot of

         25  microlenders were approached by Colors at their last
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          2  stage when they just needed $300,000 more to close

          3  the deal, and our 35,000 didn't make a lot of sense.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Right.

          5                 And as far as receiving the

          6  professional service, which is the other component

          7  to it, they can't really access lending or need the

          8  access to lending if they don't have the

          9  professional service. And, so, it's a catch-22. Do

         10  they need to be loan members already to receive that

         11  professional service?

         12                 MS. CARIN: We are a technical

         13  assistance or training-led microenterprise

         14  development organization.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Is that

         16  different than ACCION?

         17                 MS. CARIN: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         19                 MS. CARIN: Out of our 1,000 or so

         20  clients a year that we work with individually, we

         21  make about 50 loans. So, just to let you know, most

         22  of our work is the technical assistance.

         23                 We also help people access grants

         24  through the trickle-up program. We're probably the

         25  largest coordinating agency for trickle-up grants
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          2  for very low-income people in the City, and that

          3  adds up to over 100 and some odd grants.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Fantastic.

          5                 Thank you very much. That was very

          6  helpful. I'm going to be reaching out to you. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 Ms. Gomez, thanks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Council Member

         10  Brewer.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Representing

         12  the West Side it's a different world. Rents. Do you

         13  ever help people with technical assistance or what

         14  to do when the rent goes up?

         15                 MS. CARIN: We advise people about

         16  commercial leasing all the time, and we look at

         17  their weaknesses and strengths in their business in

         18  adapting to new markets and different strategies on

         19  how to deal with landlords. We can't always succeed.

         20  It's a really tough issue. Even in Fort Greene in

         21  Brooklyn it's huge.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And, so, I

         23  think just generally, maybe as collaboratively,

         24  you're thinking about how we could deal with this

         25  issue Citywide, commercial rents for small
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          2  businesses?

          3                 Margaret is shaking her head because

          4  she knows. We've been talking about this for about

          5  30 years. Don't feel bad.

          6                 MS. CHIN: Right now what we've been

          7  doing is just trying to get them before they sign a

          8  lease and provide all the TA they could possibly,

          9  you know, they can get, so they can avoid those

         10  costly mistakes. Because once they're in it, we

         11  really don't have any lawyers that can come in and

         12  help.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you

         16  very much. I want to just thank all four of you for

         17  participating here. Your testimony is very

         18  enlightening and helps create a very important

         19  record that we can go forward with. I look forward

         20  to working with each of you, as we do that.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 Our hearing is adjourned.

         23                 (The following written testimony was

         24  read into the record.)

         25
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          3  Written Testimony Of:

          4  Bruce E. Bernstein

          5  President

          6  New York Software Industry Association

          7

          8  March 7, 2007

          9

         10                 I am testifying on behalf of the New

         11  York Software Industry Association (NYSIA). NYSIA is

         12  New York City's largest high tech trade association.

         13  Our membership consists of over 500 companies in the

         14  software and information technology industry. I wish

         15  to call the Council's attention to the status of

         16  this industry, and urge greater economic development

         17  attention be given to the industry.

         18                 Computer-related industries, such as

         19  software, information technology, and Internet based

         20  businesses are booming throughout the country. New

         21  York City is a center of this activity. In fact,

         22  Information Week, one of the leading IT magazines,

         23  recently featured a cover article on the NYC "Tech

         24  Empire", describing the Big Apple as an "imposing

         25  tech center." Evidence of the growth of high teach
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          2  in the region includes:

          3                 - the New York region continues to be

          4  one of the leading areas internationally receiving

          5  venture capital and seed capital investments;

          6                 - Google has established its second

          7  largest R&D center in New York City. The center will

          8  eventually support 800 jobs, mostly in engineering

          9  areas.

         10                 - New York City is a center of

         11  start-ups in the rapidly expanding "Web2.0" space.

         12                 - The NYSIA Incubator @ 55 Broad

         13  Street is filled, with 11 companies in residence.

         14                 - After a long downturn following the

         15  2000 NASDAQ crash and 9/11, the industry is starting

         16  to add jobs in New York City once again.

         17                 It is our estimate that the industry

         18  currently has 5,000 companies operating in New York

         19  City. There are approximately 50,000 jobs in those

         20  companies. It is estimated that there are an

         21  additional 50,000 to 100,000 jobs in IT departments

         22  in NYC, separate from those companies.

         23                 Software/IT jobs and companies are

         24  highly attractive to many regions of the country and

         25  the world. In NYC, government has not been as
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          2  pro-active in attracting companies and in promoting

          3  the industry as have other cities and states. The

          4  following steps can be taken to promote and support

          5  this industry in New York City:

          6                 - Support funding for more incubators

          7  similar to the NYSIA Incubator

          8                 - Support training in the space;

          9  allow training funds to be used for incumbent

         10  workers above the current salary cut-off of $56,000

         11  per year

         12                 - Support NYSIA in its creation of

         13  the New York High Tech Council, an umbrella

         14  organization to include all high tech industries.

         15

         16

         17  Written Testimony Of:

         18  Brian T. Coleman

         19  CEO

         20  Greenpoint Manufacturing and Design Center

         21

         22

         23                 My name is Brian Coleman and I am CEO

         24  of the Greenpoint Manufacturing and Design Center,

         25  the City's premiere nonprofit developer of

                                                            262

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  industrial property. For the last fifteen years,

          3  GMDC has dedicated itself to preserving industrial

          4  space and blue collar jobs for New York residents.

          5  By purchasing and renovating dilapidated industrial

          6  buildings, GMDC has helped preserve and create

          7  hundreds of jobs for low-income New Yorkers and has

          8  provided a strong anchor for future outside

          9  investment.

         10                 To date, GMDC has completed 5

         11  projects, comprising more than 600,000 square feet

         12  of space at an investment of approximately $21,000.

         13  Currently GMDC owns and operates four of these

         14  buildings, which together house 100,000 businesses

         15  employing some 750 people. Tenants include

         16  woodworkers, makers of home furnishings, food

         17  manufacturers, garment companies, metal workers, and

         18  a variety of artisanal trades, artists and

         19  designers.

         20                 I am here today to update the City

         21  Council on GMDC's latest efforts to initiate a new

         22  industrial development project in Brooklyn Community

         23  Board 1, and our continued interest in utilizing a

         24  portion of the $20 million Industrial Acquisition

         25  Fund allocated by the Council in the wake of the
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          2  Greenpoint/Williamsburg rezoning. GMDC is also

          3  requesting a $100,000 operating grant from the City

          4  Council to support both its industrial management

          5  and development activities.

          6                 In the FY '06-'07 budget, the City

          7  Council allocated $3.5 million for our organization

          8  to acquire 221 McKibbin Street in East Williamsburg.

          9  We will be closing on the building next month and

         10  will be converting the 72,000 square foot former

         11  furniture factory into 25 separate units for 25

         12  businesses.

         13                 GMDC is leveraging the City's funds

         14  with an additional $7 million in private debt and

         15  equity for the project. Construction on the project

         16  will commence in late April and we expect the first

         17  tenants to occupy the facility near the end of 2007.

         18  When complete, the new facility will offer units

         19  between 1500 and 6000 square feet for small

         20  industrial and artisanal users, and will help create

         21  or preserve approximately 110 blue collar jobs in

         22  the neighborhood.

         23                 The $20 million fund approved by the

         24  council in May 2005 was created explicitly to offset

         25  the high cost of industrial properties in the wake
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          2  of a speculative North Brooklyn real estate market,

          3  engendered in part by the 2005 rezoning of much of

          4  the area. As our organization and the New York

          5  Industrial Retention Network noted last year, since

          6  the Greenpoint/Williamsburg rezoning was ratified

          7  our waiting list has grown considerably to its

          8  current number of over 60 businesses.

          9                 In order for GMDC to develop space

         10  affordable to small industrial and artisanal users,

         11  we need to write down the cost of acquisition and/or

         12  construction in order to develop a feasible project

         13  budget and affordable rental rates. Access to

         14  capital subsidy through the Industrial Acquisition

         15  Fund will play an important role in helping us

         16  continue our mission, preserve blue-collar jobs, and

         17  insure a mixed-sues future for North Brooklyn.

         18                 Therefore, in FY  07-08 the GMDC is

         19  requesting a capital allocation of 47 million from

         20  the Industrial Acquisition Fund in order to allow us

         21  to continue to develop safe havens for the small

         22  manufacturers and their associated jobs in Community

         23  Board 1. Our organization has identified an 80,000 +

         24  site within the IBZ that will allow us to create

         25  space for approximately 30 businesses and 150 jobs.
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          2  This proposed project, like our McKibbin Street

          3  project, will leverage additional private equity and

          4  debt for a total project budget of approximately $15

          5  million.

          6                 Without support from the acquisition

          7  fund, we will not be able to service the real estate

          8  needs of the business community, nor protect the

          9  jobs that these businesses have created and the

         10  families that they support, many of whom both live

         11  and work in the same area.

         12                 Thank you for your continuing

         13  support.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 3:50 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 7th day of March 2007.
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